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EXTRACT
: Fromthe Journals of the House of Assembly of Nova Scotia,
2 FRripay, 27th March, 1829. -

On motion of Mr. HARTSHORNE. . .
Resolved, unanimously, That the thanks of this House be com-
municated to Tuomas C. HariBprTON . Esquire, for the very lau-, -
dable and laborious effort wfxﬁh he hasmade to illustrate the His-
tory, Topography, and resources of the Province, in the < Histori-
: R cal and Statistical account of Nova Scotia,” now issuing from the
Press ; and that Mr. Speaker be requested to convey to Mr. Hali-
burton the substance of this resolution ; and thereupon,

Mr.HaLisuRrTON being called into the House,and standing in his
place, was thus addressed by MR. SPEAXER:

Mr. HAL1zURTON, I am directed by this House to communicate
to you that they have had under their -consideration a work now
issuing from the Press, of which you are the author, entitled ¢ An
: Historical and Statistical Account of Nova Scotia,” which they . B
: think alike useful to the Province, and honorable to yourself, aqd

that to mark their approbation of this first effort to describe the;
Country and develope its resources, they have unanimously passed -
avote of thanks to you for this laudable undertaking, which reso-
lution will be read to you by the Clerk. It affords me a great deal
of pleasure to add my own opinion of the work to that of the
Representatives of the people, who deem it an object of this ho-
norable notice as the production of a native ofthis Province.
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The Resolution was then read by -the Clerk--and
Mr. HaviBurToN replied to Mr. Speaker as follows :—Mr.
Speaker, I beg leave to return you and the House my most grateful
thanks, for the honour this day done me. I regret that I find my-
self unable to express fully the high sense Ientertain of this flatter-
ing distinction, and can only say, that I feel the labor I have per-
\ formed more than amply compensated by the notice this House
: « has been pleased to take of it.
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Statigtical Account of fodba-
Scotia.
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CHAPTER 1.
’ o 0 Q@im

- Boundaries, Exte.. , Situation, General JAppearance,
g g Civil Divisions. .
THE Boundaries of the Province of Nova-Scotia,
previous to the conquest of Canada, were always a
subject of dispute between Great Britain and France.
They had never been settled by any treaty, and the
- Commissioners appointed to adjust them came to no
conclusion upon a subject, which, by mutual consent,
seemed to have been left to the decision of arms.—
At the peace of 1768, the limits of the Colony were a
matter of discretion rather than strict legal right,
-and were therefore fixed by the Crown, as follows :
¢ to the Northward, our e:zid Province shall be
bounded by the Southern Boundary of our Province
of Quebec, as far asthe western extremity of the
Bay Des Chaleurs. To the eastward by the said
Bay,and the Gulf of St. Lawrence, to the Cape or
Promontary called Cape Breton, in the Island of

that name, including that Island, the Island of St.
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John’s, and all other Islands withir six leagues of the
Coast, to the southward bf the Atlantic Ocean, from
the said Cape to Cape-SalPle, including the Island of
that name, and all otheﬁ' Islands within 40 leagues
of the Coast, with all the no'hts, members and appur-

_ tenances, whatsoever, thereto belonging. Ahd to the

westward,. although our said Province hath ancient-
ly extended, and doth of right extend, as far as the
river Pentagoet or Penobscot, it shall be bounded by
aline drawn from Cape-Sable across the entrance
of the Bay of Fundy, to the mouth of the river St.
Croix; by the said river to its source, and by a line
drawn due north, from thence to the southern boun.
dary of our Coloﬁy of Quebec.” At subsequent pe-

- riods, this territory was divided into four separate Pro-
" vinces, viz. Nova-Scotia, New-Brunswick, Prince

Edward’s Island and Cape Breton. But in 1820, this
latter Island was again annexed to- the Government
of Nova-Scotia, and now forms a Countj in the civil
divisions of the Province. Nova-Scotia proper, or
that portion of the Continent known under that
name, is connected with the body of North America
by.a narrow isthmus, and is bounded on the North
by the Strait of Northumberland, which separates it

from Prince Edward’s Island ; on the north east by

the Gut of Canseau, which divides it from Cape-Bre-
tdn,on)the south and south east by the Atlantic ocean,
and on the west by the Bay of Fundy and New-
Brunswick. It lies within the 43d and 46th degree
of North Latitude, and between the 61st and 67th
degree of Longitude,west from the Greenwich meri-

* dian, and is about 300 miles in length, but of une-

qual mdth embracing a superficies of 15,617 square
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miles, or 9,994,880 acres. The face of the Country
is agreeably diversified by hills and dales, but though
undulated is not mountainous, the summit of the
highest bhill being not more than six hundred feet
above the level of thesea. Thereare several ridges
of high land, which are here called mountains, al-
though they by no means deserve the appellation on
account of their altitude. These generally run
north and south, branching off into irregular and
hilly land, terminating sometimes in high cliffson
-the Coast, and sometimes losing themselvesin gen-
tle declivities in the interior. In scenery, therefore,
it partakes not of the sublime, but its numerous and
beautiful lakes, its harbours studdé,d with islands,
its rivers, brooks and streams, of which it boasts a
great profusion, enliven and embellish the Country,
naturally picturesque from its variety of highlands

and praries. The appearance of the sea coastis ge-

nerally inhospitable, presentfng a bold rocky shore,
and a poor and sterile soil, clothed with a thin and
stunted growth of Birch and Spruce. The southern
margin is rugged and broken, with very prominent
features, deep indents and craggy islands, and ledges
inserted in the sea ; either formed by nature to re-
sist the constant attacks of the western ‘ocean, or
more probably exﬁosed by its action. The features
of the northern coast are soft and free from rocks.—
The shores are every where indented with harbours,
rivers, coves and bays, in most places communicat-
ing with the waters of the interior of the Country,
scarcely any. part of whichis thirty miles distant
from n%vigatioq. ' The ‘most remarkable cliff on the
whole coast, is the summit of Aspotagoen, which lies



ke S

R R

4

on the Promontary that separates Mahone from
Margaret’s-Bay. This land, which is about five hun-
dred feet in perpendicular height, may be discerned
at a great distance, and is generally the first object
seen in approaching Halifax from Europe, or the
West Indies. Ardoise hill, situated between Windsor
and Halifax, is the highestland in the Province,
and -affords a distant prospect of Windsor, Falmouth,
Newport, Horton, and the Country bbrdering onthe
Bason of Minas. Beyond this are the Horton moun-
tains, which run nearly north and south, and about
twenty miles further is another range of high lands,

_known by the name of the North mountain, which is

washed by the waters of the Bay of Fundy. Cape
Blomedon, which terminates this chain of hills, pre-
sents a grand and imposing appearance ; its perpen-

dicular front is of a dark red colour, and its head may-

often be seen above the mists by which it is encir-
cled. The great inequality in the surface of Nova-
Scotia is the cause of the existence of numerous
lakes, which are scattered over it in every direction.
Some of them are of very great extent, and in many
places form almost a continued chain of water com-
munication across the Province. The largest is

- ¢ Rosignoll,” situated to the westward of Liverpool.

The dimensions of thislake have never been ascer-
tained by actual admeasurement, butit is said to ex-
ceed thirty miles in length. In the same neighbour-
hood there are a number of" others, extending from
the head of Allan’s River, near Annapolis, to within
a short distance of the Liverpool river. - Thisroute is
always adopted by the Indians, when passing be-
tween these towns, who affirm that there are but

.‘
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two short portages in the whole distance. In the
township of Yarmouth there are eighty, besides Lake
George, which is of nearly the same extent as Ro-
signol, and although they are not to be found in
equal number in every township, yet they are ‘of fre-
quent occurrence in all. From the head of the Shu-
benaccadie river they almost reach the Harbor of
Halifax, and afford such an” extensive inland naviga-
tion, that a company has been formed to complete
the junction by means of a Canal. Between Wind-
sor and the Atlantic, there is a similar connexion in
two different places—one between the St. Croix and
Margaret’s Bay,‘ and the other between the head of
the Avon and Chester Bay. There is also a chain
of lakes, situated between the source of the Gaspe-
reaux in King’s County, and that of Gold River, in
the County of Lunenburg, which nearly unites them.
Some of these lakes are extremely beautiful, contain-
ing in general one or more small islands, .which are
covered with a luxuriant growth of wood, and vary

_in every imaginable shape; while the hills, with

which they are generally environed, are often undu-
lated in the most romantic manner. These highlands
are, with few exceptions, well wooded, and embel-
lish the seenery at every season of the year. The
first frost in the autumn invests the foliage with an
infinite diversity of colour, and in one night alters
the whole appearance of the forest. The leaves of
the maple become red—those of the birch yellow, and
the sumach pink ; while the elm, the oak, the ever-
greens and others, by preserving their colours, add
to the variety of the landscape. The aspect of the
country is, however, in many places deformed. A
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i . large portion of the jand on the Southern coast, for
' % . many miles in the interior is stony and barren, fre-
{ quently devoid of trees, and presenting a dreary and
: §; : desolate waste. 'There are also some inconsiderable
g bogs, covered with peat and aquatic grasses. One of
, thelargest of these is the Carriboo bog, situated in
it Aylesford, the source of both the Horton and Anna-
: polis rivers, which flow from thence in opposite di-
rections, one discharging itself into the Basin of
Minas, and the other into the Bay of Fundy. There
areseldom any trees growing in these bogs, butin
allare to be found the trunks of those which once
- stood there, and have been preserved by the waters
that originally deprivedthem of existence. Although
numerous, they are not very extensive, forthe sure
face of the country is too uneven to admit of their
covéring much éround. In other places where fires
have raged, the forest has beéh,ﬁgestroyed, and tall
dead trees, stretching their naked limbs in the air,
threaten the traveller with destruction. Where
these ¢ burnt lands” occur, nothing can exceed the
desolation and dreariness of their appearance. The o
fire, while it burns the stem of the tree, seldom con- )
sumes it, but hardens and preserves it from deeay,’
and it not unfrequently maintains its erect position
for years after it has been stripped of ‘its foliage. ~ Iif
the ground has been dried by a previous drought,
the fire consumes the soil and the seeds of trees con-
tained in it, and a long period elapses before it is a-
gain clothed with a new growth of wood, which in .
many instances is altogether of a different kind from
that with which it was previously covered. The soil
of the country is so various, and the changes so fre-
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quent, that there is a constant succession of forest
scenery. The birch, the spruce, beech and hem-
lock, constitute the most predominant classes of
woodland. These are“to‘y be séverally found in éxtent,
according to the properties of the soil, sometimes
distinctly, but often intermingled with each other.
In winter, when the ground is covered with snow,
the appearance of the evergreen is peculiarly agree-
able, and refreshes the eye when fatigued with the
.. uniform glare of awhite surface. The arable lands
" bear as yetasmall proportion to the wilderness parts
of the country ; and these, as in all other places in
America, are chiefly confined to the neiglibourhood
of the rivers, harbours, and coasts, though small
scattered settlements are to be found in the interior,
wheve the lands are of sufficient value to invite culti-
vation. But the appearance of “tlre-old townships
will vie with any part of America for beauty. The
extended and well cultivated valley of the Annapolis
River, the diversified and picturesque country of
Horton and Cornwallis ; the richness, extent, and
variety, of the views in the vicinity of Windsor ; the
unrivalled beauty of Mahone Bay, with its numerous
Islands ; the whole country bordering on the Shube-
naccadie ; very many places.in the Eastern parts of
the Province, and the extefxsive townships of New-
portand Yarmouth, cannot fail to excite the wonder’
of strangers, that they exist in a country which has
always been represented as the most uninteresting
part of America. The civil departments of the Pro-
vince consist of divisions and counties. Ofthe former
there are five—the Eastern, Middle, Western, Hali- -
fax, and Cape-Breton divisions. The Eastern divi- _
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sion comprises the counties of Sydney and Cumber-
Iand, and part of that of Halifax. The Middle divi-
sion consists of Hants, King’s, Lunenburg, and
Queen’s Counties. The Western division ineludes
Annapolis and Shelburne Counties. The Cape-Breton
division comprehends the whole Island, which forms
but ohe, county. The Halifax division embraces
only part of the county of that name, and ineludes
the townships of Halifax, Lawrencetown and Pres-
ton. There are ten Counties—Halifax, Sydney,
Cumberland, Hants, King’s, Lunenburg, Queen’s,
Annapolis, Shelburne, and Cape-Breton, which are
again subdivided into districts and townships. As
these terms are peculiar to America, and differ in
many places in their signification, it may be proper
to add, that in this country, a division is merely a
circuit, -containing one or more counties. -When
professional men were appointed to preside in the
Courts of Common Pleas and General Sessions of the
Peace, circuits was allotted to each of them, which
were then called and have since been known as divi-
sions—a term Which has no other import than as
connected with their duties. A district contains oné
or more townships, and is a subdivision of a county
rendered necessary by its extent. It is, therefore,
for the convenience of the people, set a part, and has
the privilege conferred upon it of having a Court
of Genéral Sessions of the Peace, for the regulation
of all ifs mtern_al affairs. Each District is or should
be furnished with a Court-House, but the Jail be-
longs to the County. The Sherif’s authority is
commensurate with the County, and the Commis-
sions of the Peace extend throughout the same.—
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The localities of Juries, both in real and personal,
have also a reference to the county ;and the election
of representatives, and the Jurisdiction of the Su-
preme Courts, is in no way affected by this local ar-
rangement of districts. A township contains no cer-
tain definite quantity of lands, nor assumes any pre-
scribed shape, as in Upper-Canada, where it is gene-
rally understood to extend nine miles in front, and
twelve miles in the rear ; nor is it endowed with all

%

. those various corporate powers, which the townships
A of New-Lngland possess, beyond the election of a
representative ; which privilege is not enjoyed by
all. The inhabitants have no other power than that
of holding an annual meeting, for the purpose of vot-
ing money for the support of their poor.

1st. Halifax County is divided into three districts
—Halifax,/ Colchester and Pictou, and contains ten
townships—:l-f_éﬁfax, Dartmouth, Lawrencetown,
Preston, Truio, Onslow, Londonderry, Pictou,
Egerton and Maxwelton. '

2d. Sydney County contains two districts and
seven townships—Manchester, Guysborough, Dor-
chester, Arisaig,” St. Mary, Tracadie, St. Andrews.

3d. Cumberland County contains two townships
—Ambherst and Wallace. .

4th. Hant’s County contains six townships—Wind-
sor, Falmouth, Newport, Kempt, Rawdon, and
Douglas.

5th. King’s County contains four townships—Hor«
ton, Cornwallis, Aylesford, Parrsborough.

6th. Lunenburg contains three townships—Lu-
nenburg, New-Dublin, Chester. !

7th. Liverpool contains one township—Liverpool,
2
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Sth. Annapolis County is divided into two dis-
tricts, and contains six townships—Wilmot, Gran-
ville, Annapolis, Clements, Digby, Clare.

9th. Shelburne is divided into two districts, and
contains four townships—VYarmouth, Argyle, Bar-
rington, Shelburne. ‘

10th. Cape-Breton is divided into three districts,
and contains seven townships—Sydney, St. Andrew,
St. Patrick, Canseau,. Port Hood, Ainslie and Mar-
garee. * '

Eat S
CHAPTER II.

B
B

Section 1.—~HavLirax Division.

The Halifax division comprises only a part of the
County of that name, and contains four townships—
Halifax, Dartmouth, Preston, and Lawrence Town.
The harbour of Halifaz is one of the finest in Ameri-
ca. A thousand vessels may ride in it in safety. It
is accessible at all seasons of the year, and is to be
prized for the facility of its entrance, general situ-
ation, and proximity to.tHe Bay of Fundy, and all
the interior settlements of the Province. It is situ-
ated in latitude 440 40U north, and 630 40" west
longitude. It lies nearly north and south, extending
about sixteen miles in length, and terminatingin a
beautiful sheet of water called Bedford Basin, within
which are ten square miles of safe anchorage. The
entrance is marked by Sambro Island, on which a
Light-House was erected soon after the settlement
of Halifax by the English. A small party of artillery
are stationed here, to correspond with the town by
signals, and are furnished with two twenty-four

T
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pounders as alarm guns. Three miles from Halifax,
and near the mouth of the harbour, is McNab’s island,
which is three miles in length, and half amile in
breadth, and contains about 1,090 acres. On its
western side is a long gravelly point of low land, cal-
led Mauger’s Beach, on which stands Sherbrocke
Tower, a circular stone battery. The foundation of
this building was strengthened by timber driven into
the ground ; but it has been found to yield to the
pressure of the structure erected upon it. On the
top of the tower is a lantern, by the light of which
vessels avoid the dangers of the Thrumb-cap shoals,
which extend for some distance to the southward of
the beach.

McNab’s Island forms two entrances,to the har-
bour, the eastern and western passage. At the
mouth of the former is Duggan’s or Macnamara’sIs-
land, which is well wooded, and composed of a deep
goodsoil. This passage, which gradually contracts
in width to a quarter of a mile, is obstructed by a
sand bar, and is only used by small vesséls. The
north end of this strait is protected by a stone tower,
called the eastern battery. Immediately opposite to
the town, and midway between it and Dartmouth,
is George’s Island, which is regularly fortified, and
from its admirable position, forms one of the chief
defences of the place. - The beauty and safety ofthis
harbour attracted the notice of speculators ata very
early period, and many applications were at different
times made, for a grant of the land in its vicinity.
The famous projector, Captain Coram, was engaged
in 1718, in a scheme forsettling here ; and a petition
was presented by Sir Alexander Cairn, James Doug-
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las, and Joshua Gee, in behalf of themselves and
others, praying for a grant upon the sea coast, five
leagues S. W. and five leagues N. W. of Chebucto,
upon condition of building a town, improving the

country round it, by raisinghemp, making pitch, tar

and turpentine, and of settling two hundred families
upon it within three years. This petition received a
favourable report from the Lords of Trade ; but asit
was opposed by the Massachusetts’ agents, on ac-
count of a clause restricting the fishery, it was re-
jected by the Council. The eagerness with which
these petitions were pressed. upon the attention of
Government, and the political importance of the
port, induced the Ministry to undertake the settle-
ment at the public expense. Colonel Cornwallis was
selected to carry this measure into execution, and

appointed the Governor of the Colony. About the

last of June, 1749, he arrived a4t Chebucto, and laid
the foundation of the Town of Halifax. Such was
the ardour with which the work was undertaken,
that before the ensuing winter, three hundred
comfortable wooden houses were built, and the
whole secured by a strong wooden pallisade.-
Eleven years afterwards (1760) itis thus described
in a letter, addressed by one of the inhabitants to
the Rev. Dr. Stiles, of Boston, and preserved in the
collections of the Massachusetts’ Historical Society:

. “Itis now divided into three towns Halifax, Irish

town (South suburbs) and Dutch town (North sub-
urbs.) The whole may contain about 1000 houses,
great and small, many of which are employed as
Barracks, Hospitals for the army and navy, and

other publicuses. The inhabitants may be about’

el
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3000, one third of which are Irish, and many of them
Roman Catholics, about one fourth Germans and
Dutch, the most industrious and useful settlers
amongst us, and the rest English, with.a very small
number of Scotch. We have upwards of 100 licens-
ed houses, and perhaps as many more which retail

spirituous liquors without license, so that the busi-'
ness of one half of the town is to sell rum, and the
other half to drinkit. You may, from this single cir-

cumstance, judge of our morals, and naturally infer
that we are not enthusiasts in religion. Though
our present fortifications have cost large sums of mo-
ney, at least the Government has given andis charg-
ed with immense sums, (how much of it has been
misapplied, I will not take upon myself to say), yetI
would now engage that iwo ships of the line would
destroy the whole settlement ; but that will not be
the ease, when the citadel is completed, as it over-
looks the town, commands the harbour, and is too
high for ships to reach or make any impression on it.”
Halifax is situated on the western side of the har-
bour, on the declivity of a commanding hill, whose
summit is about 256 feet above the level of the sea.
There are eight streets running through the centre
of the town, only two of which reach its southern
and three its northern extremity. These are again
intersected by fifteen others. -The townand suburfs
are upwards of two miles in length, and its general
width about half a mile. In 1790 it contained 4,000
inhabitants and 700 houses. In 1817, the houses
amounted to 1,200, and in June,1828, the population
was 14,439 and the houses 1,580.
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960 wood
The old town contains—Private buildings, » 34stone
21 brick
1015
Public buildings, 40 wood
~ Including the Barracks, Poor ; 14 stone
house, establishment, &ec. 1 bnck
290 wood.
North suburbs—Private buildings, 9stone
10 brick
30
Public buildings, including } 23 wood
the Dock-Yard, 3 stone
26
156 wood
South suburbs —Private buildings, 12stone ™
: S 5 brick
S8
Public buildings, { ] ons
2

On the Peninsula 42 buﬂdmgs

Torars.—The old town, } 10;? gll;l};?c:e bél;ldlngs

North suburbs, % gg g:;ll‘;]?ée gg'_

173 private. do.
2 public do.

Houses on the Peninsula, 42

e

1,622
Few places present so pleasing an aspect as Hali-

fax, when viewed from the harbour. Its streetsare
laid out with regularity, its spires have a picturesque
and even magnificent effect, and the trees which
are scattered throughout it, give it an appearance

South suburbs,
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softenedand refreshing. It has been very much im-
proved -within these few last years, several exten-
sive fires having consumed many of the old houses,
and the increase of wealth having enabled the pro-
prietors to r:eplace them with larger and better build-
ings. The streets have also undergone a similar
change, owing to the very great interest which his

" Excellency Sir James Kempt manifested in every

thing connected with the roads. Water-street is
now well paved, and the side-paths neatly flagged
for the accommodation of foot passengers. The other
main streets have been Macadamized, and the cross
streets covered with hard and durable materials.
Halifax has a meat, vegetable, and fish market, all
of which are extremely well supplied. The latter in
particular deserves notice, on account of the quality
and variety of fish ; the low price at which it is sold,
and the importance of the establishment to the poorer
class of the community. There are two Churches
of the established religion—one in the centre of the
town, and the other in the north-west suburbs ; one
chapel for the Roman Catholics ; two meeting-
houses for the Presbyterians ; one Methodist chapel,
and two Baptist, and one Sandaminian meeting-house.
There is nothing remarkable in the appearance of any
of these buildings, exceptthe Catholic Chapel, which
is an elegant and spacious structure, built of cut free
stone. The others are plain, substantial, and well
suited to the size of the town, and the extent of their
respective congregations. Of government establish-
ments, the most important is the King’s Dock-Yard.
This was commenceél about theyear 1758, and has
been not only of infinite service to the navy during

L e R T
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the late war, but by its very grefat ‘expenditure of
money, of most essential advantage to the Province.
" Itis enclosed on the side towards the town by ahigh
stone wall, and contzins within it very commodious
buildings for the residence ofits officers and servants,
besides stores, warehouses and workshops, of differ-
ent descriptions. It is on a more respectable footing
than any in America, and the vast number of ships
 refitted there during the last twenty years, and the

prodigious labor and duty performed on them, are
strong proofs of itsregulation and order. In the rear
of the Dock-Yarij,’and on an elevated piece of ground,

1 that overlooks the works and the harbour, is the Ad-
i miral’s house, which is a plain stone building, erected
gi . partly by funds provided by Government, and partly
e by a grant of the Provincial Legislature. Thishouse

was completed in 1820, and, as its name denotes, is
= designed for the residence of the Admiral, or senior
- Naval Officer Commanding on the station. The
. . _* Hospital,which was attached to the Dock-Yard, was
unfortunately destroyed by fire a few years ago, and
a . has not yet been re-built. There are two Barracks
in the town, one on the north and the other on the
south side of the citadel hill, in which parts of three
regiments are generally quartered. They are built
of wood, and contain nothing particularly deserving
notice, except the library, which was established un-
der the patronage of the Earl of Dalhousie, for the
vse of the Officers of the Garrison. The other Go-
vernment buildings are the General’s house, or the
residence of the Commandant, the military Hospital,
built by his Royal Highness the late Duke.of Kent,
and the stores belonging to the Ordnance. The
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€olonial buildings are Government house, the Pro-
Vince Buﬂding, and the Court-House. The first,
which is built of’ brown free stone, is situated in the
south end of the town, and occupled by the- Lieut.-
Governor of the Colony. The Province Building is

also composed of the same matenals, and is the best

built and handsomest edlﬁce in North: Amenca its di-
mensions are 140 feet ini length 70 in vndth and 42 in
helght It contams all the various Provincial Offices,
the . Secretary’s, Surveyor—General’s, 'Treasurer’s,

Prothonotary’s, Collector’s of Excise, &c. &c; aIsO‘

apartments for the Council, House of Assembly, and
Superior Courts. It has two passages on the ground
floor, one extending the whole Iength of the bmldmg,

.and the other from the frontto the rear. It is situat-

ed in the centreof the town, in the middle ofa squail:e;

" the whole of which is enclosed withan iron fence.—

Dalhousie Collegé is also built of free stone ; it was
éstablished in the year 1820, at the sutrgestlon of the
Nobleman whose name it bears, and its Trustees are
incorporated by Law. Itissituatedat the end of the
old military parade, and is a spacious and handsome

" structure. The sum of £9,750 is invested in the

British 3 per -cents. as a fund for its support ; but the
institution being in debt, the Trustees are unable
either to complete .the interior of the building or to
openthé classes. ‘The object of its erection is « for
the education of youth and studentsin the several
branches of science and literature, as they are com-
monly taught in the University of Edinburgh.”—
There are three professorships, one for the Greek and
Latin classes, another for Mathematics, natural aild_

experimental Philosophy, and a third for Theology
3

e
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7 andmoral Philosophy. Itis'generally regretted that
so much money should have been so injudiciousiy ex-
pended. One College, with the Academies already es-
~tablished, is at present sufficient for the two Provin- -
ces of Nova-Scotia and New-Brunswick. Thelatter

Colony, with that sectional feeling so peculiar to Ame-
rica, has already provided means for the support of
one at Fredericton, and if this institution should ever
be completed, we shall have three insignificant, in-
stead of one respectable institution. Halifax also
contains a grammar school, which has an endowment
of two hundred pounds a year from the Province ; a
large school on the National, and one on the Lancas-
trian system, besidesan extensive one for Catholics,
and several common schools. There aré no periodi-
cals published, nor are any European or American
books re-printed at I{alifax, and the only productions
of the press in this Province are the weekly News-
papers, of which there are six at this place and one
at Pictou. The Court-House is a plain brick build-
ing, in which there is an Exchange room for the Mer-
chants, and suitable apartments for the Courts 6f
. Common Pleas, and General Séssions of the Peace.
There is also a large wooden building, -called Free
Mason’s-Hall,where the public assemblies for dancing
are ustally held. Besides the Poor-House, which is
open not only for the reception of the paupers of the -
township of Halifax; but for all the transient poor of .
the Province, there isa Bridewell, or house of Cor-
rection, which was established in the year 1815.—
Persons designated in the Act asliable to be commit-
ted, to Bridewell, for a term not exceeding seven
years, are described vaguely * as disorderly and idle
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people, who rotoriously mispend their time, to the
neglect of their own and family’s support, and those
who are convicted of any clergyable or lesser crimi- /
nal offence.” The charitable institutions are the
English, Irish and Scotch Societies, the Masonic,
Philanthropie, and Poor Man’s Friend Society. Its
manufactures are still in an infant state, most of
them having-been commenced since the year 1815.
They consist of a Sugar Refinery, Distilleries of Rum,
Gin, Whiskey, &c. Brewecries of Porter, Ale,&c. Ca-
binet work, Soap and Candles, Glue, Leather, Car-
riages, Chocolates, Linseed Oil, Combs, Brushes,
Paper, Snuffand other manufactured Tobacco, Flour,
Cordage, &c. &c. Halifax, in common with every
other part of British America, experiencéd initstrade
the embarrassments and difficuliies incidental to a
sudden transition from war to peace, but as the Mer-
chants of this place have always traded within the
limits of their Capital, the shock, though severe, was
not such as to induce either ruin or distress. Busi-
ness is conducted in a safe and honorable manner,
and itis a fact highly creditable to the Mercantile
Community, that only one bankruptey occurred
among the respectable part of the Merchants, during Y

- the whole of the administration of his Excellency Sir

James Kempt, a period of eight years. It is difficult
to estimate, with any degree of accuracy, the extent
of its trade, as much of that at the outports is con-
ducted on the funds of the Capital. There are own-
ed at Halifax, six ships, sixty-seven brigs, seventy-
seven schooners; of these there are employed abou
seventy in the West India trade, six in the Brazil
and Foreign European trade, four between the
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Province and Great Britain, and the rest in the
fisheries and coasting trade.* The passage from
Halifax to Portsmouth, N. H. occupies from 3 to 6
days; to Boston, nearly the same time; to New-York
from 4 to 8 days; to Philadelphia or Norfolk, from 7 to
14 days; to Charleston from 8 to 15 days ; and to Sa-
vannah from 9 to 1S days. The passage to England
‘is accomplished in from 14 t0.30 days ; to Bermuda
from 6 to 12 days ; and to Jamaica{rom 20 to 35 days.

“TABLE OF DISTANCES BETWEEN HALIFAX AND QUEBEC.
Halifax.

Windsor.| 45

~ Kentville.] 27 72

Wilmot Gibbon.| 29 56 101

. Annapolis.| 31 60 87 132

Digby.| 20 | 51 80 | 107 | 152

St. John, N. B.| 26 56 87 116 143 188
Fredericton.| 82 118 138 169 198 225 270
Quebec.[355§ 4373 4733 | 4935 | 524} | 5535 | 5805 | 625%

TABLE OF DISTANCES BETWEEN HALIFAX &SHELBURNE.
' Halifax.

132

Annapolis.]

Digby.] 20 [ 152

Sissiboo River.] 23 43 | 175

Yarmouth Church.] 46 69 89 221

Tusket.] 10 56 79 99 231

Barrington.| 36 46 92 | 115 | 135 | 267
Shelburne ] 15 51 61 107 130 150 282

TABLE OF DISTANCES BETWEEN HALIFAX & LIVERPOOL.
’ . Halifax.
Margaret’s Bay.| 22 |

Chester village.| 22 44

" Lunenburg.| 21 43 65
Liverpool.| 34 58 77 99

HALIFAX TO CUMBERLAND.

HALIFAX TO PICTOU. , Halifax.
Halifax. Truro.| 64
Truro.| 64 River Philip.| 45 109

Pictou.] 39 | 103 | Fort Cumberland.| 26 71 | 135

* See the table annexedto the Chapter on Trade.
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TABLE OF DISTANCES BETWEEN HALIFAX & ANTIGONISH.
Halifax.
West River.| 91 ‘

New Glasgow.| 10 | 101

Merigomish.| 7 17 108

Antigonish.| 33 43 53 | 144

The Peninsula upon which Halifax is built is formed
by Chebucto harbour, and the North West Arm, an
inlet of the sea, which extends in the rear of the town
to within a mile and a half of Bedford Bason. This
tract of land contains about three thousand acres, and
during the administration of Governor Cornwallis,
was divided into lots containing five acres each, with
the exception of 240 acres, reserved for a common.
To promote the cultivation of these allotments, an
excise duty was imposed upon all spirituous liquors
consumed in the Province, out of which a bounty of
20 shillings was paid for every acre of ground clear-
ed and enclosed. The inhabitants, stimulated by this
encouragement, prepared, within a short time, two
hundred lot.:s,‘or one thousand acres, for the recep-
tion of grain, and protected them with substantial
wooden fences; but an accidental fire spreading over
the whole surface, consumed the pickets, and the de-
cayed vegetable snbstances with which the land was
covered. The sterile and stony nature of the soil
was thus exhibited to view, and the settlers, disap-
pointed and discouraged, desisted for many years,
from making any further attempt at cultivation. At
a subsequent period, Governor Lawrence, finding
that the inhabitants were under the necessity of im-
porting hay from Massachusetts at exorbitant prices,
_ prevailed upon the Legislature to offer a bounty on
hay raised upon the Peninsula, and upon the erection
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of stone walls. In consequence of this act, the at-
tempt was agdin made, and in 1762, 70 acres were
brought into a state of cultivation, at an expense of
twenty-two pounds ten shillings per aere. Since
that time, and especially within the last twenty
years, the greater part of the land in the vicinity of
the Capital, has been enclosed with stone walls, and
rendered more productive than any other upland in
Nova-Scotia. It is therefore in much better accord-
ance with the natural beauty of the environs of the
town. The noble harbour, the splendid sheet of
water contained in Bedford Bason, and the exqui-
site beauty of the North West Arm, are never failing

- objects of admiration. The average width of the

latter is about a quarter of a mile, and its-depth from
15 to 20 fathoms. It is navigable throughout its en-
tire length. It receives several streams of fresh wa-
ter, that are supplied by lakes which lie scattered in
every direction between its western shore and Mar-
garet’s Bay. On one of these streams, are very ex-
tensive and valuable Mills, the property of Messrs. W.
& S. Black, of Halifax. Inthe centre of a little cove
on the western side of the Arm, and about half a mile
from its head, is Meh\'ille Island, the former abode of
unfortunate prisoners of war. There are about ten
buildings upon it, which, together with'a garden,
nearly cover itssurface. The principal one is the pri-
son, a long wooden house, two stories in height,
whose grated windows bespeak the use to which it
has been applied. All the buildings are in a state
of neglect and decay ; a wooden bridge connects the
Island with the main land, and on a small hill to the
southward is the burying ground belonging to the
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establishment. It is now no loﬁger to be distinguish-
ed from the surrounding woods, but by the mounds
of earth which have been placed’ over the dead ;
the whole being covered witha timick shrubbery of
forest trees. At the mouth of the Arm there is
another smnall island, called Pernett’s Island, and
about a mile above are two immense iron rings
fastened into masses of rock, to which was
appended, during the war, the chain that secured the
passage. Midway between the Arm and the har-
bour, near the southern part of the Peninsula, stands
a strong stone tower, in a position which commands
the approach to both ; but at this, as well as the other
batteries in its vicinity, there are no troops stationed
during the peace. About three miles from the North
West Arm is a Rocking Stone* of very larg'e dimen-
sions. It rests upon a strata of rock that risesto the
surface of the ground, and moves on a pivot of 12

_inches > 6. It is composed of granite, and when set

in motion (which may be efiected with great ease by

means of a short wooden lever) undulates from E,

N.E. toW.S. W. It is twenty feetin length, 14
in breadth, 9 inheight, and 74 in circumferenée, and
is supposed to .weigh 162 tons. Within a.shorter
distance of Halifax, on the Prospect road, is another
of smaller dimensions, but similar as respects its posi-
tion, and facility of motion. :

On the south western shore, between Halifax and
the bounds of Lunenburg County, there are several

* And some, chance poised and balanced lay,
8o that a stripling arm wight sway
: A mass no power could raise,
In nature’s rage, atrandom thrown,
Yet trembling like a druid’s throne,
On its precarious base.—Scorr.
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good harbours. After passing the North West Arm;
Herring cove and Ketch harbeur, Sambro presents
its capacious Bason, to vessels that encounter contra-
ry winds in departing from Halifax. It is situated a

league/ north-westward of the light house, is easy of ,

access, perfectly sheltered and deep. Coasters re-
sort - thither in great numbers in bad weather; and
fifty or sixty sail are frequently collected in thisre-
treat. - It was settled in the year 1780, and contains
asmall fishing population. Between this and Mar-
garet’s Bay, are Pennant, Upper and Lower Prospect;
Molineux, Dover, and Indian harbour, at each of
‘which are settled a few fishermen. The lands from
Chebucto head to St. Margaret’s Bay, are, with very
few exceptions, covered with rocks, the shore Iron
bound, and not a tree to be seen for many miles. At
the first settlement of the Country, this portion of the
Coast was clothed with a growth of spruce,hemlock,
and an intermixture of-birch and beech, which was
soon afterwards consumed by a fire, that spread over
almost the whole township of Halifax, and destroyed
an immense forest of timber, to the irreparable inju-
ry of the inhabitants. St. Margaret’s Bay is safe
and capacious, being four leagues. in depth, and two
in width, but contracted at its entrance to two miles.
It is accomodated with many harbours, coves, and
islands, which afford shelter for ships of the greatest
burden; and convenient situations for fishing or farm-
ing. The lands, for the space of a mile from the shore
on the eastern side,are well clothed with beech,
birch, and various kinds of soft wood. The soil,
though stony, is fertile, producing not only vegeta-
bles, but rye, barley, and oats. 'There are several
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streams that fall into the Bay, abounding with salmon,

trout and gaspereaux—all the lands in its vicinity
susceptible of culture having been granted in the
early settlement of the Province, to individuals who
engrossed them on speculation, and were neither
disposed to sell nor lease them, but upon exhorbitant
terms, they remained in a state of nature until 1783,
when Governor Parr, while on a tour to Lunenburg,
encouraged some of the descendants of the French,and
afew German families, to remove thither—these peo-
ple, by a regular course of persevering industry, be-
eame possessed of considerable property, and this
neighbourhood has for many years furnished a large
supply of vegetables and fire wood, for the Halifax
market. Beside tlie North West Harbour, Long cove,
Hubbert’s cove, French cove, Haggart’s cove, and
others ; Margaret’s Ba& contains Head Harbour, an
anchorage of the first order, and so perfectly safe
that a fleet might be moored side by side, unaffected
even by a hurricane.

DARTMOUTH.——OppOSité\ to Halifax, on the eastern
side of the harbour, which is there about nine tenths
of a mile wide, is situated the town of Dartmouth, .-
which was laid out and settled in the year 1750. In
the war of 1756, the Indians collected in great force
on the Bason of Minas, asc%nded the Shubenacadie
river in their canoes, and at night, surprising the
guard, scalped or carried away most of the inhabi-
tants. -From this period the settlement was almost
derelict, till Governor Parr, in| 1784, encouraged 20
families to remove thither from Nantucket, to carry
on the south sea fishery. The town was laid out in

anew fo;-m, and £1,500 provided for the inhabitants
4
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to eréct buildings. The spirit and activity of the
new settlers created the most flattering expectations
of success. Unfortunately, in 1792, the failure of a
house in Halifax, extensively concerned in the whale
fishery, gave a severe check to the Dartmouth es-
tablishment, which was soon after totally ruined.
About this period an Agent was employed by-the
‘Merchants of Milford, in England, to persuade the
Nantucket settlers to remove thither ; the offers
were too liberal to be rejected, and the Province lost
these orderly and industrious people.

During the late war the harbour became the gene-
ral rendezvous of the navy and their prizes, which
materially enriched the place, and extended the num-

ber of buildings. Between Dartmouth and Halifax
" a team boat constantly plies, for the accommodation
of passengers. The whole of the eastern shore of
the harbour, though by no means of the first quality
of soil, is much superior to the western. In shape it
bears a resemblance to the Peninsula of Halifax, Cole
Harbour and Salmon River, with which itis connect-
ed, extending in the rear of it to within a short dis-
tance of Preston. On the eastern passage there are
some fine farms, chiefly settled by Germans, and
every cove and indent contains a few families of
fishermen, who supply Halifax with fresh and cured
fish. A chain of lakes in this township, connected
with the source of the Shubenacadie river, suggested
the idea of uniting the waters of the Bason of Minas
with Halifax barbour, by means of a canal. Of
these Lake* Charles, orthe first Shubenacadie lake,

. Lakes Charles, William, Thomas and Fletcher’s, are distin-
guished as 1st. 2d. 3d. & 4th. Shubenacadie Lakes.
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is distant from Halifax about three miles and a half;
It extends from north to south 4,300 yards, and occu-
pies the higher portion of a valley, which reaches,
with irregular breadth and elevation, from the Bason
of Minas to Dartmouth, dividing the Province by a
well defined line of separation into two parts of near-
ly equal extent. From the southern end of this lake
-there is a~ descent through the Dartmouth lakes to
the harhour, of 91 feet, and from its northern extre-
mity, a gradual descent through several beautiful
lakes into the great Shubenacadie, and from thence
inthe channel of the river, for a distance of thirty
miles, to the junction of the tides of the Bay of
Fundy. ) )

As Halifax is sitqated on an Arm of the sea, and
has no connection with the interior parts of the Coun-
try by a navxgable river, it was thought that a canal
would afford greater facility of communication with
the Capital, and secure to it the trade of the exten-
sive and fertile townships, bordering on the Bason of
Minas, which would otherwise receive their supplies
from St. John, N ew-Brunswick, the natural empo-
rium of the Bay of Fundy.

‘The project having been decided by a competent
Engineer, to be not only practicable, but attended
with fewer obstacles than usually accompany works
of that description, an Association was formed, de-
nominated the Shubenacadie Canal Company, and
on the 1st of June, 1826, it was regularly incorporat-
ed. Asitwas supposed that the resources of a large
portion of the Province would be developed by this
work, and that the public would also, in the event of
awar, be much benefitted by this internal naviga-
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tion, the Legislature granted to the adventurers the
sum of fifteen thousand pounds. Thus encouraged,
the Company commenced the work upon ascale .
adapted for the transit of schooners. According to
the plan finally agreed upon, the canal will be 60 feet
in width at the water level, and 36 feet at thebot-
tom, the slopes'being one and a half horizontal toone
perpendicular, and the depth sufficient to admit ves-
sels drawing eight feet of water. The locks will be
90 feet within the chambers, 194 feet in width, and
125 feet between the extremities of the wing walls.
—The artificial communication is confined to a few
places, advantage being taken, when practicable,
of navigating the lakes and the channel of the river;
when completed, small steam boats, of 12 or 14 horse
power, will be employed for towing ; each boat per-
forming the passage from Halifax harbour to the
mouth of the Shubenacadie in 15 hours, and carrying
~ each four trade boats of 30 tons burden. The whole
X distance of this inland navigation will be 53 miles and
1024 yards, and will be completed, according to the
] estimate of £75,000. It consists of five sections.
4 The first Section of the Canal line begins in Halifax
: harbour, at high water surface of mediuxp tides, with
| ; tide lock of nine feet depth of water, and rises into
=i a; Dartmouth Lake by seven locks, 693 feet. The
: total expense of this first Section, a distance of 1210
yards, is £23,227 6s. 0d.

The second Section begins at the south end of the Dart- s
mouth Lake, and passes through the same, one mile
and 1340 yards, when it rises into Lake Charles by
i two locks, 26 feet six inches, over a distance of 1529
. yards in length. The total expense of this second
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" Section, a distance of three mxles 331 vards,-
£13,624 2s. 4d.

The third Section begins at the south end of Lake

Charles, passes through the same, being summit le-
vel two miles and 1375 yards, and then descends 31
feet four inches by two locks, into Lake William.—
The total expense of this third Section, being two
miles 1375 Yards, is £7154 8s. 8d.-
The fourth ‘Section begins at the south end of Lake
- William, passes through the same and Lake T homas,
six miles and 240 yards, descends 12 feet 1£1t0 Flet-
cher’s Lake ; passes through the same, 2 miles 1,112
vards, and then descends 9 feet into the great Lake,
which is nine miles’ long, and a mile and upwards
wide. Thetotal expense of this fourth Section, eight
miles and 1375 yards, is £6370 Ss. 8d.
The fifth Section begins at the south end of the

Great Lake, extends through the same, five miles”

and 880yards, to the outlet of the river Shubenaca-
die, descends the same three miles, 1o lock and waste-
wear under Hall’s bridge ; falls there 10 feet, pur-
sues the course of the river two miles and- 1,366
" yards, to lock and waste-wear, above Tremain’s

Bridge, -falls there .fen feet ; pursues the channel

12} miles to Parker’s point, falls there ten feet, and
thence descends the river 15 miles and 200 yards, to

¥ itsmouth. The total expense for this fifth Section,

38 miles and 1486 yards, is £12,448 13s. 4d.
Lawrence Town.—In the year 1754, Governor

Lawrence, with a view to promote the settlement of
the Country, granted to twenty Proprietors 20,000

acres of land, about four leagues east of Halifax, com- -
mencing at the¢onfluence of Smelt Brook, with the .

-
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AN
north east Branch o},g{ole harbour, and extending as
far as the falls of Chizetcook river, and erected
the same into a township by the name of Lawrence
Town. The Proprietors undertook to settle twenty
families there, and the Governor promised to build a
block house,and protect them with a military guard.

. .The stipulated number of families were accordingly

< -

settled by the associates, maintained at their expense,
and supplied with Cattle. Theinhabitants remained
there three years, and by their frugality and indus-
try, promised tobecome useful and valuable settlers.
But Governor Hopson having withdrawn the troops,
and ordered the stockaded fort and public buildings
to be demolished,  the Proprietors, who received no
compensation for their losses,abandoned for a time all
further connection with the place, on the assurance
that the lands should not be subject to forfeiture.—
It remained in this neglected state for many years,
and in 1808 there were only 50 families within the
whole township. Lawrence Town is much intersect-
ed with large Lakes and Ponds, and a great part of
it is rocky and barren. The best land is situated on
Chizetecook and Lawrence rivers, where the marsh-
es enable the inhabitants to support a good stock of
cattle. 'The harbours in this township are Cole
Harbour, Lawrence, and Three Fathom Harbour, all
of which are only suitable for small vessels ; a short
distance from Chizetcook, the Musquedoboit dis-
charges itself into the sea. This isafine river, rising
near the Stewiack, in a Country producing oak and
other timber suitable for ship building, and for masts

.and spars. The extent of this settlement on this

river, and the remaining part of the district, will be
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seen by the statistical table subjoined to this Section.
The harbours in this division, between the township
of Lawrence and the boundary of Sydney County,
are very numerous. The shore between Halifax and
Jedore, forms a long shallow bay, with several in-
dents besides those just mentioned, affording good
shelter for coasters. The entrance to Jedore is in-
trieate—the channel being both winding and narrow,
having a shoal at its mouth in eleven fathom water.
At high tides, the mud flats being covered, it wedrs
the appearance of a spacious harbour, but it can
only be entered by strangers with safety at low
water, when the channel is visible; in which there is
a sufficient depth for vessels of any burden.. About
two miles and a half above the beach it branches
into two parts. At the north endof the eastern
branch, Salmon River, which is fed by a large lake
in the interior—discharges itself into the harbour.
Beyond this inlet are Little Harbour, Owl’s Head, and
Ship Harbour. The entrance of the latter, other-
wise called Knowles’s harbour—is about seven miles
west of Briar Island, and is deep and bold, distin-
guished by a white cliff, resembling at a distance a
ship under sail ; but on a closer view, a topsail schoo-
ner. There is anchorage in every part of it, with

good bottom ; and above the narrows a fleet of the

largest ships may lye alongside of each other without
the smallest motion. Charles River, at the head of

this harbour, proceeds from a chain of lakes af a small ‘

distance, the largest of which is lake - Charlotte.
This body of water lies nearly north and south and
extends about twelve miles in length, but is of un-
equal width. The landson both sides are clothed
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with wood of a superior growth—birch, beech, maple,
spruce, hemlock, ash and pine. The latter frequent-
ly measures twelve feet six inches in circumference,
and the spruce and hemlock are equally large. Be-
yond this lies Tangier, Pope’s harbour, Taylor’s or
Spry harbour, Mushaboon, Sheet harbour and Bea-
ver harbour.

PrestoN.—The township of Preston, situated on
the eastern side of the harbour of Halifax, in the rear
of Dartmouth and Lawrence Town, was granted in
the year 1784, to 388 Proprietors, and was settled by
loyalists, disbanded soldiers, and free negroes. The
blacks in general were industrious and thrifty ; fur-
nishing a large silpply of butter, eggs, poultry and ve-
getables, for the Halifax market, and by their pérse-
vering industry,procured a comfortable maintenance.
Some Agents of the African Company arriving in the
Province at that time, induced them to quit their
peaceful retreats and remove to Sierra Leone, where
most of them fell victims to the climate or savage
negroes. The disbanded soldiers were prone to idle-
ness and intemperance, and when they had egixaust-
ed his Majesty’s bounty of provisions, they sojd their
lands and quitted the settlement. The land in this
township is stony, but its proximity to Halifax, to
which the inhabitants can with great ease carry
their produce 'and return the same day, givesita
value which it does not intrinsically possess.—
Throughout America, a deserted settlementrecovers
slowly ; and'it is only within a few years that Pres-
ton has begun to show any symptoms of permanent
improvement. '
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SECTION II.

EASTERN mViSION.

The Eastern Division contains the disiricts of Colchester,
Pictou, and the Counties of Sydney and Cumberland.

The District of Colchester is a part of the County
of Halifax, and is bounded on the north west by

- the County of Cumberland, on the west by the Shu-

benacadie River, on the south by the District of Ha-
lifax, and on the north and east by the District of
Pictou. It contains three townships, Truro, Onslow
and Londonderry, besides the settlements of Econo-
my, Stewiack, Tatamagouch, Salmon River, Shu-
benacadie, Brookfield, &c. The artificial boundary
between the District of Colchester, and the Halifax
Division just described, is placed on a line which
nature has drawn in adistinct and remarkable man-
ner, the Country on either side of it, differing from
each other, both in soil and aspect. This change
commences at the point where the Shubenacadie
issues from the great Lake. All that extensive tract
of land to the southward of this line, that stretches
towards Dartmouth, is generally rocky, and with the
exception of a few inconsiderable spots, unfit for pro-
fitable cultivation. Forests of hemlock, spruce and
pine, intermingled with small bodies of hard wood,
and separated by extensive barrens, cover the shore
of the great Lake, and the wide and broken hills,
that rise abruptly from the east side of Lakes
William and Thomas, while groves of the same des-
cription, extend eastwardly from different parts of
Lake Charles. On the Western side of the latter
body of water, and for many miles to the North ofit,
the land is waste and desolate. But on the other
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hand, the Country that lies between the shores of
the great Lake and Parrsborough, called the District
of Colchester, presents an appearance altogether
the reverse. The ponderous masses of granite of
the Southern Division are no longer seen, the land
islow and fertile, adapted to agricultural purposes,
and the support of a dense population ; filled with
lime and gypsum, and affording indications of ex-
tensive beds of Coal-and other minerals. This des-
cription belongs to a tract extending many- miles
both east and west of the Shubenacadie, in the
immediate vicinity of which are many well managed
farms, skirted with alluvial deposit, or rich intervals
that are formed by its waters,and extend asfar as
Fort Ellis. The black rock to which the tide reach-
es is wholly limestone, and near it Coal has been dis-
covered of an excellent quality. - The point where
the river leaves the Lake, is but 21 miles distant
from Halifax Harbour. The valley through which
it flowes, receives the waters of the whole Country,
both east and west, for many miles. The principal
streams that fall into itin the upper part of the District,

that we are now describing,are the Stewiack andGay s
River. The former discharges itself into the ‘Shuben-

“acadie above Fort Ellis. The tide water ascends it

about seven miles, beyond which its course may be
traced nearly forty more, affording a passage for

small boats, and for the conveyanee of timber.—

There are few finer agricultural tracts than those
which compose the settlements of the Stewiack.—
The inhabitants are numerous and enterprising, and
have long supplied the Halifax market with. cattle
and the productions of their farms. = About 14 miles
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above the tide and one from the river, veins of Coal
rise to the surface, and free-stone, lime and roofing

slate are found in the same neighbourhood. Salt

springs also occur of a similar nature and strength

“to those on the River Philip. It is said there exist no

material obstacles in the river to the conveyance of
the mineral and fossil productions of these settle-
ments to the line of the Canal, and thatits naviga-
tion may be so improved, that boats of ten tons bur-
then may ascend the whole distance. Below the
black rock, Gay’s River enters the Shubenacadie, af-
ter a course of about six miles from Lake Egmont,
receiving in its progress, the waters of two branches.
On its northern branches, a vein of Coal has been
exposed to view by the action of the water, and iron-
ore, lime-stone, and slate, are also found in the same
neighbourhood. Pine, spruce, and other valuable
timber, abound in this quarter, and the land, though
but partially settled, is of a superior quality.

The township of Truro contains 50,000 acres. It
is bounded on the north by Colchester Bay, on the
south by the Stewiack settlements, on the east by
Greenfield, and on the west by the Shubenacadie
river. The first British settlers of Truro were Irish
emigrants from Londonderry, or its adjoining Coun-
ties, to New Hampshire ; from whence they were
removed to this Province . by*Colonel McNutt, who
was the agent of many settlements, both in the
United States and Nova-Scotia. In July, 1759, a
volunteer corps was raised to serve at Fort Cumber-
land, in which were anumber of Irish from New-
Hampshire. Some of them, in consequence of the
Proclamation of Governor Lawrence, visited Truro;
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and in the foilowing year, 1761, returned with seve-

ral families of their countrymen, and made their )

first effectual settlement. Invarious manuscript let-
ters of Colonel McNutt, both Truro and Onslow
(though the patents were not then executed) are
mentioned as townships so early as August, 1762,
and many of the original settlers are addressed by
him as old friends. In the same year, and of the

. date of November, the settlers of Truro wrote to

him to procure them a Seceder Clergyman from
Glasgow. They appear, in common with the inhabi-
tants of the other neighbouring townships, to have
thad great difficulty in procuring their grant, in con-
sequence of opposition in Halifax. This untoward
event occasioned them much uneasiness, and their
discontent manifested itself on several important oc-
casions for many years afterwards. At first they

. laboured under great terror of the Indians, and a

stockaded fort was for a length of time their resort
at night. The Truro grantis signed by his Excel-
lency Montague Wilmot, and bears date the 3lst
October, 1765. It conveys all manner of rights,
royalties, privileges, franchises, and appurtenances
whatsoever, without any exception or reservation.
The quit-rent is one shilling for every fifty acres,
payable after the expiration of ten years. That this
unconditional grant, was not, however, considered
very peculiar at that time, will appear from the fol-
lowing quotation, from a part of a very spirited let-
ter of Colonel McNutt’s, dated London, 31st July,
1767, and addressed to two gentlemen at Truro :
¢ Onslow people may hold their land upon the same
terms with you. His Majesty has been pleased to

me
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order me all my grants, according to my first agree-

ment, without any exception or reservation of Mines.”
From this circumgtance it has been inferred, though
without foundation, that these reservations were
suggested by the local Government of the Province.
On the arrival of the British settlers, they found
only two French buildings (barns) remaining ; to
which circumstance the lower division of the town-
ship is indebted for being denominated Barn Village.
Of dyked marsh there were, however, 1036 acres,
of cultivated upland—390 acres, and of cleared in-
terval-—200 acres. Several orchards were also in
full vigour, and some of them still produce fruit.
The greater part of thisland lies in the lower village,
for in the upper, or Derry Village, the French had
made scarcely any improvement. Even the exten-
sive and fertile intervale land, upon Salmon river,
consisting now of 800 acres, had not attracted their
notice. ‘This river, the only one besides the Shu-
benacadie in the townéhip, is no where naw)igaf)le,
but presents many fine views, especially one from
the upper bridge, of most luxuriant beauty.

The town of Truro is nominally divided into the
upper and lower villages, but the designation of vil-
lage belongs with more propriety to the former, the
latter being merely a continuation of farm houses at
moderate distances, situated on the uplands that rise
gently from the marshes. The upper village consists
of about 70 dwelling houses, and these are in gene-
ral compact enough to merit the appellation. Both
are situated on the south side of Colchester Bay,
Hear its head, with no evident seperation but a small
creek, near which stands a Presbyterian Meeting
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House, placed intentionally to accomodate the inha-
bitants of both. The upper village is built upon what
may-be called table land of about a quarter of a mile
in width and three quarters in length, and is laid out , -
in two parrallel streets, running east and west.—
These streets are terminated on the west by a
square, surrounded with houses two stories in height,
in which are also the Court-HouseandJail. From
this square diverge the Halifax, Pictou, and Lower
villageroad. In pursuing theroad leading to Pictou,
the whole front street is traversed, and near its head
stands the Episcopal Church, a very beautifully-pro-
portioned building with a spire and bell. Near this
place the street terminatesin two roads, the Eastern
leading directly up the Salmon River and its rich
intervale, towards Pictou ; the Northern crossing Sal-
~ mon River by a new and most ornamental bridge,
towards Cumberland, and a division of the village, .
denominated, from its situation, the hill, which is
exactly one mile from the Court-House. . No doubt
the alluvial lands, which here extend between the
Salmon and North Rivers for nearly two miles, first
led to the erection of dwelling houses on this part of
the village, the number of which is now twenty, and
daily increasing. The situation is one of most con-
summate beauty. From this hill another road, and
the most frequented, leads to Pictou, and fromit also
the Cumberland road may be said to.commence,
through the township of Onslow and Londonderry.
Whether originating in accident, taste, or conveni-
ence, ' this is the place where the public business is
transacted, all the Law Offices, the Custom-House,
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Post-Office, the Masomc-Hall and the two pnnmpal
Inns being sxtuated here.

In this towns_hlp there are four Grist Mills, one of
them is in the centre of the upper village, and the
second, which is not far from it, has also a Carding
Machine and a Fulling Mill attached to it.

Independent of these, all_of which have Kilns for
drying oats, there are nine Saw Mills.

The upland soil of Trurois good, and in general
consists of loam and gravel intermixed. It produces
abundant crops, and is more grateful for the applica-

tion of lime than most lands in the Province. Agri- '

culture, both as to its theory and practice, has for
some years made great advances, and consequently
the farmersare in a very thriving state. The gene-
ral markets of this place are Halifax and St. John.—
The aspect of Truro, when viewed from the elevated
land on the north east, is highly pleasing. The

whole sweep of the Bason of Minas, asfar as Cape
" Blomedon, embracing a space of more than 60 miles,
is dlstmctly visible, while the two villages, into
which the townshlp is mainly divided, with their
level marshes relieved by fincly swelling uplands,
and backed with wooded and undulating hills, com-
pose the foreground of this beautiful landscape. The

indenture made by the Shubenacadie, on its Western

boundary, is a striking feature in this scene, and
when viewed with a previous knowledge of the sin-
gufar character of the river, itinvests it with a pecus
larinterest. The Shubenacadie, at the Ferry where
it is a mile in width, rises fifty feet at flood tide, and

at the distance of twelve miles, twenty-five or thirty

feet. At times the stream runs at the rate of seven
6
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pidity of the current the river is securely naviga-
ble to.the distance of 30 miles, by those acquainted
with its eddies. Its banks are precipitous, but in
general of that formation which admits of the most
fantastical appearances, being shaped by the waters,
v 9 and are in most places fringed and overhung by trees

of great ‘beauty. * But these banks, so romantic and

inviting, to the lover of natural scenery, are also en-

Paris and Limestone, and few farms in the vicinity
are deficient of these valuable resources. Quarries
aﬁbf excellent Free-stone are equally accessible. The
line of the Bay being almost everywhere level, pre-
'z sents, with the exception of Savage’s Island and the
“site of the Preshyterian Meeting House, only those

views which the industry of man has created. The
former, though possessing a most appropriate name,
derived its appellation from an early English proprie-

tor. It rises rather abruptly from the Bason, and
contains about ten acres. It was the burial plaee of

the French, and having been consecrated by the Ca-
tholics,is still used for the same purpose by the Indi-

ans. This sf)ot, solonely and neglected, upon which

nature herself is making war, though marked with

few memorials of 1ts inmates, possesses a peculiar
attraction for those who are fond of cherishing the
reminiscences of the early periods of our history.—

The site of the Presbyterian Meeting House, inde-
pendent of the beauty ofits situation, is, for similar

.- inhabitants. It- was the spot selected by their fa-
thersonly eight days after their landing in their new

and eight miles an hour, but notwithstanding the ra-

riched with inexhaustible treasures of Plaister of -

e

‘reasons, an object of veneration to the present raceof
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and adopted Country, for the stated worship of God,
and excites a melancholy interest from the fact that
all those who were first assembled. .the‘re, repose in
peaee beneath its surface.

The township of Onslow is bounded on the north
by the settlements of Earl Town and New-Annan, on
the south by Colchester Bay and Truro, on the east
by Kempt town, and on the westby the mouth of
the Chigenois river and the township of Londonder-
ry. The first British settlers came from the Province
of Massachusetts, and were of varjous origin. They
landed in Onslow, in the summer of 1761, to the num-
ber of 30 families, and brought with -them twenty
head of horned cattle, eight horses and seventy
sheep, but their stock of provisions was altogether
inadequate to their wants, and was consumed insix
months. From this circumstance they were com-
pelled to undergo the most severe privations, and to
resort for subsistance to the most unpalatablé and
nauseous articles of food. During the second year
Government supplied them with Indiapn Corn, and
shortly afterwards they resorted to fishing and hunt-
ing. On their arrival they found the Country laid
waste to prevent the returh of the Acadians, but 570

acres of Marsh land were still under dyke, and about

40 acres of upland round the ruins of the houses,
were cleared, though partially overgrown by young
shrubs. Remains of the French roads, which were
chiefly confined to the marshes, are still visible, as
also parts -of their bridges. Near the sites of their.
buildings have also been found,at various times, farm-
ing implements and kitchen utensils, which they
had buried in the earth under the hope of being per-
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mitted, at some future period, to return to their pos-
sessions. It appears, from manuscript letters of the
late Colonel McNutt, whieh are still extant, that the
settlers encountered great difficulty in procuring their
grant, and that it was not only different from what
they had beenled to expect, but also, much more
restrictive in its terms than that of the township of
Truro. The Onslow patent reserves to the Crown
¢« all mines of gold, silver, lead, copper and coals,”
and also “ one thousand acres for the use of a Church,
a School and Glebe.” Italso differed from the Truro
grant, in the manner in which the quit rent was re-
served ‘¢ being one farthing per acre,payable in three
years,” and in default of payment, the grant was de-
clared to be null and void. It was also subject to
forfeiture, if not registered and docketted at the
Auditor’s office, within six months. It was signed
by Lord William Campbell, on the 21st, audited on
the 22d, and registered the 23d of February, 1769. It
would be interesting to ascertain the causes which
occasioned this marked difference in the two grants,
though perhaps it is now impossible. Chigenois river,
the western boundary of the township, takes its rise
in a lake near the summit of the high lands which
seperate the Gulf of St. Lawrence from Colchester.
Bay. Thesituation of thislake which is only about four

miles in circumference, is strikingly romantic. Em-

bosomed in woods, and environed with wild and pre-
cipifous heights, its pellucid waters, completely shel-

tered from every wind, float in stillnessround a large:

rock which rises boldly in the centre. About a miie
below the lake, theriver, which is there about thirty
feet wide,rushes over a ledge of rocks fully forty feet
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in perpendicular height, and flows along, now with
high and rugged banks, now through fine and shel-
tered, though small intervales, to where it meets the
tide, about four miles from its mouth. Seams of
coal have been found on its banks, but have hitherto

. been worked to little or no advantage, although the

appearances are promising. North River runs in the

same high lands as the Chigenois ; on one of its

branches a valuable salt spring has been discovered,
and seams of coal have also been found, one of which
hasbeen worked for about four years, with consider-
able success. _Roots, plants and trees, have been
discovered in the strata, which have retained, on
their transmutation, a singular resemblance to their
original form. The intervale land on this river con-
tains nine hundred sacres, of the first quality ; some
of it having produced 14 wheat crops in succession,
without the assistance of manure. © There are in this
township one Grist Mill, with a Kiln for drying Oats,
and eight Saw Mills, one of which includesa Carding
machine. The character of the upland soil upfon the
Bay is various, and depends much on its situation,
with respect to the rise and fall of the surface.—
When partaking of the former it is good, when of the
latter often the reverse. In general itisan intermix-
ture of clay and sand. The whole front of the township
is cleared upland, and is nominally divided into three
villages, though there is no where to be found such »
number of houses so closely situated as to merit the
distinction. Halifax is the staple market for this place,
as well as Truro, though in the dutumn, a few small
vessels are loaded with potatoes, turnips, &ec. for St.
John, New-Brunswick, but this trade is declining.
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Loxpoxperry.—This township lies between Ons
low and Parrsborough. It extends 20 miles in length
and six in breadth, and is bounded in front by the
Bason of Minas, and in the rear by the County of
Cumberland. This part of the Province was origi-
nally settled by the French, who were attracted by
its extensive marshes, its facility of communication
by water, with the other settlements, and the sape-
rior quality of its upland. Some idea may be formed
of the extent of their population by the size of the

" Chapel, which was 100 feet long, and 40 feet wide. 4

—This spacious building, together with their dwell-
ing houses, was destroyed by the Provincial troops,

" on the dispersion of the Acadians in 1755. It was

subsequently settled by the exertions of Alexander
McNutt, Esq. an enthusiastic adventurer from the
north of Ireland, to whom, and his associates, there
were granted in different parts of Nova Scotia, up-
wards of a million of acres. - The first attempt at
settlement was made in 1761, by twenty families,
who gave it the name of the place of their nativity.
Exclusiveof the Chigenois, which forms the boun-
dary between this township and Onslow, there are
five'rivers of small size, thatintersect Londonderry,
and f{all into the Basin of Minas—the Folly, Deburt,
Great Village, Pont aux pique, and Bass river ; all
of which, with the exception of Folly, arc fed by
springs and small rivulets. The Folly takes its rise
twelve miles distant, in a small lake about three
miles in circumference, and abounds in trout of ex-
cellent quality. All these rivers, at a distance of six
miles from their mouth, are intersected by veins of
coal, which are so conveniently situated for the ope-
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rations of mining, and for transportation by water,
that if the Shubenaccadie Canal should be success-
fully completed, it is probable the Halifax market
will derive the greatest part of its supply of fuel from
this township.

. Londonderry contains two thousand acres of dyked
land, and one thousand acres of sait marsh. 'The
upland consists of two varieties of soil, which bear

an equal proportion to each other ; one half being.

a heavy clay, and the other light and dry loam, and
both generally free from stone. The woodland pro-
duces birch, beech, maple, ash, and elm, and a
small quantity of pines. The exports consist of
boards, planks, and a few articles of agricultural
produce, for the market of St. John, N. B.; and
beef, butter and pork, which are transmitted to Ha-
lifax. Cargoes are occasionally assorted for the
‘West Indies, and about twenty vessels have loaded
with timber for Europe. 'There are seven small vil-
lages in Londonderry. Chigenois, Mass village,
Deburt, Little Dyke, Folly, ‘Great village, and Pont
aux pique, which are almost exclusively settled by
native Nova-Scotians. In these villages, there are
collectively six grist mills, five saw mills, two card-
ing mills, and two oat mills.

The townships of Truro, Onslow and Londonderry,

“and their dependant settlement of (Economy, com-

prise atract of land which, for richness of soil, local
convenience, and beauty of scenery, is not surpass-
ed by any in the Province. The bay which washes
its shores for an extent of about sixty miles, is easily
navigated. The shifting of its sands is by no means

- sudden ; and the draft of water is at all times suffi-
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cient to direct the mariner in his course. It is navi-
gable on the shores of Onslow and Londonderry for
ships of any magnitude, and for vessels of one hun-
dred and fifty tons, to within a mile of the Court-
house in Truro. This beautiful bay abounds with a
great variety of fish, and presents many favorable
situations for curing them, being accommodated with
numerous harbors and inlets throughout its whole
extent.
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. . AGRICULTURE,
- LAND .
POPULATION. cULTL. PRODUCE, STOCK BELONGING TO THE
VATED FAMILY, . »
o [ ) 1 . >
s |2 |58, (2818 [ 7 oS . g
o Iw |1 g 39 - 2 R (<] <1
2 o 28 i85 .| 5 ~ 2 o @ 8.
kS S8 Is8E[¥S ]S S 1589 3 >
¥AME OF THE SETTLEMENT. g 5o [ 5B |58l S8 1 a. | B |8 7 n
s QT [ Loyl 9 O P [ 873 - e
5 K o m D, |o e .D.M. bm o 3 M o =]
53 |53 [E° (B3 | & g s |Zg5 | o 5 ‘
28 - = 3 n — =] o
o | Z5 | 723 |7 29 |75 Z T z Z
.—.&s‘:mrv of Truro 1380| 4551| 2787] 12058 53545 2654 286| 1461 2295 868
Onslow 1239 5729] 3035| 13631 54935| 2832 245 1768] 1263 1314[c~
[=2] . Ho:mc:mo:.w. 1398 4924] 4195 12114 55000 3581 249 2045| 2431| 1330
- Settlements of Economy 5271 1937 1375 2074] 227140 1209 112 646| 1254 593
Stewiacke : 1223|6170 3463 12645 41018| 3806 331 2432] 2841 1280
Tatamageuche and Earl Town 1104] 2607| 1320] 3978| 87780 860 86|  818| 1118 788
Salmon River 102(. 409 144 1860/ 3125 111 10 88 92 72
. " Shubenaccadie and Halifax Road /334 1694] 910 2482| 11465 1016 62| 466| 655 276
Brookfield, &e. 309 989 847| 2166| 11667 673 53 428 731 356
) District of Colchester 7616/ 29010] 18576 63993(290675! 16742 1423| 10142|°12675] 6876
Castlereagh 87 125 68 25 1560 14 7 35 38 36 .
N TOTAL. 77081 29185/ 18644 640181292235! 16756! 1440! 101771 12718 6912
Castlereagh lies North of the Folly Mountain, between the District of Colchester and the County of Cumberland.
N. B. The year 1827 was very unfavorable to the growth of wheat, and this return may be considered not more than one

third of an average crop,
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THE DISTRICT OF PICTOU.

Which is the third and last District of the County
of Hallifax, is bounded on the west by the District
of Colchester, on the south by the District of

_Halifax, on the east by the County of Sydney,

and on the north by the Gulf of St. Lawrence.

. —It contains three. townships, Pictou, Egerton,
" and Maxwelton. The gereral appearance of this

District resembles that ofmost parts of the Province,
its surface being every where diversified by hill and

" dale, seldom approaching to the altitude of mountains,
" 7 and no where presenting any very extended plains.

In consequence of this. inequality in its formation, it
is well irrigated by streams and brooks, which, by
their union, form several rivers. Of these the East
and French rivers fall into Merrigomish, the East,
Middle, and West rivers flow into the harbour of
Pictou, and Big and Little rivers, discharge them-
selves into Carriboo, between which, and the boun-
dary of the District of Colchester, are the rivers
Toney and John. The soil is in general of a superior
quality, and susceptibie of a high state of cultivation.

As an agricultural District, it is inferior to none in the

Province, and although its settlement is compara-
tively of recent date, the census of 1527, shews that
a greater quantity of wheat was raised within it
than in any of the other Counties or Districts.” The
French had made a few inconsiderable settlements
here, previous to the Peace of 1763, but upon the re-
duction of Canada they deserted them, and in a few
years they were again covered with wood. In the
year 1765, the celebrated Doctor Weatherspoon and

others, who had formed themselves into an associa-
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tion, called the Philadelphia Company, having ob-
tained an extensive grant of land within this Dis-
trict, despatched a few families from Maryland, to
settle upon it ; each of whom received as a bounty
for emigration, a farm-lot and a suppiy of provisions.
Eight years afterwards, the Company transported in
the ship Hector, thirty families more from the North
Highlands of Scotland, but having neglected to fur-
nish them with provisions, the emigrants were in
danger of perishing from hunger. They arrived too
late in the season to raise either grain or vegetables
for the ensuing winter, and their predecessors were
wholly unable to supply them with food, for any
length of time. There were at that period no other
settlements on the shore for a great distance, and
there wasno road to Colchester. Wholly unaccus-
tomed to travel through the woods, they were com-
pelled to undertake this long and formidable journey,
some with and some without their families, and after
incredible labour and fatigue, they reached the Bason
of Minas. Some of them remained there for several
years, until they Lad acquired by their industry suf-
ficient means to commence a settlement, and others,
receiving their wages in provision, carried it on their
backs to Pictou, for the support of their families, and
returned to labour for more. These people were
hardly seated on their lands, before they were joined
by several other families, who had emigrated from

the County of Dumfries, in Scotland, to the Island of :

St. John, from whence they made their escape to
Pictou, in the greatest poverty and distress, and
must inevitably have perished, had jt not been for
the kindness of the Highlanders, who supported them
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until they could provide for themselves. In the
Spring of 1784, they received a great addition to their
number, by an influx of disbanded soldiers, who had
gerved in the American War ; but s:any of these peo-

¥ ple were idle and profligate, and scin removed to
other places, and only fifty families becaine peraa-
——nent gettlers. The same year that the milita:-y ar-
rived, the\f%?mmtﬁtamaheld a public meeting

——

support of a Minister. They voted the sum of £80
currency, as a salary for the first two years, £90 for
the two succeeding years, and then £100 per an-
num, which they resolved to augment in future, in
proportion to their means. They solicited one of
the synods of the Secessien Church of Scotland, to
send them a person properly quaiified to perform the
arduous duties of this remote and scattered Parish,
under the impression that a Clergyman from that
body would not only be more sound in doctrine, but
more dilligent and laborious. Upon this application
the Rev.. Doctor M‘Gregor arrived in Pictou,in the
. year 1786, where he still continues at an advanced
period of life, to minister to the spiritual wants of the
people.” As soon as it was known in Scotland, that
the Gospel was preached at Pictou, in Gaelic, the
stream of emigration was directed thither, and in a
few years they required an increase of Clergymen.
In the year 1795, the Rev. Duncan Ross arrived,
and eight years afterwards the Rev. Dr. M¢Culloch.
The high standing which the latter gentleman soon
acquired in the Province, from his literary attain-
ments was sueh, that, on the establishment of the
Academy at Pictou, the Trustees solicited him to be-
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come its President, and it is now, after struggling for
years with the most illiberal opposition, alone sup-
ported by his reputation and zeal. From the arrival
of these gentlemen, until within a few years past,
the population of the District has been increased by
a succession of emigrants from different parts of
Scotland. The principal port in this District is Pic-
tou'harbour. It has a bar across its mouth, rising
to within twenty-two feet of the surface at low water,

~—— -—(eutside of which is a shoal, called the middle ground,

only seven feet under water,) inside of the bar it
formsa beautiful and capacious Bason, in which there
are soundings in five, six, and nine fathoms, with
muddy bottom. About three miles from the mouth,
and on the north side of the harbour, is situated the
town of Pictou ; the first house in which was built
in the year 1790. Several yéars afterwards another
was added, and in process of time it assumed the
form of a village, when its growth becamerapid. In
1827, it contained a population of 1439 souls. Al-
though the town is not so well laid out as many

others in Nova-Scotia, the dwelling houses are in )

general much better, many of them being built of
stone. It is theresort of coasters from all parts of
the Gulf of St. Lawrence, the eastern shores of Prince
Edward’s Island, and the north coast of Cape Breton.
The quantity of oil and fish brought thither annu-
ally is very great, and the exports to the West In-
dies, have increased in proportion to the extentof its
coasting trade. From the year 1805 to 1819, up-
wards of 100 sail of vessels were annually loaded
with timber for the British market, and although the
alteration made by parliamentat the latter period, in
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the duties on Foreign timber, caused a depression in
this branch of trade, there is still a great quantity of
Birch, (which is said to be the best in British Ame-
rica) exported from " the harbour of Pictou, in the
vicinity ‘of which it is found in great abundance.—
During all the period just mentioned, its exports
amounted to nearly £100,600 per annum. It has
lately been erected a free port to facilitate its export
of coal. It contains four places of worship, an Epis-
copal Church, a Roman Catholic Chapel, and two
Presbyterian Meeting Houses, also an Academy, a
Grammar School, a2 Court-House, and pubiic Library.
The Academy was projected-as early as the year
1804, for the purpose of affording to the children of
Dissenters, who were excluded from the honours of
King’s College, those literary -and scientific acquire-
ments which might qualify them for thelearned pro-
fessions. Difficulties, which were then unforseen,
prevented the execution of the plan at that time, and
it was not resumed until the establishment of Gram-
mar Schools throughout the Province, rendered it
necessary to provide means of instruction in the
higher branches, which were taught only in the
College at Windsor. On this condition subscriptions
were raised, and a petition presented to the Legisla-
ture, for a charter, which was obtained in the year
1816, together with a grant of £400, which sum has
been annually voted for its support until this year.—
The Corporation consists of twelve Trustees, who
fill up vacancies in their number, subject to the Veto
of the Governor, and who, contrary to the wish of
the founders of the institution, are required to be
Presbyterians or members of the established Church.
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No religious tests however are required of the Stu-
dents, and it is accordingly attended by young men
of the several denominations in -the Province. The
course of education at present adopted in the Acade-

my, is completed in four years, during which the

_following branchesare taught in the subjoined order :
First year. Latin and Greek.

2d. Logic, the principles of composi-

tion, and other collatarel branches-

) 3d. Moral Philosophy, Mathematics

and Algebra, Latin and Greek
continued.

4th. Natural Philosophy, Mathematics
and Algebra, Latin and Greek
continued.

Each year contains two terms of equal length, -

with a Summer and Winter vacation ; at present
there are two Teaches, and the Trustees have it in

contemplation to add a third. Itis rapidly spreading = -
 around it a spirit of education. Its pupils are now

filling many respectable offices with credit to them-
selves, and what this Province wants exceedingly, it
is furnishing, a race of qualified schoolmasters. It has
hitherto been noticed for the moral deportment and
good conduct of its students.” On Sunday the Secrip-
tures are read and explained in the Seminary, at'
which exercise the Students are required to attend,
unless their parents or guardians express a wish to’

the contrary. It contains a library, not veiy exten-, ‘

sive but valuable, and alsoa museur of the Natural
History of Nova-Scotia. It is the most extensive
collection of the Zoology of the Country, which has

yet been made. The birds in particular are finely
preserved and make a beautiful appearance. This
branch is nearly completed, and exhibits in one group
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almost every variety in the Province. As a dissenting
Academy, it has encountered much opposition, and
although it has always received the support of a very
large and respectable Majority of the House of As-
sembly, the Council rejected last year not only the
Bill for its permanent endowment, but also the annu-
al allowance of £400, and even a vote to discharge a
part of the debt which the Trustees had incurred
in its progress. Itis now left to struggle with these
difficulties, and the Salaries of its officers are raised
by the voluntary contributions of its friends. Itis
foreign from the design of this work to enter into
focal politics , we shall therefore not detail the
particulars of the controversy, nor the reasonings of
the contending parties, but it may be permitted to
us to express a ;egret, that the opposition of a few
individuals should have succeeded in withholding the
funds from an institution that is both useful and res-
pectable, and one that has always enjoyed the decid-
ed approbation of the representatives of the people.

Pictou is the usual place of meeting for the Synod
of the Présbyterian Church of Nova-Scotia.*

Just ‘above the town, the river divides into three
branches, the east, west, and middle rivers. . Upon
the eastern branch'the channel, though winding is
navigable about four miles, for vessels drawing fif-
teen feet, where it is intersected by a bar. Above
this obstruction the water is deep as far as New-
Town Glasgow. At this place there is a small vil-
lage, which was commenced in the expectation of its
lage, which was commenced in the expectation of

¢ For an account of this body see the third Chapter of this
work, in which a view is taken of the general state of religion, and
of the different sects in Nova-Scotia.
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its becoming a -depot for the fertile and populous
Country in its neighbourhood, but the formation of
extensive works, a mile and a half further up the ri-
ver, at the Albion Coal Mines, by Messrs. Rundell,
Bridges and Co. of London, will naturally attract
thither both the population and trade of the neigh-
bourhood- The extraordinary resources, and the
natural conveniencies of this District, induced those
gentlemen to sclect this spot as the site of their ope-
rations. The vein of Coal which they have opened
is upwards of fifty feet in thxckness, and iron ore is
both contiguous and abundant. Hitherto their ope-
rations have been conducted upon scientific princi-
ples, and although they must inevitably experience
many difficulties in their progress, which are insepa-
rable from the introduction-of Manufactures into a
~new Country; ‘there is no reason todoubt that they
lel not only succeed, but be amply repaid for their
expenditure. For a particular description of the
Coal ; the reader isreferred to thelast Chapter of
this work, where it is described in connection with
the Geology and Mineralogy of the Province. Be-
sides coal, iron ore and copper, this District contains,
in abunddnce, free-storie and lime-stone. In a stra-
tum of the latter at M:Lellan’s brook—on the east
river, is a singular fissure known éenerally as Peter
Fraser’s cave. 'The owner has placed a door at its
mouth, and covered the bottom, which is a few feet
lower than its entrance, with a wooden floor. He
has also formed two  horizontal holes to the brow ot
the hill in which it is situated,.to admit light, and
two perpendicular ones for the passage of smoke.—

The roof is formed by two limestone roeks leaning .

against each other, resembling in form the interior
VOL. II. , 8 - -
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of theroof of ahoise, but beautifully illuminated by
numerous stalactites that are suspended from it.
The cave is about one hundred feet long, but of irre-
gular width, and forms in the centre a small chan-
nel, through which percolates arill of pure water.
The coolness of its atmosphere in summer, and the
corresponding temperature of the water, render it
so peculiarly fitted for a dairy, thatthe proprietor
makes it his occasional residence in summer. On
each of these three branches there are flourishing
and increasing settlements ; the extent of which
will be seen by the subjoined statistical table. On
the West River occur salt springs, similar to those of
the river Philip ; but no rock salt has hitherto been
found connected with their sources ; whether it exists
beneath the sandstone formation is not known, as no
attempt to penetrate it has ever been made. In des-
cribing this section, the same detail which has been
observed in the topographical account of other
Counties, where cultivation and population have
made a slower progress, would fail to convey a just
picture of this district. In the first settlement of the
country, the lands in the vicinity of harbors and
rivers were first occupied. Thus the Pictou and
Merrigomish harbors, «and the streams connected
with them,were the scenes of the labours of the early

emigrants. Asthe population increased, the fertili-
ty of the land invited an extension of cultivation ;
and in progress of time they lost their distinctive
character of settlements, which were with more
propriety applied to the subsequent incipient clear-
ings in the wilderness—such as Mount Tom, Ro-
ger’s Hill, Scotch Hill, McLennan’s Mount, and a
great variety of others. To enumerate all these
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. places, and describe their respective localities, would
exceed the limits of this work ; and perhaps convey
but an indistinct and confused idea of the country.
A few general observations, formed upon a view of

its situation, soil, and resources, will be betier

adapted to the subject. The north coast, though
last settled, is evidently the most important part of
Nova-Scotia. The fertility of the land, its proximity
to the Fisheries, its coal and other mineral produc-
tions, naturally lead to the conclusion that it will,
at no distant period, be the seat-of enterprise and
wealth. The harbour of Pictou is admirably- situ-
ated, for becoming the emporium of the trade of the
Gulf of St. Lawrence, and is already the centre of
. enterprise in that part of the Province. Between the
Bay of Verte and the Gut of Canso it occupies a
central position; and from the latter place to Quebec,
~although there are several harbours, both sheltered
and commodious, it is not surpassed by any, eitherin
facility cf entrance, good anchorage,or general safety.
The great coal fields contained in the district, and
accessible only by the waters which flow into its har-
bour, mark it as the first part where the forest is likely
to disappear ; and also as the site of extensive manu-
facturing establishments. When considered in refer-
ence to the coast, to Halifax, Quebec, Cape-Breton,
and Prince Edward Island, it is also equally evident,
that this abundance of fuel will render it the centre of
steam navigation. Thereis ‘but one point inwhichitis
inferior to Halifax, the harbour is much oftener frozen
over in winter, but even in despite of this serious in-
convenience, it is more likely to become the rival of
the capital, thanany other sea portin the Province.
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AGRICULTURE.

. POPULATION. LAND
CULTI- PRODUCE. STOCK BELONGING TO THE
VATED FAMILY.
si | B |15 LlEE lge 558,138 |5l
N IR N L R Rl T L B
NAME OF THE SCTTLEMENT. M& S5 (2 o.m 228 ﬁrm.m i 27 83| 88| 8¢
30193 [32F(388(308| 55 | 55 |557| €4 | 2a
65 | o5 |[6%B|dm |om~| 80 | Z@ 538 57| 5@
&= z° |z ZS |lme | & LI 7 Z,
Town of Pictou 1139 766 AT 2433 9815 380 73 1¢ 241 23
Fisher’s Graut 170 676 a1l 952 141 16 148 266 108
Town of New Glasgow 2000 350 161 530| 1220 87 17 80 140 30
Albion Mines 170 7
East River 3319 15095] 17612 3130G6| 79278] 3379 h21 3196 6%69] 2071
Middle River 1398]  6626] 2533 15677] 41610] 1614 2131 14821 2775 929
West River 10420 110]  2311) 11042 3551427 1233 166) 1056] 192% 606
8ix and four mile Brooks 309} 1274 412] 2238] 9825 220 28 251 369 151
Mount Tom 276 994 3391 1958 9280 232 38 244 301 131
Mount Dalhousie and Rodgers® Hull 961| 3103 1377 8212| 20810] 817 5| 8200 1477 ammc
Scotch Hill ’ 315 78 429 1776 4530 366 29 190 367 114
River John ' 1067 3435 2601 56153] 33585| 1070 93 983| 1566 498
Carriboo 652 1985] 1094| 3076 14520 336 27| 476] 903] 216
Pictou Island 59 116 80 101 630 12 26 26 12
Merigomishe 1787| 7344| 5766] 9369| 89378] 1366 185 1722| 2883] 7085
Little Harbour 605 2199] 1915 3639| 12336 497 61 6291 1014 344
Transient Fersons moving from place to place with-
in the District, supposed 250 .
TOTAL | 189491 40181 38198| 985621122664/ 117601 16091 11701| 21128] 12946
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CUMBERLAND COUNTY.
This County is bounded on the north-west by
Chiegnecto channel, the Missiguash river, and part
of New-Brunswick ; on the east by the Straits of
Northumberland; on the south-cast by the District of
Colchester ; and on the south by the township of
Parrsborough and part of the Bay of Fundy. Previous
to the year 1784 (when New-Brunswick was' created
a separate Government,) the township of Sackville
was contained within the limits of this County, but itis
now apart of the adjoining Province, and is called
Westmoreland. The border line is yet an ideal one,
not having been established by actual admeasure-
ment, but its course is so far ascertained, by its prac-
tical effects, as to be found productive of the most
serious inconveniences. By dividing the farms and
allotments of lands, the inhabitants become proprie-
tors in both Provinees, are rendered liable to two
jurisdictions, and required to perform duties, and to
pay taxes in either Government.  Cumberland
County contains two townships, Amherst, and Wal-
lace, and a number of settlements not comprised with-
in either, viz. Fort Lawrence, Maccan, Nappan,
Minudie, West Chester, Pugwash, Fox Harbour,
River Philip, Goose River, &c. Adjoiningthe boun-
dary line, is Fort Lawrence Seitlement, Iying be-
tween the Missiguash, and the La Planch. . On the
former river, which is navigable about two miles,
there are two thousand acres of dyke land, one half
of whichis in New-Brunswick; and on the latter ri-
ver four thousand, one moiety being in this settle-
ment and the other in Amherst. It is unquestionably
the most productive part of Nova-Scotia, and net
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inferior to any portion of Amerfca of the same ex-
tent. Here stood the two rival Forts of Beau Sejour
and Lawrence, separated from each other by the
little stream of Missiguash. The entrenchments
erected by the English during the seige of the for-
mer place, are still visible; and many traditional
anecdotes of the campaign have been handed down
tothe present generation by the first settlers. Among
others it is said that while preparations were mak-
ing for attacking the Fort, parties of French and
English frequently met at the river, and amused
themselves by boasting of the probable success ofthe
conflict, of which both seemed to be equally confi-
dent; and by making exchanges of bullets, and exact-
ing a promise that they should be returned in the en-
gagement from the mouths of their muskets. This
state of hostility has been happily long since ex-
changed, for one which precludes the possibility of
its revival. The descendants of either are now na-
tives of the Country then in dispute, each claiming
the protection of the same Government, and both
enrolled under one banner. After Beau Sejour was
captured, its name was altered to that of Cumber- -
land ; and though rebuilt at a subsequent period,
it is still designated in the same manner. From the

. bastion of the Fort, there is a splendid view, em-

bracing the great Tanteimarr and Missiguash mea-
dows, Baronsfield, Westmoreland, and the Country
at the foot of the Shepody mountains ; vast stacks
of hay cover these allavial lands, as far as the eye
can reach, and the substantial farm houses, and
numerous herds, bespeak the wealth and indepen-
dence of the Yeomanry. The inhabitants of this

v
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place, as well as the adjoining township of Amherst,
are composed of people, who removed from New
England before the revolution, of natives of York-
shire, and of a few families from the North of Ire-
land, and their descendants.

The township of Amherst originally consisted of fifty-
three shares, or rights of five hundred acres each,
and contained twenty-six thousand, seven hundred
and fifty acres, with allowances for Glebe, School,
Minister, and roads. The village of Amherst is in
a flourishing condition, and like most other places of
the same description in Nova-Scotia, has much in-

“creased within the last twenty years. Situated near
the isthmus, which separates the waters of the
Straits of Northumberland, from those of the Bay of
Fundy; it is in some measure connected with the
navigation of both, and can, with verynearly the
same facility, avail itselfof the markets of Miramichi
and of St. John. Its exports consist chiefly of the
products of its extensive and valuable meadows.—
The upland inthis township is generally poor, and
requires to be well manured, but the marshes are
of an excellent quality. On the south side of the Le
Planch river, which is the boundary between Am-
herst and the District of Fort Lawrence, there are
besides a great quantity of undraiqed land, two thou-
sand acres of dyked-marsh, and on the Maccan, Na-
pan, and Tidnish rivers, two thousand more, making
the whole quantity in Amherst, four thousand acres.
The township of Amherst is but little elevated
above the level of the sea, and from its bleak and
north-west aspect, is much exposed to the cold in
winter. The inhabitants appear to givea decided
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preference to grazing, in theirsystem of agriculture,
and keep large herds of cattle. The marshes,although
substantially dvked, and in some places well drained,

_ present vast tracts of uncultivated land ; which,

though susceptible of the highest improvement, are
never disturbed by the plough. These extensive
meadows are devoted to English hay, and the de-
pasturage of cattle.

Besides these rivers just mentioned, there are se-
veral others emptying into the Bay of Chiegnecto,
upon which there are extensive tracts of alluvial
land, and flourishing settiements. On the Maccan,
and Nappan rivers, are to be found many substan-
tial farmers, composed of Yorkshiremen and their
descendants, who emigrated to Nova-Scotia, in
consequence of encouragement given to them by the
late Lieutenant-Governor Francklin. Between the
latter and Minudie, is situated the river Hibert, up
which the tide flows thirteen miles, enrich‘ing it with
1800 acres of excellent marsh land. Minudie is set-
tled by Acadians, the greater part of whom are the
descendants of those who escaped the gemeral trans-
portation at ‘Windsor, z;.nd who were induced to
move thither by Mr. Francklin, and cultivate the

groundas tenants. Here. they found the wives and -

children of many of their countrymen, who had been

" torn from their families, and were thusleft’ destitute

of food and cloathing, and depnved of their natural

_ protectors. Only four or five of these people ever

rejoined their relations in Cumberland, and of these
there are now none surviving. There are about
fifty families here, all of whom are tenants. They

are a temperate, industrious, and pious people, form-
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ing a little distinct community, and preserving with
* remarkable attachment, their language, customs,
and religion. The Dyke land, around which they
are settled, is fifteen miles in circomference, and

about three miles wide, and contains three thousand

acres. The upland consists of a strong rich loam.
Great quantiti«<z of shad are taken at Minudie, in
wears erected upon the flats, which are exposed at
low water. This delicious fish not only supplies the
wants of the inhabitéhts, but forms a valuable arti-
cle of export. At a place called the South Joggin in

this neighbourhood, aresituated extensive and valu-

able quarries of Grindstones, from which there is an-
nually exported stone to the value of £7,000.

The grindstones, on account of the expence of
removing the superincumbent earth, are dug as nearly
as possible to low water mark, where the tides have
left them exposed to view. But as the combined
action of the sea and frost, naturally affect the quality
of the upper strata, the best kind are those which
lie a few feet from the surface. In cutting the stones
the. workmen frequently meet with hard rounded
noduleg,which they call ““Bull’seyes,” a defect which
renders them unfit for use. These vary in size from
one to ten inches in diameter, and ave distinguished
by their compact texture. ’

Two miles beyond- this is a vein of coal, which,
under proper management, might supply the de-

.mand of St. John, and the villages in the west-
ern part of Nova-Scotia. Between Minudie and the
boundary line of Parrsborough, which includes: the
remaining part -of the county that borders on the

Bay of Fundy, are several inconsiderable coves and
VOL. II. 9
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rivers, aflording shelter for vessels, and severally
skirted with meadows. From thence across the
country to the bay of Tatmaguish, there is a very
extensive tract of woodland, a great part of which
is of excellent quality, and still vested in the crown.
Intermediately, between these points is the settle-
ment of West Chester; which was planted by anum-
ber of Loyalists, from a place of that name in the
Province of New-York. It is said they were attract-
ed by the similarity of the éountry, to that fidm
which they had migrated ; and that the Surveyor,
who was appointed to parcel out these lands, endea-
voured to confirm their prepossession. This selec-
tion, however, was injudicious ; and notwithstand-
ing their unremitting toil, has proved unfortunate.
Situated on the summit of the Cobequid mountains,
they are enveloped with snow in winter, and doomed
in summer to suffer the inconvenience of a similar
quantity of rain. Although the soil is naturally good,
these difficulties, incidental to the altitude of the
hills, more than counterbalance this advantage ;- and
the settlement is on the decline. ‘The post road
from Halifax to Canada, passes over these mountains;
but by alate survey, the practicability of obtaining a
level route is fully ascertained. Both the bay and
the river of Tatmaguish are well settled ; and the
lands on either arable and fertile. About eight miles
further on -the Gulf shore is Wallace Bay. This

- beautiful Bay is navigable for large ships, six miles,

and those of a smaller class; twelve. The Remsheg ri-
ver discharges tself into it about five miles and a half
from its mouth. !t takes itsrisein a large body of
fresh water, called Folley lake, and after travers-
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ing about twenty-four miles, unites itself with this
harbour. Itis well stocked with salmon and trout,
and forms on its branches large bodies of interval
land. From Malagash point to the head of the Bay,
and from thence to the source of the river, the
Country is well settled. The town plot of Wallace
is situated at the mouth of the Bay, where the har-
bour is about a mile and a half wide. It was settled
by loyalists from the old Colony of New-York, who
sought an asylum at this place, after the revolution.
As the Country was well stocked with timber, they
entered largely into the lumber trade, which, as in
every other part of Nova-Scotia where it has formed
the chief occupation of the inhabitants, has retarded
the cultivation of the land, and impoverished the

* people. Fortunately for them, they are not without

an alternative, for the upland is excellent, and at the
head of the Bay, there are four hundred acres of
marsh. Itis tobe hoped that the experience of the
delusive nature of this trade, will ultimately induce
them to abandon it, and to direct their efforts to the
improvement of their farms. On the banks of the
river there is a large quarry of good freestone. On
the opposite side of the Bay, is situated Fox harbour,
which is one mile wide. This place was settled about
seventeen years ago, by a body of Highlanders, who,
though they arrived in indigent circumstances, have
by persevering industry, and by abstaining from par-
ticipating in the lumber trade, rendered themselves
comfortable, and compara-tively affluent. Twelve
miles from this is Pugwash, which is the best har-
bourin the County. It is situated about two miles
from the mouth of the Bay of that name, and though
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not more than eighty rods wide, is so bold, thata
vessel of 500 tons may lay with safety at all times of
the tide, within twenty yards of the shore. Just
above the harbour, a sudden turn of the channel
displays a beautiful Bason, two miles in length, and
one in breadth, at the head of which is the Pugwash
river, fed by lakes about seven miles distant. The

poptilation of this place is not extensive. The .

river Philip, is closely connected with the river Pug-
wash, both discharging their waters into one chan-
nel. About eighteen miles from its confluence with
the latter, it is divided into two branches, one of
which rises in West Chester mountain, and the other
from the vicinity of the Macan. About a mile and a
half above the head of the tide, it receives the wa-
ters of Black river, which iseighteen miles in length.
The river Philip, though not navigable for any ex-
tent, is extremely beautiful, and remarkable for its
excellent salmon fishery, and the abundance and
size of its trout. The latter are taken both in sum-
mer and winter, and frequently measure twenty-two
inches inlength, and weigh from two to three pounds.
Gaspereaux and shad are also abundant, but very
inferior to those of the Bay of Fundy. With the
exception of the-intervale, of which thereis a great
deal, the land adjacent to this river, is by no means
equal to that in the. neighbourhood of the Pugwash.
—There are several sait springsin this part of the
Country, but the most remarkable is one oa the
Black river, two gallons of which in the common
mode of evaporation by boiling, will yield five gills of
salt. Thebrine is highly medicinal. No chemical
analysis of it has been made, but persons-abouring
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under scorbutic affections, have been cured by the
use of it ; and it has had a beneficial operation on
dispeptic invalids. This spring may possibly be-
come at some future day a fashionable resort for
valetudinarians, and obtain, like many others, a
name, which will work more cures on the credulous
than its waters. Thesettlement of the river Philip,
like that of Wallace, has suffered much by the lumber
trade. It was planted about the same time with
Macan, and while the latter, which has not been
subject, from the natute of its productions, to the al-
lurements of this traffic, has increased in population
and wealth, this place has advanced but little in cul-
tivation, and many of the inhabitants are in very in-
different circumstances. After passing Goose river
and the Shenimicasias, two barred harbours, on both
of which there are tracts of good diked land ; the
next river on the coast is Tidnish. Between the
head of this river, and the source of the La Planch,
which empties into the Bay of Fundy, there is a por-
tage of only one mile. Thisriver opens into an ex-
cellent harbour, has some good farms on its banks,
and furnishes about two hundred acres of marsh.—

From this place to the boundary line of New-Bruns-

wick, is about six miles.

Here the Gulf of St. Lawrence and the Bay of
Fundy, are separated by a narrow isthmus ; the dis-
tance between the navigable waters on either side

. being eleven miles, and two hundred and forty one
yards. A Canal to connectthese, so as to form an ar-

tificial navigation, has long been in contemplation,
and it is probable that it will soon be carried into
effect. There are three places in which it is prae-
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ticable to form this communication.—The first is by
Petitcodiac river, to Chediac Bay ; the second from
Chediac Bay, by the Memramcook river, to Cumber-

‘land Bason;and the third from Cumberland Bason to

Bay Verte.

Upon a careful examination of these routes, the
preference has beengiven to the latter. By the con-
struction of this canal, the long and dangerous cir-
cuit of Cape Breton, in the navigation between New-
Brunswick and the St. Lawrence, will be avoided ;
and the introduction of Canadian produce, into the
markets of Nova-Scotia and her sister Province, be
rendered so advantageous as to exclude the importa-
tion of American flour. The exports of both Provin-
ces to the West Indies are very extensive, and asa
drawback of Duties is allowed on the transportation
of Rum, from New-Brunswick and Nova-Scotia, to
Canada, it will create a vast increase in the inter-
colonialtrade. The improvements which would na-
turally arise on the whole line of intercourse, would
be among the principal benefits resulting from the
construction of this canal. Theresources of Gaspe,
Bay des Chaleur, Prince Edward’s Island, and the
Country bordering on the Restigouche and Mirimichi,
are neither generally known, nor easily developed,
on account of the communication with these places
being tedious, dangerous, and expensive. A Canal
at this point will obviate the difficulty attending the
navigation, and render the intercourse between the
Colonies in British America, safe and expeditious.—
It will also have a powerful influence in cementing
their union;by creating a reciprocal dependance upon
each other, by facilitating the means of friendly inter-

\
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course, and encreasing their commercial connections.
The following is the report of Mr. Hall, an experi-
enced Engineer, who surveyed this isthmus at the
request of his Excellency Sir Howard Douglas, the
Lieutenant-Governor of New-Brunswick :—
DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED ROUTE BETWEEN CUM-
BERLAND BASON AND THE BAY VERTE.
¢«After a careful examination of the various summits
and outlets, betw;aen the Bay of Fundy and the Bay
Verte, the Reporter proceeded to Survey that Line
which presented the fewest difficulties ; commencing
at AuLac River, nearly three miles and a half-above
its junction.with the Tanteimarr, where, in ordinary
tides, a depth of twenty-five feet of water will be ob-
tained.

The spot chosen for diverging from the river, is
favourably situated for Entrance Locks and Basons H
the soil is composed of a strong alluvial clay ; the
subsoil of a lighter nature, but sufficiently retentive
to warrant excavation, and embanking with common
slopes.

From the entrance Lock and Bason, the Canal
line will proceed in nearly a direct course upon the
left bank of Au Lac River, passing several farms and
accommodation roads of level grotind, to Lock No. 2,

or saummit level ; continuing upon this summit, and
‘adhering to hard ground upon the south side of Brow-
nal’s marsh, then through Woodland, by moderate
cutting, to the Bay Verte and Fort Cumberland road ;
pass the same by a drawbridge, proceed by a curved
line across the dividing ridge, between the vallies of
Au Lacand Missiguash.

Continue upon the highest part of the Missiguash
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marsh, bearing upon several projecting points of
hardland, a little north of Mr. Minnett’s Line ; from
thence proceed by moderate cutting to Lock No. 3,
then, with several cuttings and embankments, by
Lock No. 4, to the junction with the tide waters in
the Tignish River, at Lock No. 5
The average rise of tide at this point of the Tignish
is six feet, and two feet medium depth of still water.
The river course to the Bay Verte is very circuit-
ous, distance to Roach’s ferry, isnearly four miles.

- At theferry a good position for a tide lock and waste

wear, may be found, by which the waters of the
Tignish will remain at a fixed level.

From this tide lock, to anchorage ground in the Bay
Verte, the channel of the Tignish is sufficiently wide
and deep at low water, to admit vessels of one Hun-
dred Tons burthen. 1

The extent of artificial navigation between Au Lac
River and the Tignish, is eleven miles and two hun-
dred and forty one yards.

The total distance from anchorage at low water in

the Tanteimarr, to anchorage in the Bay Verteis

nineteen miles and a half.

The difference of level, between the highest obser-
vable tide in Cumberland Bason, is twenty one feet,
eight inches and nine tenths, above corresponding
tides in the Bay Verte.

Medium Sprmcr tides in Cumberland Bason, are
sixteen feet,nine inches, and three tenths, above those
in the Bay Verte.

- Medium neap tides in Cumberland Bason, are
four feet, nine inchesand three tenths, above those in
the Bay Verte.
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BAY VERTE CANAL.
Expense of making a Canal between

the Bay of Fundy and the Bay of

Verte, with eight feet depth of Wa-

ter, and according with the Specifi-

cations No. 7, including ten per

cent. for Contingencies, is £67,728 14 10
Expense of making a Canal between

the Bay of Fundy and the Bay

Verte, ¢ontaining four and an half

feet of Water, with corresponding

Slopesand commensurate Locks, is 45,152 10 4

All the work may be finished in three years from
the date of the contract, by adhermrr to either of the
above proportions.

Several improvements may hereafter be effected
upon the line estimated ; such as the formation of a
towing path, from the Canal entrance to the mouth of
the Tantamarr, and also an extra entrance Lock.

Upon the Bay Verte side, the summit line may be
continued to near Roach’s ferry ; but as these ex-
tensions would in the first instance materially affect
the expense, they may be delayed until such time as
the Canal transit will warrant their adoption.

By an examination of the Section it will appear,
that nothing of an unfavourable or impracticable na-
ture presents itself upon any part of this route.

That the great general objection to the admission
of Tide Waters of different maghitudes into an artifi-
cial Canal, will be obviated by a substitution of fresh
water as the correcting medium.

Water Supplies may be obtained from the valley
VOL. II. ' 10

S

ST L et SO

B

Izw;‘;}u;n@&%);ﬂ |

R

b

T TR

. 5
e s ol o ST bR ST T

i

,<~..|

gt

'?i

W g e



]

-

e B8 1 il |

i ST s A
L v Ik IR TN ER 3

¢4

of the Missiguash, where excellent situations for
capacious reservoirs are to be found.

The constructing of a head eighteen feet in height,
and an hundred and fifty yardsin length, immedi-
ately above the Portage Bridge, will flood an extent
of one hundred and fifty acres.

This supply alone, without taking into consxdera-
tion the natural drainage of this stréeam, will furnish
fifty nine milliens eight hundred and six thousand
cubic feet of water ; suppose that this reservoir will
be filled by flood water, only twice in one season, we
have one hundred and nineteen milions six hundred
and twelve thousand cubic feet of'disposable water.

Now with a fair trade we may allow upon the
Canal a transit of ten vessels ascending, and the
same number descending for one hundred and fifty
days ; each vessel to require sixteen thousand cubic
feetof water. We have therefore forty eight millions
cubic feet of waste water by Lockage, leaving seventy

one millions of cubic feet for evaporation and absorp-
tion.

From testimony of respectable and experienced
ship owners, it appears, that the entrance to the Ca-
nal on the Bay Verte side is safe and attended with
no difficulty, ;'and that the Cumberland Bason side is
peculiarly adapted for shelter and accomodation.

On the whole, this proposed Canal presents so many
advantages and facilities of transit, when compared
with the probable expense ; that it is only necessary,
in demonstration, to examine a Map of the Country
to be convinced of the great and general importance
of the measure. ‘
October 22, 1825. FRANCIS HALL, Engineer.
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Besides the coal, freestone, and grindstone, already
mentioned, Plaister of Paris abounds at the head of
Chiegnecto Bay, and occurs on the Macan. - Lime
is also found in the vicinity of Amherst, at the River
Philip, and at Macan and Napan. Although its va-
luein Agriculture is not unknown to the inhabitants,
it has not been often applied to that purpose, nor is°
it probable it will ever enter into general use ; the
numerous bays, rivers, creeks, and coves, with which
Cumberland is intersected, presenting in the alluvial
deposit, a more simple and not less valuable manure.
—The Dyked land in this County, exclusive of salt
marsh and intervale, exceeds 17,250 acres.
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COUNTY OF SYDNEY.

In the earliest divisions of the Province, the Coun- -

ty of Halifax comprehended the whole eastern sec-
tion of Nova-Scotia proper, within its limits, but in
1784, the easternmost part of this extensive tract
was erected into the County of Sydney. Its 6riginal

western boundary was formed by the harbour and -

river St. Mary, but as this Division was found ex-
tr\emcly inconvenient, it was, inthe year 1822, es-
tablished at the falls of the river Ekemseegam, and
about 300 square miles added to its extent. It con-
tains seven townships, Arisaig, Dorchester, St. An-
drew, Tracadie, Manchester,- Guysbbrough, and St.
Mary. It has been since divided into two Districts,
the Upper and Lower District. .
UPPER DISTRICT-

This District forms a triangle, its south side being
thirty-six miles long, its western twenty-five and its
sea coast, including the circuit of St. George’s Bay,
about fifty miles. It includes about one third of the
whole County, comprehending the settlements nf
Antigonish, Gulf Shore, Cape George, Pomquet,;Tra-

cadie, and harbour Au'Bushee. In an agricultural.

point of view, it is far superior to the Lower District,
and notwithstanding the numerous and beautiful
harbours, and vaKiable Fishery, possessed by the
latter, it is also much more populous.

The first settlement was made by the English in
the year: 1784, by Lieut.-Colonel Hierlihy, Major
Monk, (afterwards Judge Monk,) and other officers
and soldiers of the Nova-Scotia Regiment. At that
period there were no inhabitants in this District but
a few families of Acadians at Pomquet, Tracadie and
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IR PR Harbor Au Bushee, whose descendants now occupy
5 ' the principal part of the Lrggt..laqu on St. George’s
a / Bay ; but all that tract of Country which now in-
o cludes the flourishing settlements of Knoydart, Moy-
’T/ : dart, Arisaig, Malignant Cove, Cape George, Mor-
i ristown, Antigenish harbor, Dorchester village, Ad-
dington, Ohio or West river, Lochaber or College
Lake, South river and St. Ahdrew’s, was an unbro-
q 3\ - ken wilderness, in which the military settlers were

13

immured for several years, without roads of commu-

¥ S 4_1330/8&191( to any other part of Nova-Scotia.

- The first material addition to their numbers was -

a made in the year 1795 and 6, by the arrival of emi-
grants from the Highlands and Isles of Scotland, who
were, with a few disbandedHighland soldiers,located
by Government along the coast, from Meregomish to
Antigonish. In 1801, the settlement was greatly
extended into the interior, bf the arrival of another
nuamerous body of the same hardy race, with those
whose labours had already made many inroads upon
the forest, and converted a large portion of it into
fertile fields. By subsequent arrivals of emiémnti ‘ /

- from Scotland, Newfoundland and New-England,eve-
ry part of this importantDistrict is now rapidly filling
up with an industrious and hardy population, the
amount of which already exceeds 7000.* The inter- E
val or alluvial soil of this part of the County is equal, .. . 2
and the upland is superior, to that of any other Dis- -
trict in the Province. The agricultural exports are
very considerable, consisting of horses, horned cat-

tle and sheep, and grain, butter and pork.

* The deaths in the congregation of the Rev. T. Trotter, for the
Jast ten years, in proportion to the birthe, may be estimated at an.
average of 1to 21. Y, o
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Formerly the ton timber trade was carried on to
some extent, from Antigonish and Pomgquet, but of
late years it has ceased, and sawed lumber shingles
and staves, for the Halifax andNewfoundland market,
and the supply of the Fisheries at Fox-Island and
Arichat, are with much propriety substituted in its
place. A great proportion of the French’settlers at
Tracadie and Harbour Au Bushee are employed in
fishing and coasting in summer, and in ship-building
and making staves and hoops for the fisheries in
winter.

. Dorschester, or * Antigonish interval (as it was
formerly called) is the shire town of the District, and
the largest and most flourishing in the County. It is
situated about a mile above the head of the naviga-
tion on Antigonish river, and a short distance be-

~ yond the junction of the north and west branches,

ona spot of ground that is elevated but a few feet
above the streams that environ it. It is one of the
prettiest villages in the eastern section of Nova-
Scotia, and the neatness and simplicity of its appear-
ance, amply compensates for the absence of bolder
scenery. It hasbut one principal street whichis ser-
pentine, extending half a mile from east to west, and
containing about 45 dwelling houses, exclusive of
other buildings. The Court-House is built on a hill
of moderate ascent, and commands a pleasing view
of the whole village, the adjacent intervals, the har-
bour and the mountains of the Gulf Shore. The
Roman Catholic Chapel stands on the same side of
the street with the Court-House, and only a short

_* It is usually called ** Antigonish,”” an Indian werd, which sig-
nifies the ¢ river of fish,”” or as others say ‘¢ the forked river."’
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distan¢e from it. It is by much the largest and
most respectable looking building in the County, and
perhaps in the eastern ‘Di'w"fiaion of the Province.—
The length of this edifice is 72"'€{g;et, its breadth 45,
and the height of its spire 110 feék It is capable of
accommodating 800 people, and its size is not at all
disproportioned to the extent of the congregation.—
There is also in the centre of this village, a small
Presbyterian Meeting-House, and another of larger
and more convenient demensions (543 36) is now

" erected and partly finished. In this vicinity is a*

small Baptist Meeting-House, in which Missionaries
of different denominations of Dissenters occasionally
preach, and where a part of the inhabitants meet
regularly every sabbath for religious worship. At
Arisaig, Manchester road, Tracadie, Morristown,
Harbour Au Bushee, and the Cape, there is a Catho-
licChapel ; those at the two former, are large and
convenient buildings. i

Dorchester village, from its central situation, is the

principal trading place in the District, having roads
of communication to_Guysborough, Morristown, the
Gulf Shore, St. Mary, Addington and Merigomish.—

The entrance of the harbour, which is eight miles

from the village, is narrow and rather difficult of ac-
cess, there being only nine feet of water on the bar
at high tides- Two miles from its mouth are the

Gypsum rocks, which afford employment for the

vessels of Arichat and the adjoining ports. At the
first settlement of the District, an attempt was made
to build a town on a spot of ground near the harbour,
which is still designated as ¢ Town Point,’ but which
failed, like every other attempt to make the forma-
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tion of villages, precede the cultivation of the land.
The site, however,was better adapted for commercial
purposes than that of Dorchester, in which great in-
convenience is experienced on account of the diffi-
culty and expense attending the transportation of
heavy articles, from the head of navigation. Through
the influence of their County Member, T. Dickson,
Esq. the inhabitants have obtained assistance from
the Legislature, to enable them to construct a Tow-
path, and in other respects to improve and facilitate
the communication with the sea. Twelve miles
westward of Cape George, and twenty-one eastward
from the entrance of Pictou harbour, is Arisaig Pier,
which was projected by the late Rev. Alexander
M:Donald, for the purpose of affording shelter to
boats and small vessels, from the sudden and violent
gales of wind that prevail upon this coast, during the
Spring and autumn. It forms the only harbour from
Antigonish to Merigomish, and is of infinite service
to the trade of Canseau, Cape George, Pictou and
the intermediate coast. The principal roads in the
District are the Gulf road,Manchester road, Canseau,
St. Mary'sand Morristown roads. The former is the
post road to Malignant Cove and Pictou. It passes
through the settlements on the coast for several miles,
and presentsan extensive view of the Northumberland
Strait, parts of Cape Breton and Prince Edward’s
Island, and the Highlands of Pictou and Mount Tom.

_The Manchester road traverses a part of the elevat-

ed land that lies between the north and south branch-
es of Pomquet, affording a splendid view of the val-
leys of the south and west rivers, and the Country
bounded by the Highlands between St. Mary’s and
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the Merigomish. This chain bounds the view to the
north west, and terminates with majestic boldness at
Cape George. Eastward of the Cape, St. George’s
Bay is seen over the gently declining lands, in the
rear of Pomquetjand Tracadie, and beyond are the
Highlands of Cape Breton, stretching northward un-
til they are lost in the distance. The St. Mary’s
road leads through nearly the centre of the tract that
lies between the south and west branches of the An-
tigonish, directly to the Lochaber glen, at the head
of College Lake, and along the margin of that beauti-
ful body of water, for six miles. This lake is the
source of a considerable branch of St. Mary’s river,
called the Antigonish or College branch. The for-
mer, from its proximity to the two principal streams
of that river, from between which it rises, and the

latter on account of a large body of land on one side

of it, granted to King’s College.

The lands on both sides of this lake, particularly
towardsits upper extremity, rise from-it with abrupt-_
ness to a considerable elevation, but without rocks
or precipices. The water is nearly aspure as spring
water and-of great depth. - It is- never frozen, with..

- the exception of a small piece at its head, until after

several weeks of severe fro%t ; and long after all the
neighbouring lakes and streams are passable for
horses and loaded sleighs ; it presents for three or
four miles a surface altogether free ofice. Its breadth
is from 40 to 120 rods, and its shores are wholly
without rocks, and for the most part of beautiful gra-
vel. Besides this lake there are three others of smal-
ler size on this branch, on the borders of which, and
the streams that connect them, this road runs nearly
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on a level for fifteen imiles, to the lower St. Mary’s
Lake, and from thence to Sherbrooke village. In

‘addition to these lines of communication, there are

several other main roads, all of which are again in-
tersected by cross roads, rendering every part of
the District accessable for the purpose of cultivation.
THE LOWER DISTRICT ~y

Extends on its interior or northern boundary, from
Cape Porcupine at the north end of the Gut of Can-
seau, to the eastern bounds of the district of Halifax
forty miles; on its western side from the southern
boundary of Pictou district, to the mouth of Ekem-
seegam harbour, thirty miles; and on the sea coast,
including the shore of Chedabucto bay, one hundred
and twenty miles. No part of Nova-Scotia, and per-
haps few countries in the world, afford so many ex-
cellent harbours in the same extent of coast. Mary
Joseph, Liscomb, Country Harbour, White-head
Harbour, Canseau, and Crow Harbour, are all naviga-
ble for the largest ships, and are accommodated with
safeand extensive anchorage ground. Ekemseegam,
Little Liscomb, Little St. Lawrence, St. :Mary’s,

‘ Ho]lanég, Beckerton; Fisherman’s, Isaac’s, Islands,

Coddels, Torbay, Molasses, Raspberry, Big Dover,
Little Dover, St. Andrew’s Channel, Glasgow,
George’s, Little Canseau, Philip’s, Guysborough, or
Milford Haven, are all accessible and safe for small
vessels, and several of them for ships of four or five
hundred tons burthen. Although inferior in its agri-
cultural resourccs to the upper district, it possesses
much greater facilities for commerce and navigation,
and its fisheries are the best in the Province.

The Township of Marfchester comprehends all that

4

xR s b AL

s T ST

B i T D N A s e Cpypazion o
M T L A RS AR  Capeniane



84

tract of country which lies between the Gut of Can-
seau* and Miiford Haven. The surface of this
township is neither so rocky, nor so uneven, as the
adjoining one of Guysborough, and a great proportidn

. of the land is of a very superior quality—particularly

that part denominated the Hallowel grant. “This al-
lotment contair:fs jé0,000 acres, and was granted in
the year 1’765’"',{9 Benjamin Hallowel, Esquire, of
Boston. It is conveniently and beautifully situated,
extending about three miles on the eastern side of
Milford Haven,-and four on the northern shore of
Chedabucto bay. The proprietor of . this land divi-
ded it, upon the arrival of the Loyalists in 1784, into
farm lots, contaihing severally one hundred and fifty
acres ; and in order to encourage iis cultivation, gave
eighteen of them to persons desirous of removing
there, and sold many more upon moderate terms,
all of which are now settled. Two yearsafterwards
a town plot called Boylston was laid out on the
eastern side of the haven. The situation waswell
selected, being on the side of a hill, of easy ascent,

‘and well irrigated by small rivulets and springs of
- pure water. The harbour is from a quarter to halfa

mile in breadth, and of sufficient depth to adwit ves-
sels of the largest class to approach within a few
yards of the shore. The town lots were all sold,
upon a ground rent of two shillings per annum ;
which, together with several pieces of land, and a
certain proportion of the sales of the farm divisions,
was vested by the proprietor, as a fund for the sup-
port of aschool. But fiotwithstanding the excellence

of the soil, the beauty of the harbour, and the libe-’

* For a description of the Gut of Canseau, see the Cape Breton
Division, as described in the Fifth Sectian of this Chapter.
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rality of this donation, the population of the county
has been hitherto too limited to admit of the forma-
tion of atown. In the year 1786, three other exten-
sive tracts of landin this township—one on the east-
ern side of Milford Haven, another on the northern

... shore of Chedabucto bay, and a third on the western

side of the Gut of Canseau, containing together about
20,000-acres of land, were allotted to the officers and
soldiers of the Montague corps, about 120 of whom
were sent thither when the regiment was disbanded.
Near the same time another location of eight thou-
sand acres was made at the southern end of the Gut
of Canseau, to about 50 Loyalists, who ‘had joined

the British troops af St. Augustine, and embarked ..

with them for this Province. These unfortunate
people, whose fidelity to the British Government
had induced them to abandon their possessions, and
quit the richer soil and milder climate of their native
country, and establish their residence on the unin-
habited shores of Nova-Scotia, were landed, at the
Gut of Canseau late in the autumn of 1784, and suf-
fered severely from the unexpected severity of the
winter. The difference between raising indigo, in-
dian corn, and tobacco, in the praries of Florida and
Carolina, and planting potatoes on land, from which

they were under the necessity of first removing the

_forest, was so great as to discourage their efforts ;

and as the adjoining fisheries presented a prospect of
support, with less labour and fatigue, they a&_lied
themselves alternately to the cultivation of the 'soil,
and catching fish. To this unprofitable system, not

only they, but most of those who have subsequently*

* A great number of Irish families from Newfoundland, have set-
tled here within the last ten years.
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settled there, have always adhered ; in consequence
of which many extensive tracts of fertile land, which

" have long %ince been cleared, are still uncultivated

% .
and waste. |The soil, however, as has been before
observed, is excellent; and lime abounds on the

" western shore of the Gut of Canseau. Coal also has

been discovered in several .places at the head of
Milford Haven, and, is supposed to spread over a
large traet of countlfy; hut no effort has been made
to ascertain its course or extent .

The Township of Guysborough reaches from Crow .

harbour to the northern bounds of the district, and
contains, according to the original patent, 100,000
acres ; 53,850 of which were granted to Nathan
Hubbel and 278 other persons. These people be-
longed to the Civil Department of the Army and
Navy, and at the evacuation of New-York, were
settled in the year 1783, at harbour Mouton in
Queen’s County, under the superintendance of Col.
Molleson, waggon-master general to the forces.—

Having suffered much at that place, 200 of them,

with their families,were removed during the ensuing
spring, atthe expence of Government, to the shores
of Chedabucto bay, where they found a part of the
Duke of Cumberland’s regiment, that had beenland-
ed there about one month.* The town and township

of Guysborough were laid out, soonafter the arrival

of these Loyahsts, and were thus named in henor of
Sir Guy Carleton, the then Commander-in-Chief of

* At this time there were five or six English families settled at
the head of Chedabucto, who subsisted chiefly by hunting and
fishing ; one of the earliest of these settlers” is still living, at the
advanced age of 95 years, and is surrounded by a numerous race
of descendants, to the fourth generation.

~

. His Majesty’s forces in North America. To each of ‘
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the settlers, both a town and farm lot were assigned,
and also a share in the rear divisions. At first they
all erected houses, andsettled on the town plot; and
during the succeeding winter, cut down the adjoin-
ing timber. In attempting to burn the. wood (the
usual mode of clearing land) the fire spread with
such violence and rapidity, that most "o\f the houses
were destroyed, and they were compelled to seek
refuge from its fury in the water. Notwithstanding
this disastrous occurrence, they were still unwilling
to separate and settle upon their farm lots, but re-
built their houses, and remained together until the
Government allowance of provision ceased, when

~ many, -apalled by the difficulties of subduing the

wilderness, removed from the Province. Those who
remained were compelled to make the attempt-after
suffering the sev@est privations, in consequence of
the difficulty of procuring supplies from Halifax, and
in a few years the town was nearly deserted. In
this derelict state, inhabited by. only a few m,qrbhants
and mechanics, it continued until within the last ten
years, during which it has partaken of the general
growth of the County. Gllysbqrough harbour or
Milford-haven, is situated at the head of Chedabuec-
to. This extensive Bay is formed by Cape Canseau
on the west, and Cape Hogan in the Island of Cape
Breton, on the east. It is fifteen miles in breadth,
from FoxIsland to“the southern end of the Gut of
Canseau, and about 25 miles in length from Canseau
to Fort-Point, atthe entrance of Guysborough har-

bour. It is altogether free of rocks or obstructions

(with the exception of one small shoal), and is navi-

gable throughout for the largest ships. Crow harbour,
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Fox Island, Philip harbour, and Canseau, lie on its -
southern shore. The harbour of Guyqbbrough though
narrow and difficult at its entrance, will admit vessels
of 500 tons burthen, there bemcr a depth of 18 feet on
= the bar at low water. After passing the beach it
‘ opens into a spacious and beautiful Bason, from half
iimiig to three quartersin breadth, and three miles
- in length, completely sheltered by the surrounding
hills, and affording good anchorage.  Above this
harbour it is navigable for large vessels through a
narrow passage for two miles, and then éxpands
again into another spacious Bason, extending at
right angles with the other, four miles further. On
each side of the harbour throughout its whole extent,
but especially at its head, the surrounding land rises
abruptly from the water to a considerable height.—
The Guysborough interval lies at the upper part
of the inner Bason, a few feet above high water
level, and extends about two miles in length and
half a mile in width. It is also bounded on each
side, and at its western extremity, by elevated
grounds which rise with great boldness. From this
Highland, which is traversed by the Antigonish road,
the valley below, for about six miles in extent; is in
full view, and appears like an immense excavatiof—
Few places possess more beautiful natural scenery
than the town of Guysborough. It is situated on
the western side, and near the extrance of the lower
Bason, and commandsa full view of Chedabucto Bay,
and its southern shore, as far as Canseau. It con-
tains an Eplscopa] Church, a Roman Catholic Cha-
pel, and District Court House, all convenient build-
ings of respectable appearance, and about, thirty

B

L e i 22
e .
e WL ey

a

LREC S A YOOR

TR

[
2



A e e

Sy

Rt
R R

SRS

89

dwelling hodses. The streets are from 60 to 100 teet
in breadth, and cross each other at right angles.—
A smallbattery at its southern extremity, commands
the entrance of the harbour. - Besides the places of
public worship already mentioned, the inhabitants
are now engaged in the erection of a Methodist Cha-
pel. There is also a small English Church, between
Guysborough and Crow harbour, in which divine

‘service is sometimes performed by the Missionary

stationed at the former place. At Clam harbour,

- Cooke’s Cove, and Canseau, there are Dissenting

Meeting-Houses, at which the people assemble gn
Sundays for religious exercises, and are occasionally-
visited by Presbyterians, Baptists, Methodists, and
Congregational Ministers, all of whom are fregly ad-
mitted to preach in these places. Thereis alsoa
small Catholic Chapel on the road from Guysborough
to St. Mary’s, and another near Fox-Island. The
lands on both sides of the harbour for nearly its whole
extent, which are of a superior quality, have long
since been cleared of wood, and now afford extensive
méadows or grazing groﬁnc}s.- But the proximity of
the fisheries, and the'general disposition of the inha-
bitants to be employed about them, in preference td
the cultivation of their lands, has greatly retarded
their improvemen’f. There-are yet on the very bor-
ders of this beautiful harbour and river, large fields,
which, although cleared of timber 40 years ago, still
retain their primeval undulatory form, and have ne-
“ver been subdued b)i tge plough ; and yet'many of
these fields have produced good crops of hay- every
year since they were cleared, without the aid of ma- -

npre. This spontaneous fertility of tHe soil, has ena-
VOL. 1. . 12
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bled the inhabitants, notwithstanding their-aversion
to agriculture, to rear black cattle, horses and sheep,
in considerab]e numbers, several cargoes of which
are annually exported to Newfoundland, together
with great quantities of butter. These, with a few
potatoes and oats, are the only surplus agricultural
produce of Guysborough. Formerly sawed lumber
was exported, but for many years the demand for
this article, for the fisheries, and domestic consump-
tion, has exhausted the timber on all the lands ‘con-
tiguous to the bay and harbours adjacent to it. The
fisheries of Chedabucto Bay are perhaps as produc-
tive as any in the known world. C(;dﬁsh, and pol-
luck or scale fish, are taken early in the season, near
the shores, and even within the harbours. In Mil-
ford-haven they are sometimes caught in great quan-
tities in and about the"nal;rows, a distance of five or
six miles above the enirance of the harbour.—
Herrings of superior quality are abundant in sum-
mer, and theedrly part of autumn. They are found
in all parts of the bay, and in small quantities in the
harbours. But the shoals of mackarel that traverse
the coast in spring and autumn are immense. In
May and the early part of June, they reach the nor-
thern shore about St. Peter’s, and the river inhabi-
tant, and sometimes enter Guysborough harbour in
such quantities that several thousand batrels are
caught in one day. But at this season there is no
appearance of fish along the southern shore ; nor do
they begin to arrive on that side until about the first
of August. From that time to the end of Ociober

-or the middle of November, is generally the season

of fall fishing, and so abundant are the mackarel in

-
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some years, that from- 800 to 1000 barrels are often i
taken by a seine at one draught. In the years 1824 ”ﬁi

i

{

~..and 1825, the catch at Fox-Island amounted to up- ) !
" wards of 20,000 barrels ; and including Crow har- ‘

' !

1

bour and Canseau Island, which together co’mprise‘r gﬁf
only a space of twelve miles of coast, it is probable ) ' . F
50,000 barrels were taken in each of those years.— ' E‘
They are either sold fresh, to traders who resort thi- ' ; 2*—
ther in great numbers withsupplies for the fishermen, H

i
s

or are cured andsold to the mérch@hts; or shipped to
Hadifax and the West Indies.. Crow harbour was

T

‘formerly the scene of the great fishery, and continu- te
ed to be so for several years, but from some unknown 5

. B
cause, the course of the fish changed, and for a long g!;
period, only a trifling quantity were taken in that b
harbour. Fox-Island then became their great resort. %

=

They appear however to have again resumed their
former route, and for the last two or three years, i

P
SR

great numbers have been caught in Crow harbour,

and comparatively very few at Fox-Island. Crow EL
harbour lies on the southern shore of the bay, nearly - *
midway between Guysborough and Canseau. Itis f
rather a cove, than a harbour or inlet, being nearly %
in the form of a semicircle, of perhaps a half milein  © £
diameter. Its entrance is sheltered by a small Is- _ ¥

5 land. It is easy of access, navigable for ships of the %“

greatest burthen, and affords safe and commodious ¥

anchorage. The hauling grounds are situated at
its head, and are much superior to those at Fox-Island,
being perfectfy‘ smooth, and completely sheltered _
from every wind. In former years the occupation of ‘f
the lands adjoining Crow harbour and Fox-Island, t
were for all necessary purposes connected with the
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fishery, alike free to all his Majesty’s subjects, but
these lands were subsequently granted by Govern-
ment to certain individuals, who thereapon claimed
aper centage of all fish hauled upon the shores of
their respective locations, and also a ground rent for
fishing huts, yards, and places to spread seines, &c.
This claim was at firstresisted by the fishermen, and
in consequénce thereof, a suit was commenced and -
tried at Guysborough, before one of the Judges of
the Supreme Court, in the year 1811, and determin-
ed in favour of the proprietors of the soil, since which
decision, the claim has been recognised, and the re-
strictions in some instances greatly increased.—-

" At the commencement of the season, the fisher-

man generally obtains permission frorg the proprie-
tor or his agent, to erect his hut ; and if‘he is a seine
owner, to occupy a certain space for his boats and
sheds, &c. At the end of the season, or before he
leaves the ground, he pays a barrel of cured macka-
rel, or its,value, for the rent of his hovel, and an ad- -
ditional quantity or px;ice‘, in proportion to the ground
he occupies. Fgr every hired man he pays five
shillings ; and if he has either a partner or associate
in his hut, he pays' an additional barrel of mackarel
for each of them. Besides these exactions, ‘the pro-
prietor not only claims, but enforces the right of
sending two free ¢ dippers”-into every seine that
is hauled ; and has also one tenth part of the seine’s
share after the fish are dresscd—that is one twentieth
of the whole draughi—the sharesmen or assistants
being entitled to one half for their trouble. In 1825,
on Waterloo beach, or Fox Island main, the proper-
ty of Patrick Lanigan, Esquire, 1200 barrels of mack-
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arel were received for rent, and more than half that
quantity on FoxIsland itself. The value of these
fisheries render it necessary that some special and
efficiert regulations should be made, not only to res-
train the proprietors of the soil from making oppres-
sive exactions, butalso to preserve order; and afford
protection to the persons and property of seine own-
ers, and others principally concerned in the fisheries.
At present there is little security for either; for as
soon as a seine is cast, the owner looses alf controul
over it. Hundreds of boats instantly beseige it, and

" neither threats norintreaties are available to preserve

order, or to expel intruders. The consequence of
this confusion has been, in many .instances, either
the total loss of the draught, by the seine being trip-
pedAand drawn from the bottom, by the drift of the
boats, the malice of the rioters, or designedly by the
proprietor, to prevent its total destruction ; or the
seine owners and their sharesmen bemo compelled
to acquiesce inthe spoliation and toaccept of such
a dividend as the intruders may think proper to
give them. '

Canseau is situated at the south eastern extremity of

. the county ; about twenty-five miles S. S. E. from

Guysborough. It has an excellent harbour, accessi-
ble at all seasons of the year. The strait is called
Little Canseau , and is navigable for the largest ships,
and affords safe and commodious anchorage. During
the prevalence of westerly gales, a great number of
vessels, bound to and from the Gulf of St. Lawrence,
anchor here, and wait for a favourable wind. ”It is
also during the hshmg season, a great resort for
small craft. The town plot of Wilmot is situated
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onits south-western side. It was laid out déring the
administration of Governor Wilmot, in honor of
whom it appears to have been named. The original
location extended about half a mile on the shore ;
but it has in a great measure been destroyed, in
consequence of a large portion of it having been sub-
sequently granted, without any regard to the former
allotments. This circumstance is much to be regret-
ted, as it has greatly retarded the settlement of the
town ; which, notwithstanding the early period of
its formation, and the extensive trading and fishing
establishments, formerly belonging to Canseau, was,
so late as the year 1821, almost a wilderness. Since
that period, however, several houses and stores
have been erected within it ; water-street has been
formed, and a communication opened to Crow har-
bour, from which there is a tolerable good road to
Guysborough. Green Island,the site of the fortifica-
tions erected by the New England Provincials, lies
immediately opposite to the town plot; butno vestige
of these works, which were temporary buildings of
wood, now remain—except the foundations and cel-
lars of the barracks. For a more particular account
of this establishment, the reader is referred to the
first volume of this work. Ata subsequent period
toits occupau?n as a military post, the celebrated
Paul Jones byrnt two square-rigged vessels belonging
toa Mr. George Smith, who at that time owned large
establishments at Canseau and Crow harbour. He
also destroyed two vessels laden withoil ; and about
the same time, American privateers captured eleven
sail belonging to Canseau—nine of which were
square-rigged vessels. A great proportion of the
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district bordering on Canseau, and indeed the whole
of the promontary that terminates at this place, is a
naked granite rock, with the exception of a few soli-
tary hills of good land, that appear to have been left
as monuments of the general deluge ; while the sur-
rounding country has been swept to its foundation.
The surface of the rock isin many parts perfectly
even for a great extent, with here and there a small
protuberance, and in some places a rent or deep
chasm. At Dover, Whitehead, and other places on
the southern shore, where it extends to the water,
and is exposed to the mountain waves that roll upon
it from the ocean, large square masses have been
rent from this immense stratum, and thrown in con-
fused heaps above their primitive beds.

The settlement of,St JMary was formed into a town-
ship in the year 1818, and contains 280,000 acres,
inhabited by 249 families. The first attempt at set-
tlement was made at Country harbour, in the year
1783, by a part of the Royal North Carolina Regi-
ment, the Royal South Carolina Regiment and the
Carolina Rangers, who built a small town and called
it Stormont, Like most other towns attempted at
that time. it failed of success, the same difficulties
having occurred to themall. The harbour is navi-
gable for the largest ships, mare than ten miles above
its entrance, and forms the most extensive inlet
from Halifax to Canseau. The town plot of Stor-
mont is beautifully situated on its eastern side,about
six miles from its mouth, where the harbour is up-
wards of half a mile in breadth, and navigable for
ships of the line from side to side. The land on both
shores of this noble port are stony and barren, but in
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the interior are of a good quality ; numerous lakes
are found at the head of the stream that falls into it,
abounding with trout, and surrounded by a tract of
superior woodland. The distance from the head of
the tide to the South river settlements, does not ex-
f 8 «ceed ten miles, and from thence to Dorchester village
fifteen miles. At present the only export from Coun-
try harbour consists of a small quantity of sawed
lumber. Fisherman’s harbour lies on its western
side, and is a safe and convenient resort for coasters,
affording an airy and commodious situation for curing

. -»M"‘Pﬂm‘

L fish.

; § The river St. Mary falls into the Atlantic ocean,
£ about ninety miles eastward of Halifax, and forty-
f two westward of Canseau. At its entrance is a bar,
’ % having eleven feet of water upon it at the lowest
i ebb of spring tides. A buoy has lately been placed

A npon it for the direction of vessels, and a beacon has
also been set up on Bridge Island, near the mouth of
the river. The St. Mary is navigable for vessels of
B the first class, for eight or nine miles from its mouth,

_ and for small vessels two miles further, where it is
: - impeded by extensive rapids. At this place (where
the tide ceases to flow) is situated the village of Sher-
brooke, ten miles above which the river branches in-
to two considerablie streams, denominated the east
and west branch. The former rises in the high
lands between Pictou and Merigomish, and after
traversing a superior tract of Country, receives in its
course the waters of the College or Antigonish stream.
The west branch rises it is said in Mount Tom, and
runs arapid course of nearly fifty miles before it
unites with the river. Timber may be floated down

A
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it at least thirty miles above the forks. Whenthe
waters are high enough at the junction to cover the
meadows, the whole appears like a lake or bason,

with a surface equal to about 500 acres, in which the -
alluvial matter of the river is deposited, and by its;:,_

accumulation forms Islands and extensive bor-
ders of intervals. These, as the waters recede, pre-
sent themselves to the eye naked and unpleasant in
their appearance, but in a few days they assume a
smiling \;erdure, and are ornamented here and there
with a branching elm, or atuft of alders, and crown-
ed with a beautiful Island, the centre of which rises
about fifty feet above the surface. In former years
there was a most extensive salmon fishery on this
river; to secure the exclusive monopoly of which was
probably the chief inducement to the late Jonathan
Binney, Esq. and several other gentlemen of Hali-
fax, to obtain a grant of 150,000 acres of land here,as
early as 1765. They made no attempt at cultivation;
and it was not until the year 1800, that a party from
Truro purchased 4000 acres of this valuable location
and removed thither. A new line of road from Man-

a4y L

chester to Musquedoboit was formed shortly after -

this period, which greatly facilitated the access to
this infant settlement; and at different periods since
that time, roads have been opened connecting the
interior with the sea coast, and with Antigonish and
Pictou. Sherbroke is situated at the extreme head

of the navigation of the river, and is accessible by _

vessels of fifty or sixty tons burden. Inthe years
1824-25 and 26, fourteen cargoes of timber were
shipped at Sherbroke forthe British market, amount-

ing in the whole 11/0‘4,155 tons of timber, 63-460 feet
VOL. II. 13 ’
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of three inch pine plank, and 76 cords of lath-wood,

besides spars, oars, handspikes, &c. and it is proba- *
i ble that during the three preceding years, a similar
. quantity was exported. In 1827, 400,000 feet
_ ? of sawed lumber, and 100 head of horned cattle were
Je}' sent from this place to Halifax ; and during the last
g seven years, ten vessels of from 50 to 100 tons burden
were built here. A new road has been opened to

i Musquedobeit, a distance of thirty m{les,'and an ex-
; cellent and substantial bridge erected over the west
gﬂ : branch with a span of 90 feet. The township of St.
Ly Mary possesses many important natural advantages,

and only requires population and industry, with an
addition to its capital, to render it one of the most
populous and thriving settlements in Nova-Scotia.
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SECT;B_& 1. .
MIDDLE DIVISION.

This Division contains threc Counties,— Hant’s County,

FEunenburg County, and Queen’s County.

THE COUNTY OF HANTS

Is bounded on the west by Horton, on the north by
the Bason of Minas, on.the east by the Shubenacadie
river, and on the south by parts of the Counties of
Halifax and Lunenburg. It contains six townships—
Windsor, Newport, Rawdon, Kempt, Douglas and
Falmouth. ‘ '

Windsor.—This place is distant. from Halifax forty-
five miles, the road to which, by many late altera-
tions, islevel andin an excellent state of repair.—
After passing the boundary of Halifax County, the
appearance of the land indicates a decided change
in its quality. The sombre spruce and fir, and the
dwarf bireh that clothe the Country for twenty miles
from the Capital, are succeeded by a growth of beech
mingled with hemnlock, elm, and maple ; and the sur-
face of the ground is ro longer encumbered with
heavy masses of stone. F'rom the Ardoise hills, the
whole-of this township is displayed to view, andon a
nearer- approach it- loses nothing of the charm im-
pressed upon it by this distant prospect. 'The anci-
ent name of Windsor was Pisiquid, an Indian word
that signifies the junction oftwo rivers. It was held
in great estimation by the French, on account of its
extensive and fertile meadows, which they enclosed
with dykes, and breught intoa high. state of culti-
vation. . The crops of wheat which they raised were
so superabundant, that for many years previous to
the war.of 1756, they exported a great quantity to
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the Boston market. Although immediately oc(éppiqd
by the English after the removal of these unfortu-
nate peeple, it underwent no material changes until
within the last twenty years. The most valuable

‘lands were granted togentlemen residing at Halifax;

among whom were many of his Majesty’s Council.
That portion of it which fell into the hands of resi-
dent proprietors, was divided among a few individuals
—and thus was introduced a system of tenancy,

which in Nova-Scotia neither contributes to the im-

provement of the soil, nor the profit of the landlord.
Under these circumstances, the appearance of the
place remained stationary for many years, until in
the progress of time the transfer of property and ihe
increase of population gradually worked a ;:hange in
this defective system. Almost all the upland in this
township, lying bet(;veen the south mountain, and the
rivers Avon and St. Croix, consists of a strong pro-
ductive soil, but the mountain land is cold and poor,
adding indeed much to the richness of the scenery,
but little to the value of its resources. It is covered
chiefly with poplar, spruce, white maple,and juniper;

‘and as its sides are in many places steep and ab-

rupt, this diversified hanging wood, gives a peculiar
beauty to the landscape. The dyke lands, of which
there are 2544 acres, are decidedly the best in Nova-
Scotia, the deepest,richest, and most productive.-—
With some few interruptions, occasioned by project-
ing high lands, they skirt the 8t. Croix for nine miles,

and the Avon the same distance, varying in width

according to the windings of the river;and the for-
mation of the upland. The peculiar situation of this
place, surrounded by a range of mountainous land,
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and protected from the bleak winds, and chiliy fogs,
&f)?ﬁ(?ﬁ@d%h*th&seaﬁcoast, is peculiarly favourable
for raising tender fruits. - Peaches, though subject
from the early blossoms they put };arth to beinjured
by frosts, have been known to ripen without artificial
aid, or even common shelter ; and grapes, pears,
quinces, and a grecat variety of summer and autum-
nal plumbs arrive at perféction, in3all ordinary sea-
sons. The embouchure of the Avon receives the wa-
ters of the Kennetcook, St. Croix and Cockmagon
rivers, and conducts them into" the Bason of Minas.
The rise and fall of the river at Windsor, is about
twenty feet at neap and thirty at spring tides. The
whole of the salt water flows and re-flows, and the
bed of the river at times is totally exposed. The
two channels,by dividing the fresh water supplied by
the lakes, form two small streams resembling brooks,
and ‘are constantly forded by carriages, and often by
foot passengers. As a ford, it is unpleasant and in-
'Zconvenient ; and tothose unacquainted with the tides
unsafe. This extraordinary-ebb of the rivers, empty-

”ing into the Bay of Fundy, facilitates the drainage of

the dyked marshes. These lands are encircled by a
small embankment of earth, and the creeks are closed
by aboiteaux constructed with sluices. The drains
"are conducted to the creeks, and the water when
collected in these reservoirs escapes through sluices,
the gates of which are closed by the rising of the
river, and exclude the entrance ofthetide. Butal-
though it is attended with this convenience, and the
change of air produced by these rapid currents, is
conducive to health, and renders the climate salubri--
ous, the red slimy banks, and the long sand-bars of
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the bed of the river, make this vast chasm when
emptied of its contents a disagreeable object. To
remedy the inconvenience of the ford an act of the
Legislature was passed a few years since, authoriz-
ing the building of a bridge over the Avon, at the
town of Windsor ; and making provision for 1aising
the requisite funds, by the establishment of a lottery.
The first class was drawn, and the proceeds appro-
ptiated to the erection of an Abutment ; but difficul-
ties having occurred in the further progress of the
lottery, the design ‘was abandoned, and the work
still remains in an unfinished state. A vein of lime-
stone crosses the bed of the river, at the site select-
ed for the bridge, and'presents agood foundation for
the piers. The exireme breadth of the Avon at this

/ place, is about 1050 feet. Six miles further towards

its spurce, where the great western post road inter-
sects'itz, there isa good substantial wooden bridge.
This river takes its rise in the extensive lakesthat
lie between Chester and Windsor ; but though spa-
cious and navigable as far as the bridge just men-
tioned, it would be nothing more than a large brook,
were it not for the augmentation it reéceives, from
the flow of the tide from the Bason of Minas. The
whole of the neighbourhood of Windsor is extremely
beautiful. The luxuriance of the meadows, the fre-
quent changes of scenery, the chain of high hillson
the south and west, clothed with wood of variegated
foliage, and the white sails of vessels passing rapidl'y
through the serpentine windings of the Avon and St.
Croix, are some of the leading features of this land-
scape. Windsor isthe shire town of Hant’s Coun,ty.'
It contains, (beside a number of respectable private
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houses) an University, an Academy, an Episcopal
Church, a Roman Catholic Chapel, a Methodist,
Presbyterian, and Baptist meeting-house ; a Court
House and County Jail. The former has a Royal
Charter, bearing date at Westminster, the 12th day
of May; 1802. By this Charter it is ordained that
« King’s College” shall be deemed to be an Univer-
sity, and shall have and enjoy all such and the like
privileges, as are enjoyed by the Universities in the
United Kingdom of Great-Britain and Ireland, asfar
asthe same are capable of being had and enjoyed by
virtue of the said letters patent. And that the stu-
dents in the said College shall haveliberty and facul-
ty of taking the degrees of bachelor, master, and
doctor, in the several arts and faculties, at the ap-
pointed times. =

The Archbishop of Canterbury is Patron of the In-
stitution, and the following ‘persons compose, ex
officio, a board of Governors :—His Excellency the
Lieutenant-Governor, The Right Rev. the Lord

" Bishop of Nova-Scotia, The Hon. tht Chief Justice,
- the Judge of the Court of Viee-Admiralty, the Speak-

er of the House of Assembly, the Attorney-General,
the Solicitor-General, the Secretary of the Province,
and the Rev. the President. The board has the
power of making statutes and by-laws for its'internal
Governmerit and regulation. _

The following extract from the statutes of the Uni-
versity, will shew the course of studies established
for the Students :— . B

¢ Regular courses of lectures, assoon asthe estab-
lishment shall admit of them, shall be read every
year by the Professors in the following branches of
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literature, science, and knowledge. KFach course
shall begin in Michaelmas term, and shall be com-
pleted within the year—Upon the evidences, prac-
tice, and doctrines of the Christian Re]igion,_Gram~
mar, universal and of particular languages.

The Greek and Latin][The Law of Nature and -

Classics, | Nations,
Hebrew, The Civil Law, and the
Rhetoric, Theory of Municipal Laws.
Logic, Political Science, Econo-

Mathematics, including| my,
Amhmetlc,Geometry Metaphysics,
Algebra, ‘T'rigonome-jGeography and Chronology,
try, and the Conic History, ancient and mo-
Sections, " with their] dern,
application in mecha-|Anatomy,
nics and other useful{Botany,
and practicalSciences.|Chemistry,
Natural Phxlosophy, The Materia Medica, and
Astronomy, The Practice of Medicine
Ethics, in clinical Lectures.
General Jurisprudence,

The four following Professorships shall be now es-
tabhshed to which others shall be added, as soonas
the revenues of the College shall render it practica-

_ ble.

1.—A Professor of Hebrew and Divinity.
2.—A Professor of the Moral Sciences and Meta-

phyelcs

3.—A Professor of Mathematics, Natura] Phlloso-
phy and Astronomy.

4.—A Professor of Grammar, R};etoric and Ldgic.

Masters shall be procured to teach the riiodern
languages, particularly French, to whom small sala;
ries shall be allowed, and whose fees for instruction
shall be settled by the President. Students may
likewise receive permission from the President to

attend instructions in the arts of drawing, dancing,
voL. 1r. .14 s
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“music, fencing, riding and other polite accomplish-

ments. It is requisite that the President shall have
taken a regular degree of Master of Arts, or Bach-
lor in Civil Law, at one of the Universities of Oxford,
Cambridge or Dublin, in the United Kingdom. The
Students are eligible for matriculation, at the age of
fourteen years. This period is perhaps too youth-
ful, but has been adopted on account of the limited
means of the Country, and the custom which univer-
sally prevails in America, of introducing young men
into business as soon as possible. The first matri-
culation took placein the year 1803, and the first de-
gree was obtained on the 18th November, 1807.—
There have been conferred 67 degrees of A.B. 15 of
A. M. two of B. D. oneof D. D. one of B.C. L.
and one of D. C. L. ; besides eight honorary degrees
of D. C. L. total 95. There are 12 Divinity scholar-
ships attached to the College, by the Society for the
propogation of the Gospel in Foreign parts. Can-
didates for these scholarships are nominated by the
Bishop, and appointed by the Society. The object
of these endowments is to enable Clergymen and
others, to educate their childen for the Ministry of
the Church of England ; each scholar enjoying £30
Sterling per annum, for seven years. There are also
four scholarships on the foundation, which are each
of the value of £20 Sterling, and are tenable four
vears. ' These are designed as a reward for those
Students who are most distinguished at the annual
examination. There are resident at present sixteen
Undergraduates and two Bachelors. The College
contains a large and well selected Library, and a

valuable Philosophical apparatus.
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The buildings consist of five wooden houses un-
derone roof. These Baysare three stories in height,
and consist of two suits of rooms on a  floor, each
suit containing one parlour and two bed rooms, for
the accommodation of two Students. The situation
of the College is extremely pleasant, and the most
eligible that could be selected. It is about one mile
from the town of Windsor, which is the most cen-
tral point in the Province. The climateis peculiarly

healthy ; and it is remarkable that there never has

occurred an instance of mortality among the Students
since the first establishment of the Institution. The
buildings are erected upon an elevated spot, com-
manding in front a delightful view of the most im-
proved and best cultivated parts of Nova-Scotia.. In
the rear the scenery is equally fine, the landscape
being much embelished by the meanderings of the
Avon and St. Croix. The ground belonging to the
College consists of about one hundred acres. The
respectability of this establishment, its liberal endow-
ments, the learning and exemplary conduct of its
officers, the number of Gentlemen whom it has educat-
ed, and the influence it exerts upon the morals and

manners of the Country, render it an object of the’

highest importance, that it should be cherished and
promoted. Subordinate to the University under its
controul, and within the limits of its grounds, is the
Collegiate School. The building is composed of
free-stone, and erected at an expense exceeding six
thousand pounds. There are apartments in it for the
head master and his family, his ushers, and about 40
boarders. This Seminary is in a flourishing con-
dition, and very numerously attended. The sys-
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-tem of education is in accordance with that of
the College, for which it is intended asa preparatory
Academy. At the school there are also twelve Di-
vinity scholarships of £30 sterling each, which may
be severally held for seven years, or until inatricula-
tion. The object is the same as of those at the Col-

lege ; to these scholarships the Bishop also nomi- .

/

nates, and the Society appoints.

There is a small military post at Windsor, cahed
Fort Edward, in honor of his Royal Highness the
late Duke of Kent, which is much outof repair, and
now scarcely tenantable. Itis pleasantly and advan-
tageously situated on elevated land, that commands
the entrance of both rivers. The ground originally
reserved for military purposes in the neighbourhood
of this Fort, was granted during the administration
of Lord William Campbell, in the year 1767, to his
Lordship’s groom, and was afterwards purchased for
a valuable consideration by Government. The for-
tifications it is said are to be repaired, and new and
comimodious Barrz}clis erected. At present a subal-
tern and a small detachment are stationed there.—
Between this place and Parrsborough there are two
Packets, and three constantly ply between it and St.
John, New-Brunswick. To Halifax and Annapolis
a Stage Coach runs three times a week. The chief
trade of Windser consists in the exportation of Plas-

ter of Paris or Gypsum, to St. Johnand St. Andrew’s,

in New-Brunswick ; from whence it is transported to
the United States, and applied to agricultural pur-
poges. This fossil is no where found in the western
part of Nova-Scotia, but commencing in Falmouth,
occurs in various places in the midland and eastern
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sections, and also in the lsland of Cape Breton. In
the County of Hants, and particularly in Windsor
and Newport, it exists in the greatest profusion. It
protrudes itself in Windsor in many placesabove the
surface ; on the northern side of the St. Croix it rises
into a high mural precipice for several miles, and in
Newport it forms one continued ridge through the
centre of that extensive Peninsula, enclosed by the
St. Croix and Kenetcook. In all these places it is
accompanied and often intermingled with lime-stone,
to which it bears a strong affinity, the one beinga
sulphate and the other a carbonate of lime. The
ground where it occurs is generally much broken,
and abounds with deep circular cavities, known by
the Miners, under the name of ¢ kettle holes,” in
which the bones of animals and the skeletons of In-
dians have sometimes been found, who had falled in-
to these caverns, and were unable to extricate them-
selve from their prison. '

This fossil is by no means a solid body,and is seldom
found to any great extent in a compact form, or un-
broken strata of pure gypsum. Large veins of loam

are scattered through ‘the rocks, and red and blue -

clay, with layers of lime. It is quarried by the aid
of gunpowder, and broken into suitable sizes for ex-
portation, by the pick-axe. Asit enters solargely
into the composition of the soil, its inutility as a ma-
nure, in Nova-Scotia, has beenassumed by practical
farmers, although no regular experiments have ever
been instituted to ascertain its effects. In the United
Statesits value hasbeen long known; and nearly one

hundred thousand tons have been annually ezported

from different parts of the Province to that country.
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The manner in which it operates upon vegetation
remains enveloped in mystery. By some its eflicacy
isattributed to its power of accelerating putrefaction;

o and by others, to its absorbing moisture and impart-
ing it to the soil ; while many ascribe it to the valu-
able nutriment it affords to plants. Perhaps its ex-
traordinary powers may be more justly inferred,
from a union of these several known peculiarities,
than to the agency of any one in particular. Besides

' _gypsum and limestone, this township contains free-
stone ; and indications of coal have been discovered
near the south mountain.

The To«éhskip of Newport lies on the eastern side of
the River St. Croix. It was granted in the year
1761, in seventy shares, and consists of 58,000 acres.
It contains about 1,500 acres of good dyke land, and
200 acres of salt marsh, besides interval. As the
great western road, passes through only its southern
extremity, it is not so well known as many townships
possessing far less interest and intrinsic value. Like
‘Windsor, it abounds in gypsum and lime, and posses-
sesthe best free-stone quarry in the Province. The
upland, though vafyingin quality, is generally good,
and the greater part of it very superior. Of this
description is the long peninsula formed by the
Kenetcook and St. Croix. The former is an exten-
sive and beautiful rivel:, commencing in Douglas
about nine miles from the Shubenacadie, and inter-
secting both that township and Newport. For nine *
miles this river is deep, ebbing and flowing with the .
tide ; but above its junction with the salt water, its tﬁig;
size dependsin a great measure .upon the season,
being materially affected by freshets. "During the
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periodical rains of the spring and autumn, rafts of
timber and sawed lumber are floated down the stream
from a great distance in the interior. 'The navigation
of the Kenetcook, in common with that of several
others, was until within a few years past, ob-
structed by collected heaps of drift wood, called by
the Provincials ¢ chokes”—and by the Acadians
“des embarras.” A large stone, a shoal or point of
land, by detaining a floating tree, formed the foun-
dation of these masses ; which, collecting for years;
accumulated into immense barriers, coveringa great
extent of ground, and rising, in some instances, to
a prodigious height. That on the Kenetcook was
perhaps the largest in the Province, and was re-
moved at a heavy expence, as a greatportion of the
wood was too much saturated with water, to admit
of the action of fire. Newport is well cultivated,and
comparatively thickly peopledby anative population,
the descendants of New England ancestors. In point
of scenery it is notinferior to any part of the county:

The Township of Rawdon lies between Douglas and
Newport, being bounded by the former on the north
and east, and the latter on the south and west. It
was laid out on the 3d of August, 1784, and contains
24,000 acres. The first inhabitants were Loyalists
from the Carolinas, who had served under Lord
Rawdon, the late Marquis of Hastings, in the sou-
thern colonieé, and gave it its preseht name, in honor
of their general.. Rawdon contains no navigable
river, nor any large body of interval, but is through-
out a tract of very good upland ; and would, with
proper management, have afforded a fine specimen
of the capabilities of the soil of Nova-Scotia 3 but
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from the facility with which hay and straw may be
carried from thence to Halifax, it lies generally in an
impoverished state. Its present inhabitants consist
of emigrants from Great Britain—a few survivors of
the original settlers and their descendants. Ita-
bounds with roofing slate, of an excellent quality.
The Township of Douglas, is bounded on the north
and east by Colchester Bay and the Shubenacadie
River, on the south by Halifax, and on the west by
Rawdon and Newport. It is one of the finest town-
ships in the Province ; embracing a great quantity
ofexcellent marsh, interval and upland, and abound-
ing with lime, gypsum, coal, slate, and free-stone.
Noel, z-which was originally settled by the French, is
situated on the borders of Colchester Bay ; and after
the expulsion of the Acadians, was granted to cmi-
grants from the north of Ireland. 'The upland in this’
neighbourhood, and from thence to the Shubenaca-
die,* is of a good quality ; but the marshes, which
are extensive, areby no means equal to those at the
mouth of the river. thhing can exceed the fertility
ofall that tract of country that adjoins this noble
stream ; the dykg’lands are extensive, and in fruit-
fulness are alone equalled by those near Windsor,
and the upland is uniformly good. Douglas also
contains the Kenetcook, the five mile river, nine
mile river, and the Gore settlements ; all which

were comprised in a grant of 105,000 acres, made to -

Lieut. Col. Small, in the year 1784, for the location
of the 2d battalion of the 84th Regiment. The Kenet-
cook settlement lies on a river of that name, which

* Foranaccountof the Shubenacadie River, see the 2d Section
of this Chapter, under the head of Truro.
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is about eighteen miles in extent,but is not navigable

at this place. The- upland hereis indifferent, and

the interval was the principal attraction to the first

inhabitants, who were Americans that had enlisted
in the 84th, while stationed on Long Island. The other

three are promising and thriving places, the extent
of which may be seen by reference to the statistical
table subjoined to the description of this county.
The Township of Kempt contains 80,000 acres, but
though previously settled, was not formed intoa town-

ship until the year 1825. It is situated on the bor-
ders of the Basin of Minas, and lies between Col-

chester Bay and the mouth of the Kenetcovk. It
consists almost wholly of upland, a great part of
which is deep and productive. At the ebb of the

tide, the shore which is flat, is exposed to view for
nearly three miles, and affords an inexhaustable sup-

ply of excellent manure, in the alluvial deposit of which
it is composed. In the several coves and inlets on

this shore, there is a good cod and herring fishery.

Kempt contains both gypsum and lime in abundance.
Falmouth lies between Horton and Windsor, and is

bounded by their external limits. The grant bears’
date, the 21st July, 1759, and conveys 50,000 acres.
A long range of mountain land forms the rear—a gra-

dually sloping upland the centre, and a border of marsh
the front of this township. Though snrall, itis well

cultivated and thickly settled, and the people are ge-

perally in comfortable circumstances. Falmouth
contains about 1184 acres of diked marsh and inter-

val, all of good quality. Neither this Township,
Newport, Rawdon, Douglas, nor Kempt, contains
any villages—Windsor being the only place within
the County that merits the appellation.
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_+~ KING’S COUNTY

Is bounded, on the south by the Countiesof Lun-

enburg and Hant’s, on the east by Cumberland, on

the north by the Bay of Fundy, and on the west by

the County of Annapolis. It contains four town-

ships ; Hortqn, Cornwallis, Parrsborough, and Ay-
- lesford.

* Horton. After leavmg Falmouth, and proceed-
ing on the great western road, the attention of
‘the traveller is arrested by the extent and beauty of
a view, which bursts upon him very unexpectedly,
as he descends the Horton mountains. A sudden
turn of theroad displays at once the townships of
Horton and Cornwallis, and the rivers that meander
through them. Beyond isa lofty and extended chain
of hills, presenting a vast chasm, apparemly burst
out by the waters of nineteen rivers that empty into
the Bason of Minas, and here escape into the Bay of
Fundy. The variety and extent of this prospect, the

beautiful verdant vale of the Gaspereaux ; the

extended township of Horton interspersed with

groves of wood and cultivated fields, and the cloud
capt summit of the lofty cape that terminates the
chain of the north mountain, form an assemblage of
objects, rarely united with so striking an effect. The
township of Horton was settled hy the-English, in
the year 1'760 and contains one hundred thousand
acres. In that part of it bordering on the basin, was

situated thé French village Minas, of which frequent.

mention is made in the history of Nova-Scotia. No
traces of it are now to be seen, except the cellars of
the houses, a few aged orchardb, and the never fail-
ing appendages of an Acadian settlement, scattered
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groups of willows. During the few last years of the
~oceupation of Horton by the French, asmall detach-
ment of Provincials was stationed there, tokeep them _
in subjection ; and after theirremoval, it was conti- -
nued for some time to overawe the Indians. The
settlements of the Acadians extended from the mouth
of the Gaspereaux river, to within two miles of Kent-
ville. Satisfied with the abundant crops which were
gathered from their diked fields, they gave them-
selves but little trouble in the cultivation of the up--
. land, and seldom extended their clearings beyond
~_the viéw 'of their meadows. They had enclosed and
cultivated all the Grand Prarie, which then contain-
ed)loo acres, besides smailer marshes on the Gas-
pereaux, and the Horton river. The former, they
redeemed from the sea at different periods, and the
remains of the old dikes, which, like the cells of a
honey-comb, ﬁdivide it into very numerous partitions,
though still visible, are so crumbled by the corroding
hand of time, as to be passed without difficulty by
loaded teams. From the removal of these people in
1755, the country remained unsettled until the year
1760, when two hundred emigrants from Connecti-
» cut were invited to remove thither and take posses-
, sion of it. The delays éttending their embarkation
§ and passagé, unfortunately protracted their arrival
‘. " until the season was too far advanced, to admit of
their raising any crops that year. The succeeding
winter was both tedious and severe, and as they had
been accustomed to a milder climate, and the com-
forts and conveniences of an old colony, it was ac-
eompanied by much distress. ‘Although the greater
part of these settlers were respectable people, yet
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there were many. idlers among them, whose chief
inducement to visit Nova-Scotia, was the provision-
they were entitled to receive, as a bounty for their
emigration. When the most industrious could- not
obtain the necessaries of life without the greatest
exertion, it is not surprising that persons of this
class availed themselves of the first opportunity of
quitting the country, as soon as the government ra-
tions were withheld. The English found. the dikes
very much dilapidated, and most of the meadows
under water. Asthey were ignorant ofthe manner -
of rebuilding these embankments, they contented ’
themselves for many years with gathering salt grass,

and such other herbage asthe higher parts of the

Grand Prarie still afforded them. As they increased

in population and acquired experience, they at

length succeeded in shutting out the tide from all the

land that had been formerly enclosed. But it was . |

not until theyear 1810, that that extensive meadow,

which is bounded by the Grand Prarie on the east,

and Wolfeville on the west, was finally encircled by

ik d bt Wslios
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a substantialdike. This embankment, and the nine fh
aboiteauxs connected with it, which secure 687 acres QA
of land, were erected at an expence of £9,858. g
The cost of keeping these dikes in repair, varies ac- - ’f
cording to their exposure, and the nature of the ma- ?
terials with which they are built. The annual as- f;s
sessment for the support of that on the Grand Prarie, g
s upon an average about one shilling and six-pence g
per acre ; while others containing less land ‘and :
equally exposed, are maintained at a greater ex- -
pence. This township includes about 4000 acres of
diked land, exclusive of salt marshes and intervals.

T T
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The upland is hills', and in some -places broken; and
though embracing, like every other part of Nova-
Scotia, of the same extent, a great variety of soil,
is for the most part good tillage land. The farm-
‘houses are larger and better built than in Windsor
ar Falmouth, and few of them are to be seen without
~ anorchard (adjabéilt. The Packet which plies be-
tween Windsor and Parrshorough, touches at Hor-
- ton, for the convenience of those who wish to cross
the Basin of Minas. , At the upper part of this town-
ship, and near its junction with Cornwallis, is situ-
ated the village of Kentville, containing several well
built private houses, the Court-House, and Jail. 1t
is distant from Halifax about seventy-two miles, and
from Annapolis sixty, forming  the central point, at
which the stage-coaches meet, that run between
those two towns. There is a good grammar school
at this place; and it is said that the Baptists of Nova-
Scotia have it in contemplation to found an Academy
within a few miles of it, which shall be open for the
reception of the youth of every denomination, but
under the particular controul of the general associ-
ation. The views inthis neighbourhood are remark-
ably fine, and the formation of the land, such as to
profent a great variety in the landscape. No part
of the Province can boast more beautiful and diversi-
fied scenery, than the township of Horton. Besidé
the splendid prospect from the mountain just men-
tioned, and those in the vicinity of Kentville, there
are others still .more interesting at a distance from
the post road. It would be difficult to point out gho:
ther landscape, at all equal to that which is beheld
from:the hill, that overlooks -the site of the ancient
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village of Minas. On either hand extend undulating
hills richly cultivated, and intermingled with farm
houses and orchards. From the base of these high
* lands, extend the alluvial meadows, which add so
- much to the appearance and wealth of Horton. The
Grand Prarie is skirted by Boot and Long Islands,
whose fertile and well tilled fields are sheltered from
the north, by evergreen forests of dark foliage. Be-
yond are the wide expanse of waters of the Basin of
Minas, the lower part of Cornwallis, and the isles
and blue highlands of the opposite shores. The

charm of this prospect consists in the unusual coms> - -

bination of hill, dale, woods, and cultivated fields;
in the calm beauty of agricultural scenery, and in
the romantic wildness of - the distant forests.. Dur-
ing the summer and autumnal months, immense
herds of cattle are seen quietly cropping the herbage
of the Grand Prarie ; while numerous vessels plying
on the Basin, convey a pleasing evidence of the pros-
perity and resources of this fertile district.

The River Gaspereaux rises in the south-west part
_ of the township, in alake of the same name, situ-
" ated near the source of Gold River, in Lunenburg
County. For the first few miles, and as it flows
through the settlement of Canaan, there is a wild
grandeur and beauty in the scenery. It rushes im-

petuously between two lofty and almost perpendicu- -

lar hills—its bed resembling a chasm made in the
heart of the mountain, by some violent convulsion of

nature. From this place the course of the stream is’

so serpentine, that within a small space, the hori-

zon is bounded on all sides by the hills, that in their’

circumference recede from the river, which, in this

-3
!

A,
Sy

T PR a7 T QU

B

Y

Rty o

e



W i, kgt MR BT RS . o B R . —

—— oo

.

e -
\

B

120

deep recess, appearslike a small certral point. Here
a narrow foot-path winds down the precipitous steep,
by which the traveller, with much exertion and
some danger of a more rapid descent, reaches the

: m%n-gin of the stream, where a scene of indescribable

lﬁdaut’j‘ is presented toview. As the river pursues its
course, the hills become more accessible, and admit
of cultivation ; at length the mountains recede, and
alluvial meadows form the peaceful valley of the
Gaspereaux, through which, as if resting from the
rapidity of its previous course, the river meanders
with a gentle current until within a short distance of
the post road, where salt marsh is formed by the
mingling of its waters with the returning tide. On
the Gaspereaux there are several mills and four
bridges. Trouts are abundant, and vast quantities
of smelts are taken in their season. Excellent sal-
mon are also obtained here, but the fish from which
the river has derived its name, are most predomi-
pant. There are in this township, an Episcopalian
church, two Baptist, one Presbyterian, and two
Methodist meeting-houses ; also eleven grist mills,
five saw mills, two oat mills, two carding machines,
one flax mill, and three fulling mills. ‘
Cornuallis.—This extensive Township is bounded
on the north by the Bay of Fundy, on the east by
the Bason of Minas, on the west by Aylesford, and
on the south by the Horton river. It was settled at
the same time with Horton, and by persons who
emigrated from the same colony, Connecticut. They
sailed together in a fleet of twenty-two vessels, con-
voyed by a brig of war, mounting sixteen guns,
commanded by Captain Pigot. They arrived on the
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4th Juné, 1760, and took possession of the lands for-
merly occupied by the Acadians. At the place where
they disembarked, (a point of land near the town-plat
of Cornwallis) they found sixty ox carts, and as many
yokes, which the unfortunate French had used in
conveying their baggage to the vessels that carried
them - away from the country ; and at the skirts of
the forest, heaps of the bones of sheep and horned
cattle, that, deserted by their owners, had perished

in winter for want of food. They also met with a

few straggling families of Acadians, who had escap-
ed from the scratinizing search of the soldiers, at
the removal of their countrymen, and who, ‘afraid of
sharing the same fate, had not ventured to till the
land, or to appear in the opeu country. They had
eaten no bread for five years, and had subsisted -on

vegetables, fish;, :md the more hardy part of the cat-
tle, that had survived the severity of the first winter
of theirabandonment. The cultivated country botre
a strong resemblance to thoseparts of Horton which
had been previously settled. The cleared lands
every where skirted the meadows, and were by no
means extensive. On all of them were found -the
ruins of the houses, that had been burned by the
Provincials, small gardens encircled by cherry trees
and currant bushes, and inconsiderable orchards, or
rather clumps of apple trees. Six hundred acres of
marsh were secured from the sea, but in a very .in-
different state of repair, and as many more, which
had been enclosed, but were flooded by the salt wa-
ter that had broken the dikés for want of their usual
reparations. - As the Indians were both numerous

and unfriendly, and apprehensions entertzined that
VOL. II. 16
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the few remaining French would molest the proprie-
tors of the confiscated farms, it was deemed neces-
sary, not only to crect stockaded houses, but also to
station there a small detachment for their protection.
In process of time the settlers came to a partition of
their lands, the first division of which consisted of
marsh, thesecond of .the most valuableuplands, and
the third of wood lots. This township is well irriga-
ted, having, beside a'great number of brooks, four
rivers—Horton, Canar, Habitant, and Pereaun, all

" extending into the country in a western direction,

and emptying into the Basin of Minas. The first
takes its rise in the Carriboo bog in Aylesford ; and
from Kentville to its mouth, divides the townships of
Horton and Cornwallis, from the former of which it
takes its name.* lts extreme length is nearly thirty-
miles, and througl{out its whole extent it is bordered
with diked lands orinterval, of each of which there
are -about 350 acres in the township of Cornwallis.
The second isabout ten milesinlength, and furnishes
2000 acres of diked land, 600 of which have been
lately enclused from the sea by an embankment, cal-
ed the Wellington dike, which was constructed at
an expence of about £20,903. The greater portion
of the latter marsh is of the most superior quality,
having yielded in some places fifty bushels of wheat -
peracre. The Ilabitant extends the same distance

- as.the latter, and furnishes about 300 acres of en-

closed alluvial land, but of an inferior description of
soil. There are upon this river two grist mills and
acarding mill. The Pereau is the smallest of the

® 1t is indifferently called by the name of either Township, and
is as often known by the name of Cornwallis river as the other.”

7
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four, not exceeding three miles in length ; but even 5
in this short distance there are fifty acres of diked &
land, beside a great quantity of salt marsh, that here- X
after may ‘be reclaimed with advantage. The navi- ’
gation of these rivers is managed with much ease in Mr
summer, but owing .to the immense quantities of
loose ice with which the Basin of Minas isfilled in
; winter, they are not to be approached at that season
without danger. The Bay of Fundy is also inacces-
sible at the same pericd, for want of an artificial hor-
bour,:at some of the little coves and inletsat the base
of the mountain, that forms the northern limit of the
township. The upland of Cornwallis is in general of
a superior quality, frce from stone and easily tilled.
The whole of the north mountain, from Blomedon
to the borders of Annapolis county, is fit for cultiva-
tion, and the low land adjoining it is of the first class
of interval. Like Horton, Cornwallis has nume-
rous -and extensive orchards, which are productive
and thrifty, and both the fruit and the cider are sur-
.passed by none in Nova-Scotia. From its extraordi-
nary fertility, it has been styled the garden of Nova- ’
Scotia. There are in this Township an Episcopal e
Church, 1 Presbyterian, 1 Methodist, 1 Indepen-
\\ dent, and 3 Baptist meeting-houses ; also, 16 saw-
| mills, 11 grist mills, 2 carding machines, and 1 oat !
" mill. . 5
Parrsborough.—The township of Parrsborough was i
. named after the late Governor Parr,and though situa-
ted on the eastern side of the Bason of Minas, is ap-
pended toKing’s County. There is asmall village,bear-
ing the name of the township, nearly’oﬁp‘osite to the
_ extreme point of th eCornwallis mountain,from whence

»
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the packetsrun to Horton and Windsor,twice a week, -
and occasionally oftener. The distance between
this place and Windsor, is thirty-five miles. The
village is overlooked by a bold bluff, 250 feet high,
called Partridge Island, which, resisting the tides of
the Bay of Fundy, affords shelter'in the summer
-monthg to vessels employed in this internal naviga-
tion. Near the junction of this township with Col-
chester, is a beautiful gr011p of Islands, five in num-
ber, and generally known astheFive Islands. They
rise, abruptly from the sea, and present a very pic-
turesque . appearance. The most remarkable is one .
that stands in advance of the others, and from the
constant attrition of the water on ‘its base (which is
composed of a softer substance, than the superincum-
bent mass) presents the curious phenomena of a
leaning tower, and casting a dark broad shade be-
neath it, seems asif ready to* tumble into the sea,
from the overhanging weight of its summit. The .
land in this township is much broken and _hilly, and .
the shore, from Partridge Island to Advocate harbour,
consists chiefly of a .high rocky cliff, beyond which
are lofty hills, but the soil on the summit as well as
slopes-of these produces all kind of vegetables and
grain. ‘About two miles from the village is the Pa-
rish Chureh. From -this place to Francklin manor,
the lands on both sides of the road to Cumberland _
were; in the year 1774, subdivided into farm lots, and
offered for sale at the rate of six-pence per acre, but
atthat period such was the low estimation in which .

* The reacer is referred for a minute account of the Geology
and,Mineralogy of this District, to a very interesting article in
Dr. Silliman’s Journal of Science, drawn up by Charles Jackson -
and Francis Alger, Esqrs. and published in the number for Octo-

ber, 1628.°
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the Country was held, that not a single sale could be .
effected. In 1783, and at subsequent periods, they
were again divided into siity farm lots of 250 acres
each, and were granted to such families as were .
inclined to accept of them. Besides this settlement
there are several others jn Parrsborough, that are
in a thriving and prosperous condition. The inhabi-
tants experience much inconvenience from the in-
tervention of the Bason of Minaé, between Parrs-
borough and Kentville, where the public offices are
held. The Bason is a large reservoir that receives
the waters of nineteen rivers (Pereau, Canar, Habi-
tant, Horton, Gaspereaux, Ha]fway, Avon, St. Croix,
Kennetcook, Cackmagon, Shubenacadie,” Salmon,
North, Chégenois, Deburt, Great Village, Porteau- -
pigue,.Bass, and Diligent rivers)* from whence they
escape between Partridgé Island and Blomedon, into
the Bay, of Fﬁndy. Outside of the strait the tides
are rapid but regular, and although the wind, when

blowing in an opposite direction to the current, ren- -

ders the sea uneven and violent, it has no effect on
the tides. Within it the rise of the tideisgreater than

in any part of America. From the entrance of the .

Bay to this place,the velocity of the current increases
in proportion as it advances. From Cape Sable, the
flood passes through the Seal Islands and Bald Tus-
kets, towards the north-west at the rate of two or
three knots. Obstructed by these Islands, its rate is
increased to four.or five knots, thence taking the
course of the shore, it flows past Cape St. Mary’s,

and thence towards Brier Island. As.the Bay be-,

comes narrower, this vast body of water rushes for-

* These are exclusive of the tributary streams of the larger ri-
vers.
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ward with greater rapidity, and fills the Bason of
Minas and Chignecto, with vast impetuosity. At the
latter place it rises in spring tides as high as se-
venty feet.

Aylesford lies between Wilmot and Cornwallis. 1t
was settled chiefly by Loyalists, in 1784. The post
road passes through its front, which is an extensive

sand plain. The quality of the land on the north

mountain, and of the interval that adjoins it, is simi-
lar to that of the western parts of Cornwallis.

A more minuté description of these Townships
would fail to be interesting to the general reader.

The process by which the wilderness is converted -

into a fruitful country, although necessarily slow is
nniform. As the population becomes too numerous
for the cultivated parts, the young men either extend
the frontiers of the Townships, or penetrate into the
depth of the forest. Far from embellishing, their
first operations deform the beauty of the landscape.
The graceful forest is prostrated, and the blackened
remains of the half burned wood and the unsightly
stumps still remain. In process of time the appear-
ance of the country is again changed. Every year
pours forth, in anincreased ratio, new laborers, un-
til their scattered clearings approximate on every
side, and the rudely constructed log huts are suc-
ceeded by well built houses. Time, that crumbles
into dust the exquisite monuments of art, cherishes
and fosters their improvements, until at length hills,
vales, groves, streams and rivers, previously con-
cealed by the interminable forest, delight the eye of

“the- behelder in their diversified succession.

®
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COUNTY OF LUNENBURG.

The County of Lunenburg was formed on the l'[th ‘
of August, 1754, and is bounded as follows :—On the
east by the Counties of Hants and_ Hahfax, on the
north by the Counties of King’s and Annapolis, on
the west by Queen’s County, and on the south by
the Atlantic Ocean. It extends from éast to west
forty miles, and its extreme width is thirty-five miles,
exclusive of the space occupied by nearly three hun-
dred islands, which lie scattered in groups along its
shores and harbors. It contains three Townships—
Chester, Lunenburg and New Dublin. After pas-
sing the boundary of Halifax County, the first Bay
west of St. Margaret’s is Mahone, which, though
differently formed, is equally extensive. Itis separa-
ted from the former by the high lands of Haspata-
goen, which may be discernedat a distance of seven
or eight leagues. There are a great number of small
Islands within the Bay, which afford good anchorage
and assist in forming the snug arid commodious har-
bour of Chester. Most of these Islands are in a state
of nature, but the great Tancook is settled, and con-
tains thirty families, who derive their subsistence
wholly from tilling the land. From these Islands to

‘the head of Mahone Bay, along the western shore,

are several places affording perfect security for ships
of theline. On the north side of the Bay and nine
miles from its mouth is situated the‘,town of

Chester. It was erected into atownshlp in the year

© 1760, and settled by thirty families, amounting to

148 persons of both sexes, who emigrated from
New-England, and brought with them their stock
of cattle. Twenty-four years after the arrival of
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these people, (1784) they were joined by a number
of Loyalists, who being unacquainted with agricul-
_ ture, expended their property in unprofitable pur-
suits, and becoming disappointed and discouraged,
returned to the United States. They were succeed-
ed by several German families from the ‘neighbour-
hood of Lunenburg, who being a laborious and in-
dustrious people, laid the foundation of a permanent
and thriving settlement, the population of which is
now upwards of 2000 souls.” The township extends
twelve miles on the road to Windsor, seventeen to-
wards Halifax, twelve and a half towards Lunen--
burg, and twenty in the direction of Sherbrooke.
The land is in general covered with spruce and fir
timber, capable of cultivation, and well irrigated.—
The town, which is distant from Windsor thirty-five,
and from Halifax forty-five miles, is conveniently si-
tuated, asrespectsits internal communication, foreign
and coasting trade, and the fisheries. There isa
reservation in a central situation of three town lots
for a Court House, Jail, and School House; but not
being a Shire town, these buildings have not yet
been erected. The only public edifices are a church
and Baptist meeting-house, the former of which, a
neat and well finished building, is situated on an emi-
nence in the centre of the town, commanding an ex-
tensive view of the harbour, and its numerous and
beautiful Islands. There are fourteen schooners and
sloops owned at Chester, which are engaged during
the greater part of the year 'in the coasfing trade,
affording easy and frequent communication with Ha-
lifax, Lunenburg, and Liverpool. A great portion of
the exports consist of lumber of various kinds, for
VOL. II. 7
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the manufacturing of which there are seven saw-
mills. Therearealso in the township two grist mills
it : and one hulling mill. ‘The principal rivers are Mid-
: dle river and Gold river. The latter takes it rise
: in the heights that divide the waters that fall
] into the Bay of Fundy, from those which run towards
. the Atlantic ; and after passing through the settle-
‘ ment of Sherbrooke, and spreading occasionally into
lakes of various sizes, empties itself into the bay,
about six miles from the town. Indications of coal
have been discovered about a mile from Chester,and

2 ‘ lime, yellow-ochre, and pipe-clay. are found in seve-

‘ _ral places.  On the west it is bounded by

B d Lunenburg.—This township, next to Halifax, is the

% oldest settlement formed by the English Government i

; in Nova-Scotia. As soon as the emigrants at the ca-
: pital were in a situation to accommodate others with
i shelter and assistance, the necessary steps were
immediately taken by His Majesty’s Government,
for the conveyance of forcigners from Europe, to
form a new township on some of the adjacent har-
. bours. A proclamation was sent over to Germany,
i inviting people to remove to Nova-Scotia, agents
b appointed to receive applications, and public notices
set up* in several populous towns, explaining the

o * The following is a translation of that published at Rotterdam,
- . in 1750 :—

Whereas, His Britannic Majesty's Lords Commissioners of Trade |
and Plaatations, have, during the last year, transported a great
number of persons to Nova-Scotia, in North America, they have
appointed Mr. John Dick, merchant and tradér in Rotterdam, to
agree with all those German Protestants and other Foreigners, who
shall desire to settle in said Province, and are willing to become
British subjects, respecting the payment of their passagé from Rot-
terdam to the said Province, on reasonable terms, and to grant
them, in consideration thereof, the following. advantages.

ist. ‘There shall be assigned and distributed to each foreigner,
Sifty acres of lanll, free from all rent and taxes for ten years ; after
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nature of the encouragement that would be given to
emigrants. In consequence of these advertisements,
‘many persons were induced to dispose of their effects, °
and enter their names at the office of the agent at
Rotterdam, from whence 130 Germans and Swiss

- that no one shall pay more than one shilling yearly for said fifty

acres, so given him.

2d. " Besides the fifty acres, there shall be assigned to every fo-
reigner who has a family, and to every member of the same, wife
and children included, ten additional acreson the same terms, and
still further privileges shall be granted to each one, according to
his skill in cultivation of land, and in proportion to the increase of
his family.

3d. All who are willing to accept the aforesaid proposals, shall
be maintained with their fam:liés, full twelve months after their ar-
rival in the said Province. . o

4th. They shall be provided with as many arms and as much
ammunition as shall be considered necessary, together with a suffi-
<ient guantity of materials and implements for house-keeping, clear-
Jng and cultivating their lands, erccting habitations, promoting the
fisheries, and with other articles necessary for thelr subsistance.—
That such Foreigners as shall desire to settle in the aforesaid Pro-.
vince, may have sufficient information respecting the same, it may
be mentioned that the said Province of Nova-Scotia is under the
dominion of the Crown of Great Britain in North America, and
sitnated between the 45th and 51st degrees of North Latitude.
The air or climate is very healthy, and the soil as productive and
fertile as that of any other British colony whatever, since, by good
cultivation, it yieldg an abundance of every thing necessary for the
support of life—grain, hemp, flax, &c. The sea coast abounds
with as great a variety of fish as any part of the Anierican coast,
and is particularly well situated for shipping and trade, being fur-
nished with numerous secure and convenient harbours. For these
reasons during the last year, a great number of British subjects and
Foreigners went thither and settled, under the regulation of a
careful and prudent person, commissioned for that purpose by
His Majesty, and through their diligence and esertions, have al-
ready n'aade such uncommon progress, that they have bu:lt a town
of between three and four hundred houses. These colonists al-
ready enjoy all these advantages in a high degree. - The plan of a
civil government is the same as is vsual in the British Colonies in
America, and in accordance with the laws and privileges already
established there by his Majesty’s autbority. It has been put in
force as far as the number and present circumstances of the inha-
bitants will admit, and will be carefully and zealously proceeded
in, according to the increase of the colony, which, under divine
‘blessing and assistance,may be expected; every volunteer,therefore,
who has come to the resolution of complying with the above pro-
posal, will please to obtain a license from his Government, and
therewith apply either directly to Mr. John Dick, or to his Agent
in Franckfort, on the Mayne, who may be found by enquiring of
John Adam Ohenslagen, ship master, who resides at the Saxenhau-~
sen Bridge.
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embarked in the Anne, and arrived at Halifax in the
year 1750. The rocky coast, the interminable fo-

~ rest, and the sterility of the soil, struck them with

dismay andastonishment; and the toil and privatiefis
which the people of Halifax underwent, but too
strongly depicted the miseries they were destmed to
endure.

On the 13th of July, 1751, arrived ship szsedwell;

“with - -~ - - - - 121) &g
Do. Peari 125 '} Es
Do. Gale --131{3&

Do. Murdock 206 | 35

The year following there arrived from Rotterdam

" in the Speedwell - -V - - 187

A . Do. Pearl 149

> 7 Do. Betty 102

’ Do Gple 182

. Do. ly. 116

\In 1753 the Speedwell brought - - 65
And the Swan of Swiss - - - - 80
And other shipsat differenttimes - - 71

Total . . 1615,

A sufficient number having arrived to form a new
township, and it being deemed expedient, to settle
these people together, *Merliguesh or Malegash Bay,

" was selected, on account of the beauty and safety of :

the harbour, the fertility of the land, and its vicinity

. to the new eapital. A plan for a town havingbeen

drawn up and approved by Gevernor Hopson, 1453
persons were embarked at Halifax o the 28th May,

* Ap Indian word, sxgmfymg xmlky ba.y, in. referencg to its ap-

* pearance in a storm.




133

1753, and arrived at Merliguesh on the 7th of June
following. Havinglanded their effects, and cuta
road from the shore to the hill that overlooks the
harbour, they erected ablock house for its defence,
and after.clearing the ground of the timber with
which it was covered, they laid the foundation of a
town, to which they gave the name of Lunenburg.
It was laid out accdrding to the plan into six divi-
sions, and every settler drew a town lot and a gar-
“ den lot,;aﬁﬁxwaé required to enclose the same, and
erect suitable buildings thereon without delay. A
regiment of militia was then organized by Patrick
Sutherland, .Esq. Lieutenant-Colonel, and Leonard
C. Rudolph, Major ; and as the Indians were very
numerous, and exceed}ngly hostile, murdering every
man who ventured alone into the woods, nine block-
houses were built, to form a line of defencesfor the
town, and the settlement enclosed with a fence of
pickets, sharpened at the points, and firmly set in
theground. The arduous duties performed by the
militia at these posts, in scouting parties, and in de-
‘fending stockaded houses, and fhe numbers shain by
the Indians, discouraged the settlers, and rendered
them discontented with their situation, and dissatis-
fied with Government: While the temper of the
" people was. soured by these hardships and misfor-
tunes, areport was industriously spread among them,
" that they had been defrauded of a large portion of
the provisions and stores, destined for their use. As

they had been all supplied with fire-arms, they de-

termined to redress their own grievances, the eivil
- authority was overpowered, and nearly the whole
of the settlers were in a state of open.rebellion. A

i
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strong body of troops was immediately dispatched
from Halifax, and this state of general insubordina-
tion was not gubdued without much trouble on the
part of the public officers. Two of the ringleaders
having been shot, and the mgst satisfactory assuran-
ces given, both of the pardon of past offences, and of
the falsehood of thé reports upon 'which they had
acted, the insurgents submitted, and were disarm-
ed. Four hundred and fifty-one stand of firelocks
were surrendered, and lodged in the King’s stores, -
and the people dispersed at their various employ-
ments. The following year, (1754) supplies of cattle
were received from the agents of Government, a-
mounting to 74 cows, 967 sheep, 114swine, 164 goats,
and a great quantity of poultry, and were distributed
among the settlers, according to their conduct and
characters. Every two families of good character re-
ceived one cow and one sheep, or six sheep,
one sow and six goats between them. (
Every two single men of good character drew 4
sheep and 1 sow between them. Every two of indif-
ferent character drew 4 sheep, 1sow. Every two of
bad characier, drew 3 sheep, 1sow. Twoyears af-
terwards this stock was augmented by a portion of the
confiscated property of the Acadians. A party of

&

. armed men,consisting of fifty rank and file, under the

command of Captain Steignford,marched through the
woods from Lunenburg to the Basin of Minas, and
collected and drove off upwards of 120 head of horn-
ed cattle, and a number of horses. After infinite la-
bour, they succeeded in conductinig to Lumnenburg
sixty oxen and cows, but the rest of the cattle and
all the horses died during the journey of fatigue and
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hunger. In 1754 there were 319 houses erected, and
forty huts, several of which were notyet inhabited,
and during the foll(gl;iz/g summer the Church of St.
John was built by ernment. Until the 14th of
June of this year the inhabitants had been supplied
with provisions at the publicexpense, when' this al-

lowance was withheld, except from the aged and in- .

firm, who still continued to draw their rations. But

notwithstanding the encouragement they received, .

little progress was made in Agriculture on account
of the continued hostility of the Indians, who carried
off'many of the settlers captives, and killed and scalp-
ed others. In consequence of these depredations,
both at Lunenburg and Halifax, Governor Lawrence,
by proclamation, offered a reward of £30 for every
male indian prisoner, above 16 years of age, and £25
for his scalp, with a proportionable reward for wo-
men and children, when brought in alive or scalped.
The premiums were, however, wholly unattainable
by these foreigners, who were ignorant ofthe coun-
try, and unaccustomed to marching through the
woods, and who, if they succeeded in discovering the
traces of their enemies, too often found to their cost,
that these tracks were made for the purpose of lead-
ing them into ambush. This state of warfare conti-
nued until the year 1760, when a peace with the
savages relieved them from any further apprehen-
sions from this merciless enemy ; but someidea may
be formed of its effects from the census of the inha-
bitants, by which it appears that there was an in-
crease of only seven souls in seven years. From
this period they began to'settle lands.at a distance
from the town, erect saw mills and grist mills, and

s ot .
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build small vessels to carry the produce of their farms
to market, and in a short time they were able to sup-
ply the fleet, the army, and the inhabitants at Hali-
fax with vegetables. Until the commencement of
the rebellion of the old colonies Lunenburg advanqed‘
steadily,though not rapidly,in population and wealth,
but during the continuance of the war, it met with
repeated losses, by the capture of its vessels, and
was once plundered by the enemy. On the 1st July, ,
11782, six sail of American Privateers, under the com-
mand a Capiain Stoddard, consisting. of one Bri-
gantine, one large schooner, mounting sixteen
guns, two small schooners, one sloop, and one row
galley full of armed men arrived at Lunenburg,
where they landed ninety men, and surprised the
town, and having taken, with the loss of three men
killed, a block house which was defended by Colo-
. nel Creighton, and his domestic servants, they plun-
dered the place, burned several dwelling houses, and
carried away and destroyed property o the amount of
$12,000 ; upon threatening to burn the town, several
respectable inhabitants executed a Bond for the ran-
som of the place, by which they undertook to pay the
captors one thousand pounds. During the remain-
der of the war, they were in constant dread ofa re-
petition of the visit. Inthe year 1783, peace was
proclaimed to the great joy of the Inhabitants, who
being thus relieved from the fear of the enemy,
turned their attention to the improvement of their
farms, and in the year 1791 the census exhibited a
great increase in the population.
- Families, ,

§ Township of , s o
N Lunenburgh g 388 Number of souls 2213
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Chester - 110 Number of souls 591
New Dublin 85 Do. 443

% —_
Total Number 578 Do. 8241

War was no sooner declared by the United States,
inthe year 1812, than the American privateers were
again on the coast, and committed great depredations
on their trade, before they could receive the neces-
sary protection. The former temporary fortifications
of the place had been suffered to decay, and it be-
came necessary to ercct four new Block-houses, one
on the hill commanding the town, which mounted
two nine and four twelve pounders, two small guns,
and two brass field pieces ; another on the site of
Fort Boscawen, built of stone and wood, mounting
four twelve pounders—-a third at lower La Have,and
a fourth at Kingsburg. Although the coast was re-
peatedly visited by privateers, the naval force on the
Halifax station prevented any well grounded fears
of a landing of the enemy. In June, 1813, two men-
of-war (a 74 and a frigate) were seen chasing an
armed vessel into Mahone Bay. The alarm guns
were immediately discharged at the block-houses and
out-ports, and the militia, obedient to the summons,
assembled from all the adjacent country. The move-
ments of the ships were closely ohserved from their
first appearance in the afternoon until sun-down,
when they came to anchor. The boats were then
hoisted out and manned, and proceeded in chase of
the schooner ; but before they reached her, a dread-
ful explosion took place, and an immense cloud of
smoke was seen arising from her. Not lmowing:

whether it was a British or American force, much
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anxiety prevailed among the inhabitants, who lay
upon their arms all night. The next day a boat ar-
rived, with six American prisoners, dreadfully wound-
ed and mutilated, most of whom suffered immediate
amputation. The 74 proved to be the La Hogue,
and the other ship His Majesty’s frigate the Orpheus,
who having fallen in with the American privateer,
the Teaser, had chased her into Mahone Bay. One
of the officers of the privateer, who had formerly de-
serted from the La Hogue, knowing the fate that
awaited him, if captured, and failing in his attempts
to inspire the crew with the same spirit of desperéte
resistance, which he felt to be necessary for hisown
safety, set fire to the magazine and blew up the ves-
sel, together with upwards of one hundred men on -
board of her, only six of whom survived the awful
explosion.* At the close of the war, Lunenburg, in
common with every other part of Nova-Scotia, felt
the effects of the peace,.in the depression of prices,
the stagnation of business, and the scarcity of money;
but the industry and frugality of the people soon
enabled them to surmount these difficulties, and it
isnow in a very flourishing state. The town of Lu-
nenburg is situated on a peninsula, and is built on

——theside—of a hill of moderate-ascent, and when ap-

proached by water, presents a neat and pleasing ap-
pearance. The harbour is about a quarter of a mile
deep, and half a mile wide, of easy access, and pos-
sessing good anchorage. It is sheltered by Crossf
Island, which lies near its entrance, and is about 30
feet high, containing two hundred and fifty-three

* The number of men on board of the Privatecr has been vari-
ously represented ; in one account, itis siad not to have exceeded
one-balf of the amount above stated. 1 A light is to be set here.
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acres. Inside of this Island the water is deep, de-
creasing as it approaches the wharves, alongside of

which it is from twelve to fourteen feet. The town
is constructed on a regular plan, the streets crossing
each other at right angles, It contains upwards of
two hundred and thirty dwelling houses, stores and
other buildings, many of which are spacious, sub-
stantially built, and neatly finished., There are in
Lunenhurg, four places for public worship. An Epis~
copalian, a Lutheran, and reformed Calvinist church,
and a Methodist Chapel, all of which have numerous
congregations, and are respectably attended. - The
Calvinist Church was erected about two years ago,
and is the neatest country church in the Provinee:
The other public buildings are alarge and commodi-
ous Court-House and Jail. The number of vessels
belonging to the County, the greater part of which
are owned at this place, is upwards of an hundred.
They are employed in foreign trade, in coasting, and
in the fishery. Some estimate may be made of the
extent of the former, from the duties paid at the
office of Excise, which amounted,in the year 1827, to
£3,709 12s. 5d. and from the circumstance of there
being twenty two stores in the town, ‘containing ge-
neral assortments of British Manufactures, and West
India produce. The foreign trade is carried on with
the West Indies, Newfoundland and Quebec. Inthe
intercourse with the former nineteen vessels are em-
ployed, whose united tonnage amounts to more than
1500 tons. The annual export of cod fish, is stated
to be about twenty thousand quintals, nearly one
third of which is the produce of the shore fishery.
The export of mackarel is obtained at Canseau,
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and the fishery on the coast, and the oil produced
from the cod and dog fish, is furnished by its own
fishermen. For salmon it is altogether dependant
upon the Labrador. Towards the autumn- of the
year the traders occasionally assort their corgoes
with potatoes, fish, and lumber, and if they reach
the Islands before the English ships arrive, they of-
ten yield a veryI handsome freight. The surplus re-
turns of rum, sugar, molasses, &c. are sold either at
Halifax, Quebec, or Newfoundland. The trade with
the latter affords a market for the agricultural pro-

- allbe of the county, consisting of cattle, vegetables,

' ind fresh meat, for which fish are invariably receiv-
‘ed in payment. :
From Lunenburg there are roads to Halifax, Hor-
ton, Liverpool, and Annapolis, which, for the want
of intermediate settlements, and on account of the
roughness of the land through which' they pass,have
been hitherto but imperfectly formed, and sustained
with difficulty, but the late interior improvements of
the Country have rendered them objects of more im-
portance, and they are now engrossing the peculiar
eare of the Legislature. The sea board in this vici-
nity is indented with several deep Bays, and may
“be said to be formed by a succession of peninsulas,
that are all thickly. inhabited, in addition to which
the river La Have gives it an extensive inland navi-
gation. The only remaining objects deserving notice
in this neighbourhood are the Ovens, which consist
_ of three deep. caverns, in the stratum of rock that
forms the sea wall. They have derived the name
from their peculiar shape. The largest is said to be
nearly sixty feet in length. Instormy weather the
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waves dash completely over the entrance of them
all, and on such occasions, the? are represented as
making a loud report, similar to the rapid and con-
tinued discharge of cannon. )

Township of New Dublin. This township is situat-
ed upon the harbour and river of La Have, and was
granted in the year 1760 to 260 proprietors from the
Colony of Connecticut, very few of whom made any
attemptsat settlement, and those who did, remained
there but three months, and then abandoned the
place. The landshave beensince re-granted to Ger-
mans and other persons. At the entranceandin the
outer harbour of La Have, there are, as in Chester
Bay, very many beautiful Islands affording shelter
for vessels, and convenient places for curing and dry-
ing fish. The western point of the Bay, Cape La
Have,is an abrupt cliff 107 feet above the sea, distant
18 leagues from the entrance of Halifax. One mile

S. E. of this Cape lies the great Black Rock, ten feet

high, and one hundred feet long, with deep water
round it. The inner harbour is formed by the river
which is very capacious_and navigable for fifteen
miles. At the entrance i$ a bar, with twelve feet on

it at low water, and sixteen at full tide. Inside of .

the bar-there are eight fathoms of water, with gra-
dual soundings to eighteen feet for nine miles. Fif-
teen miles from the mouth of the harbour there isa
bridge across the river. From this place it runsa
north westerly course for five miles, when it sepa-
rates into two branches, one of which runs in the
direction of "Anpapolis thirty miles, and the other,
passing through the settlement of New Germany,
communicatés with an extensive chain of lakes, and
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may be -traced to the same springs that feed the
Gaspereaux river that falls into the Basin of Minas.
There arc two water-falls on this river, one called
La Have falls, situated three miles above the bridge,
where the whole body of water contained in the
‘main river, rushes with inconceivable rapidity, over
: a precipice of twenty feet. TFhe other called, the In-
g dian falls, situated six miles higher on one of its
P8 branches, though discharging only half the quantity
of water, presents a cataract of much greater height
and beauty. There are upwards of thirty Saw Mills
m fed by this river, and a number of vessels are annu-
=, ‘ ally loaded: here for Great Britain, with timber, lum-
ber, and staves. Cod fish, sturgeon, halibut, salmon,
shad, alewives, herrings, &ec. are caught in great
abundance here. At the entrance of the river, about
two mﬂes above the Bar, may be traced the remains
of the French Fort, commenced abott 200 years ago.
In: this township; there is no  town, and the settlers.
are dispersed on. the banks of the rivers. The land
immediately round the harbour is stonyand moun-
m’g tainous, abounding with hemlock, spruce, black
o birch, beech, oak, and pines. Behind Cape La Have:

mi

, is situated Palmerston Bay, at the head of which is
m Petit river, whose waters take their rise at a great

" : distance in the Country. There are many valuable
| farms on the borders of this river.
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QUEEN’S COUNTY, ]

Is bounded on the east by the County of Lunen-
burg, on the north by the County of Annapolis, on
the west by the County of Shelburne, and on the
south by the Atlantic ocean. It contains two town-
ships (Liverpool and Guysborough,) and several set-
tlements. After passing the bounds of Lunenburg
County, the first harbour is Port Mediray, which is
remarkable both for its navigable capacity, and its
consequence as -a- fishing station. The entrance is
marked by a high hill on the western, and by low
ragged Island,on the southern side,and variesin depth
from five to fourteen fathoms. During the past year
eleven ships have been loaded there with timber for
the English market. Great quantities of salmon,
mackarel, and alewives, are taken at this place,and

- the Shore and Labrador fishery are both prosecuted .

with activity. There are upwards of twenty families
resident in the settlement, who have erected a Bap-
tist meeting-house and school house. A short dis-
tance up the river is Mill.Village, situated about six '
miles to the eastward of Liverpool. Several respec-
table and wealthy families reside at this place, which
contains a number of well built houses, a spacious
.Methodist chapel, and a school-house. The land in
the vicinity is better, and more suitable for agricul-
ture, than any other part of the county. There are
several mills here, built upon the most approved con-
struction, at which a great quantity of lumber is
prepared for exportation. In addition to the other
natural resources of this place, there is an abundant
supply of alewives, of which the inhabitants some-
times take three thousand barrels in one season.
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The town of Liverpool is built on a harbour of the
same name, formerly known by the French as the
harbour of Rosignol. It lies twenty-five leagues
west of Sambro light house, and fourteen miles west
of Cape La Have. Coffin’s Island, and the avestern
shore, form a deep bay, affording good anchorage for
large ships. On the southern end of the Island
stands a light house, which was commenced on the
30th May, 1811, and completed the 31st Dec\. 1815.

Diameter at the Base - - 28 feet

Height - - - - - - - 50

Lanterns diameter - - 17

Height - - - - - - 42

Total Height - - 5

It is said to be the best on the coast, andis distin-

guished from all others, by its light revolving every
two minutes. It has fourteen Argand lamps, with
well polished reflectors, and may be seen ordinarily
fifteen miles. Nature has formed a very convenient
inlet at this Island, which aflords a safe retreat for
coasting vessels, and as the beach is well suited for
curing fish, most of the Labrador fares are landed
here for that(_i)urpbse. It is computed that 20,000
quintals may be spread upon it at one time. Liver-
pool harbour never freezes over, and is accessible at
all seasons of the year, but isattended with the seri-
ous. inconvenience of having a bar across the en-
trance of theriver, with only nine feet of water at the
ebb and but fifteen at full tides. Large vessels there-
fore are occasionally compelled to anchor at a dis-
tance of three miles at Herring Cove, a small village,
containing about thirty families. Liverpool was first

settled in the year 1760, by a number of persons whe
VOL. II. 19
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removed from Massachusets. They were fttmcted
thither, by its well sheltered harbour, its éxtensive

‘river, and its extraordinary salmon fishery. Like

all of the early emigrantsto Nova-Scotia, they ex-
perienced during the first few years after their arri-
val most severe privations, and were compelled one
winter to subsist wholly upon wild rabbits. In the
year 1762, they were increased to eighty families,
‘and in the year 1764, during the administratiofi of

" Governor Wilmot, the settlement was formed into a

township, containing 100,000 acres, and divided into

200 shares. Liverpool is surrounded by hills, enjoys

a fine air, and is well supplied with excellent water.
It contains 150 dwelling houses, 50 commodious stores
and warehouses, with 26 wharves for the conveni-
ence of vessels. The public buildings are an Epis-
‘copal church, a Methodist chapel, and a Congrega-
tional Meeting house, all handsomely finished, a
Court-House and Jail, a block house and a schoel
house, capable of receiving 200 scholars. The latter
was built at the expense of James Goreham, Esquire,
who presented it to the town in 1805. Liverpool is
the best built town in Nova-Scotia. The houses are
spacious, substantially good, and well painted, and
there isan air of regularity and neatness in the place,
which distinguishes it from every other townin the
Province. Upon entering the inner harbour, the
most conspicuous object is the draw-bridge, over the
Liverpool river. It was built in the year 1816, by a
Joint stock Company, in whom the property is vested
by law for fifty years. The toll is regulated by the
Grand Jury and Court of Sessions. Itis 1100 feet
long, and sufficiently wide to admit of two carriages

4
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passing each other. It is supported by plles, and has
hitherto withstood the effects of the freshets “and the
ice in a manner to leave no doubt as to its durability -
The expence of its erection amounted to .£4000,
upon which it returns aninterest of nearly 4 per cent.
The trade of Liverpool isin a flourishing condition at

present. There are 56 sail of ships, brigs andschoo-

ners owned at this place, besides small :craft, the
united tonnage of which is 4,150 tons.”™ This ship-
ping is employed in the European, West Indian and
Coasting trade, and in the Labrador and Shore fish-
ery. The new commercial regulations have aug-
mented its commerce, and have occasioned a vast in-
crease in its coasting trade. One ofthe principal re-
sources of Liverpool is its export of Lumber, sup-
plxed ‘by inexhaustible forests, that surround it. The
extexrslve river ‘which falls into the harbour, a;nd the
numerous fakes connected with it, render the trans-
portation of this article easy and cheap. The river
fishery, which was one of the principal attractions to
the early settlers,-and sometiﬁ)e's sﬂpQ}ed them with
1,000. barrels of Salmon ih a season, though much in-
jured by the erection of Mills, is still productive, and
at the mouth of the harbour great quantities of mac-
karel and herrings are taken every year in seins.
a short distance up the river, there is another wood-
en bridge about 300 feet in length, situated near the
¢falls,” a beautiful cascade, around which are settled
50 families. In the year 1813 Liverpeool was visited
by awvery extraordinary influx of the sea. On the

19th of January, there was a severe gale of wind from-—
the southward, which terminated at 5 o’clock on the

morning of the 20thina thunder storm. From that
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time the waeather had become moderate, the wind
had ceased and the water was calm. At 11 o’clock
in the day it began to blow violently from the South
East,and immediately afterwards from theNorthward,

" when the sea appeared tohave suddenlyrisen 6 feet

aboveits ordinary level, and to be rushing with pro-
digious violence into the harbour. The vessels at
the wharves were swept away in an instant, some of
them having broken their fastenings, and others torn
away the piles to which they were attached. Five
of them were forced up the river, with as much ve-
locity .as if they had been under a press of sail, and
on the reflux alarge brig and a ship were driven over
the bar and carried out to sea. At the falls'the Ice
was immediately floated, and on itsrise destroyed the
bridge. In lessthan an hour the agitation of the wa-
ter subsided, and was succeeded by a breeze from
the North East, attended with sleet and hail. A rumb-
ling noise, not unlike that of thunder, having been
heard ashort time previous, and no similar influx
having been perceived in any harbour on the coast,
this phenomenon has been generally attributed to
the shock of an Earthquake.

Between Liverpool and the bounds of Shelburne
County, is Port Jdouton. Inthe year 1783 the British
legion, which had served with distinguished reputa-
tion in the American war, under Colonel Tarlton, be-

_gan a settlement at Harbour Mouton, and laid the

“foundation of a town, to which they gave the name
of Guysborough. They were not long in perceiving
that they had made a most injudicious selection for
settlement, the soil being stony and barren, and the
country having nothing to recommend it but its har-’
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bour. Although they had erected a number of houses
they resolved to abandon it, but while making prepa-
rations forremoving their effects, an accidental fire
which consumed the town to ashes, with all their
live stock, furniture and wearing apparel, filled up
the measure of their calamities, and rendered them
perfectly miserable. A more complete destruction
from that merciless element, was never known, and
had not a King’s ship been despatched from Halifax,
with provisions, for the relief of theinhabitants, they
must inevitably have perished from famine. Most
of those persons who suffered by the conflagration,
removed to Chedabucto bay, in the Easternmost ex-
tremity of the Province, a situation much more suit-
"able to their deserts, and affording them some con-
solation in the midst of their sufferings. There are
now about 50 families at Port Mouton, who subsist
chiefly by the lumber trade and fishery.

Westward of this place, and immediately within
¢¢ Little hope” is Port Jolie, otherwisc called Stor-
mont River, an inlet extending five miles in 'length,
but having scarcely sufficient water for large boats ;
a few fishermen are settled at this place. The third
inlet west of Liverpool, and within the County of
Queen’s, is Port Hibert, distinguished by the abrupt
head land on its western side,and by the position of
Green Island, which lies a mile to the S. W. of its en-
trance. Port Hibert presents at full tide a spacious
sheet of water, but on the ebb, the greater part of
the flats are exposed to view. There is, however,
good anchorage within its mouth atall times. The
dividing line between the County of Shelburne and
that of Queen’s strikes the headof this harbour, leav-
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ing the Western side within the former, and the Eas-
tern within the latter. The inhabitants of this place
are few in number, and were originally soldiers whe
settled here after the revolutionary war.

. The interior of this county is generally stony, and

-4 a great part of it is not susceptible of cultivation. At
Brookfield, Harmony and a few other places, where
2 the land is capable ofimprovement, there are some
” thriving settlements.
an
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SECTION 1V.
WESTERN DIVISION.

This Division contains two Counties, Annapolis
County and Shelburne County. The County of An-
napolis is bounded on the northand west by the bay
of Fundy, on the south by the Counties of Shelburne,
Lunenburg and Queen’s, and on the cast by King’s
County. It is divided into two Districts, the upper
and lower. The former contains three townships,
Wilmot, Granville and Annapolis, and thelatter three
—Clements, Digby and Clare.

Wilmot. 'Thistownship lies between Aylesford and
Granville, and extends upon the Bay of Fundy eigh-
teen miles and a half. It contains one hundred and
twenty thousand acres of land, and was established
on the 3d of March, 1774, when in obedience to the
orders of the Board of trade and plantations, it
was laid out in lots, containing 500 acres each, and
ordered to be sold at the rate of 6d. per acre. Not-
withstanding the fertility of the soil and the low price
affixed to the land, not a single farm was disposed of
for many years, in consequence of its having no har-
bour on the bay of Fundy, and being altogether des-
titute of a good road to the market of Halifax.—
These inconveniences operated as an effectual bar-
rier toits settlement until the year 1783, when a
number of loyalists from the United States obtained
grants of land, and removed thither with their fami-
lies. The great western post road runs through this
township parallel with the river, and is intersected
by many other roads, at right angles leading to the
bay of Fundy. These are again connected by others,
laid out in such a manner as to divide the land into

B
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compartments of convenient size, and render the

.whole accessible for cultivation. With the excep-

tion of the meadows formed by the Annapolis river,
the most inferior part of Wilmot is that adjoining the
post road, and a stranger can form no idea of the
extensive and beautiful settlements which lie be-
tween it and the bay of Fundy. Wilmot contains

no villages, though a small cluster of houses, have

formed the commencement of one, and received the
name of Lawrance town. The inhabitants are dis-
persed on their several farms, and engaged in the
cultivation of the soil, which is of an excellent quality
throughout the township. ‘There are within it se-
veral places of Worship, among which is a small but
well finished Church, situated within view of the
river, and embowered in a grove of venerable pines:
There is at present no resident Clergyman of the
Church of England, but it is occasionally visited
by a travelling Missionary. There are also two Me-
thodist chapels, and two Baptist Meeting houses.-—
It has been previously observed that from Digby to
Cornwallis, the coast of the bay of Fundy isformed
by a continued range of mountain, affording no shel-
ter to vessels, and that this inconvenience had ob-
structed the earlier settlement of that fine tract of
Country. To remedy this evil and enable the people
to export their staves and lumber, of which they
have a great quantity, a pier has been erected on
theshore of the bay,partly by voluntary contribution
and partly by provincial aid, which, though not yet

- completed according to the original design, effectually

answers the purposes of a port. The obstructions

in the bed of the river which is here shallow and
VOL. II. . 20
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narrow, have also been removed, and timber and
lumber may now, be rafted aith safety and ease to
«  those places of (’iepot to which the depth of water
admits of the passage of vessels. For the manufac-
turing of lumber there are upwards of twenty saw
mills, and for the grinding of grain five grist mills.
Granrille. The townships of Granville and Anna-
m polis, lie on the opposite sides of the river, and differ L
from Wilmot, in having large quantities of salt
marsh and dyke lands, the other consisting of upland
and interval. Granville comprehends the whole of
the peninsula between the eastern limit of Wilmot
i and Digby gut, and forius for twenty-eight miles the
north western boundary of the Basin and river of
Annapolis. It was granted in the year 1764, to 158
proprietors, who with their families, amounting in all
to 650 souls, emigrated from the old Colonies. The
post road, after passing through Wilinot, continues

throngh a small part of Granville, until it reaches '
Bridge town, where it crosses the river into the 5
township of Anunapolis.  Bridge town isa neat little

village,taking its n:me from the bridge that connects

i
L]

Granville with Annapolis, and deriving its origin and
support from the depot which is here formed at the
head of navigation for the trade of Wilmot and the
upper part of the two adjoining townships.  Situated
in the centre of a fertile country: thatis daily increas-
ing in wealth and populatiun,*un(f‘deriving peculiar -
advantages for the supply of a coasting trade, it is'
probable that its growth will keep pace with the
gerieral prosperity of. the County. It contains an
Episcopalian chuich, a Methodist chapcl and Baptis*
Meeting house, twenty-five dwelling Liouses and
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twelve stores, three inns and thirteen shops, belong-
ing to tradesmen. The buildings in this village are
neat, well painted and new, the ground having
been first laid out into squares and streets in the
year 1822, and its general appearance conveys an
idea of comfort and thrift. About fourteen miles
further down the river, there is another littie village
opposite to the town of Annapolis Royal, between

‘which there is ‘an established ferry. At this place

the river is wide and the current cxtremely rapid,
but on account of the eddies which form on both
sides of'it, it is passed with ease, and in moderate
weather with safety ; throughout the whole of the
front of the township, bordering on the Basin and
river, it is well cultivated and thickly settled, almost

" every farm being skirted with a portion of marsh.—

There are in Granville about 2225 acres of dyke

- land, and 1€00 acres of salt marsh, 10 saw mills and

2

four grist mills. As the inhabitants are spread over
a large surface, their places of Wership arealso at a
distance from ecach other—besides those already
mentioned in Bridge town, there are three Episcopal
churches, 1 Baptist and 2 Methodist Meeting houses.

About six miles below the ferry is situated Goat Is-
land, which sepafates the Annapolis Basin from that

_of Digby, and forms two entrances to the former ;—

the western channel though narrow is deep, and

. general]y preferred to others. A small peninsula ex-

tendmo' from the Granville shore,forms one of its sides.
On this point of land the first piece of ground was
cleared for cuttivation in Nova-Scotia, by the French.
—They were ‘induced to make this selection on ac-
count of the beauty of its situation, the good anchor-
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age opposite to it, the command which it ‘gave them
of the channel, and the facility it afforded of giving
, the earliest notice to the garrison at Port Royal, of
the entrance of an cnemy into the Lower Basin. In
the year 1827 the stone was discovered upon which
they had engraved the date of their first cultivation
of the soil, in memorial of their formal possession of
the country. It is about two feet and a half long,
and two feet broad, and of the same kind as that-
which forms the substratum of Granville Mountain.
On the upper part are engraved the square and com-
pass of thc Free-Mason, and in the gcentre, in large
and deep Arabic figures, the date 11606, It does not
appear to have been dressed by a Mason, but the in-
scription has been cut on its natural surface. The
stone itself has yie?ded to the power of the climate,
and both the external front and the interior parts of
the letters have alike suffered from exposure to the
weather ; the seams on the back part of it have
opened, and from their capacity to hold water, and
the operation of frost upon it when thus confined, it
is probable in a few years it would have crumbled to
picces. The date is distinctly visible, and although
the figure 0 is worn down to one half of its original
depth, and the upper part of the latter 6 nearly as
much, yet no part of them is obliteraied—they are
plainly discernable to the eye, and easily traced by
the finger. At a subsequent period, when the coun-
try was conquered by the Engiish, some Scotch
emigrants were sent out by Sir William Alexander,
who erectied a fort on the site of the French corn
ficlds, previous ta the Treaty of St. Germain’s. The’
remains of this Fort may be traced with great ease ;
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the old parade, the embankment and ditch have not
been disturbed, and preserve their original form. It
waswccupied by the French for many years after
the peace of 1632, and ncar the eastern parapet, a
large stone has been found, with the following mo-
numental inscription :

) LEBEL,

1643.

There are two other objects of curiosity in Granville,
one of which is a lake on the summit of a mountain;
and the other a deep ravine, in which ice may be
found throughout the summer; it is known by the
name of the ¢ Natural Ice-house.”

Jinnapolis.—The estensive improvements which
the French neufrals had made on the borders of the
Annapdlis River, became, after their expulsion firom
the country, an object of attention to the people of
the old colonies ; and in 1764 and 1765, five hundred
of them removed thither, and obtained a grant of
the Township of Annapolis, where they weresoon
after joined by a number of others. The upland,
though gencrally good, is stony, a defect which is
more than counterbalanced, by the extent and ferti-
lity of the dyke land by which it is bordered. The
buildings in this and the neighbouring Township of
Granville are very respectable, and in both there are
extensive orchards of apple trees. It contains but
one town, Annapolis Royal. ‘Jhis place, from the
earliest settlement of the Colony, until the estab-
lishment of Halifax, was the Capital of the Province,
and HeadQuarters of the forces of France and Eng-
land, as they alternately possessed the 601111try,
Much of the history of Nova-Scotia is connected
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with it, for the capture of Port Royal was formerly
considered the conquest of ‘the whole pemnqula.
In 1750 the seat of Government was removed t

lifax.  Although formerly the capital, Annapohs
does not appear to have been larger than it is at pre-
sent. The Baron La Honton represents it as an in-
considerable place, consisting of a few houses two
stories in height, and supported by the traffic of
skins, which the savages brought thither to ex-
change for European goods. An association deno-
‘minated the ¢ Farmer’s Company,” had magazines

_ here, which were under the care of the Governor.

The Commission of Governor at that period seems
to have been valued only for the superior privileges
which it conferred upon the person holding it, of
conducting a lucrative trade ; he was at once com-
mander, merchant, fisherman, and vintner. He
compelled the inhabitants to make their purchases
of him, and to give him the preference in the sale of
their commodities. =~ He appropriated to himself
the rigging of wrecked vessels,and passed his time in
sailing up the different rivers, to trade with the
Indians. A Mr. Perrot, one of the French Govern-
ors, was captured while on a voyage across the

* The following is one of the Returns of the espense of the es-

tablishment, for one year, previous to 1750 :

Establishment of Nova Scotia and Annapolis Royal.
per diem. per annum.

Govemor of Annapolis Royal; £2100 -or £1000 00
and Nova Scotia

Lieutenant-Governor 10 0 or 182 10 0
Secretary to the Governor 10 0 or 182 10 0
Fort Major 40 or 73 00
Commiseary to the Master

and Todge Advocats } 40 or 73 00
Chaplain €0 or 121 13 4
Surgeon 30 or 54150

Fire and Candles for the Garr'son 7 0 or 12715 0
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Bay of Fundy, by a piratical vessel, and under-
went the punishment of ducking, which was so se-
verely executed as to cause his death. Under such
rulers it may easily be supposed, that little care was
bestowed upon its improvement or defence. As the
French houses were all erected of wood, there are
none of them now in existence ; and the only traces
of their industry are to be found in the fortifications
of the military post. The town is built on the.ex-
tremity of a peninsula, which projecting into the ri-
ver forms two beautiful Basins, one above and the
other below the. town. Annapolis is unfortunately

encompassed by Government inclosures, alarge com- -

mon, and glebe land. From these causes-any consi-
derable .extension of the place is rendered impracti-
cable, and many cnterprising aud wealthy persons,
who would willingly have settled here in 1783, were
compelled to seek dresidence elsewhere. The lum-
ber and agricultural produce which was formerly
transported from it, are shipped at Bridgetown.—
It is now nolonger the mart, at which the inhabitants

of the County are solely supplied with European

manufactures ; St. Johp,“ N. B. receiving the greater
part of its exports, and giving in cxchange for the
fish, lumber and agricultural produce of this side of
the bay of Fundy, British goods, and the rum, sugar,
and molasses of the West Indies. But notwithstand-
ing this diminution of the resources it once enjoyed,
it is still a respectable town, and it participatés in the
general prosperity of the extensive and populous
County of which it is the capital. It contains a Court
House, Church, Methodist. chapel, an Academy,a
Government house or residence for the senior mili-
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tary officer, commodious barracks, and several hand:
some private buildings. The fortifications are erect-
ed on the south western extremity of the peninsula,
from whence there is a fine view of the Basin, the
settlements on the Granville shore and the upper
part of Clements. The works which have been
erected at very great expense, are in a dilapidated
condition, the cannon dismmouuted, and the whole
incapablein the present state, of sustaining a defence.
The ground on which they are built, contains twen-
ty-eight acres of land, within which space, there are
two ranges of wooden buildings, containing quarters
for officers,a large barrack,two stories in.heighth,built
of brick, an hospital, mess house, store houses, &c.
all of which are in a state of decay. Nearly opposite
to the entrance of the Fortis a field containing 13
acres and nine tenths, which was granted on the Sth
of June, 1763, to the Hon. Richard Bulkley and
John Newton, in trust for fortifications or whatever

‘use his Majesty or his successors should appoint.-—

On one extremity of it stands the Church, and on the
other the Academy. The latter was erected in the
year 1827, partly by voluntary subscription, and
partly by provincial aid. It receives for its support
an annual vote of £300, which, together with the
tuition money, enables the Trustees to engage two
masters to take charge of the institution. The
building contains two distinct schools, one of which
“is devoted to Classical Education, and the other to
‘the elementary and higher branches that are com-
monly taught in Englishschools. From this town to
Halifax, besides the post roadgust mentioned, there
is another and shorter road formed a few years since
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called the military line, having been settled by dis-
banged soldiers. On that portion of it within the
County of Annapolis, is situated Dalhousie settle-
ment—this road commences at Hammond’s Plains,
near Bedford Basin, and runsin a strait course to
Annapolis, through that great expanse of forest which
lies between the townships on the Bay of Fundy,
and those on the shores of the Atlantic. Though
recently opened, this road has been subsequently
intersected by many others, and numerous settle-
ments have been formed on either side ofit. Atthe
upper end of the township, near the Nictau branch
of the river, is aroad to Liverponol, and another to
Lunenburg, and between the former place and An-
napolis Royal, a direct communication has lately
been effected through a tract of good upland, capa-
ble of cultivation, well irrigated by a number of large

" brooks, and possessing an extensive internal com-
munication by means of numerous lakes of fresh wa-
ter. In addition to these advantages, there is a
steam-packet plying between this towrs and St. John,
New-Brunswick, and an excellent stage-coach runs
three times a week to Halifax, passing through parts
of Granville, Wilmot, Aylesford, Cornwallis, Hor-
ton, Falmouth, Windsor, Newport, and Halifax
Townships, and performing the journey (130 miles)
with ease in two days.

Clements is bounded on the west by the township
of Digby, on the north by the Basin, on the east by
the township of Annapolis, and on the south by un-
granted lands. It was settled in the year 1784, dur-
ing the administration of Governor Parr, by loyal

emigrants and disbanded soldiers. The land in this
VOL. II. 21
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i township thouéh hilly and irregula.r,° is in general of
a superior quality, with the exception of the eas{ern
extremity, which is rocky and barren. It lies in the
direct route between Annapolis and Digby, and is
intersected by three roads parallel with the harbour,
S *  with which they all communicate, by means of
' others crossing them at right angles. One of these
roads passes through the. settlement made by the
: Hessians, another through that of the Waldechers,
4 and the third through that of the Loyalists. About
eight miles from Annapolis is sitnatedMoose River,*
which takes its rise in lakes a few miles distant, and
el discharges itself into the Basin, a little below Goat.
' Island. It hardly deserves the name of a river, as it -
is not navigable more than half a mile, when it be-
comes a mere brook. It forms, howevyer, at its mouth
a valley of extraordinary beauty. - Embosomed be-
tween two lofty hills, one of which is covered with
hanging wood, and the other cultivated to its summit,

el

and terminated by a neat little church, this sylvan
stream winds through the valley which now spreads
into a broad and level intervale bordered with beau-
ol tiful upland slopes, and now glides between the
frowning hills, until it reaches the cove, where it
joins the waters of the Basin. To those who delight '
in the natural scenery of our country, it must be a '
source of regret, that a manufactory recently estab-
lished at this place, if it ever goes into successful
operation, will require forits use the beautiful woods,
which nature has produced on these precipitous

= * This river roceived its name from the French ¢¢ Riviere de
original’> so early as 1609, and is thus marked on a plan of that

'i ) date. Its Indian pame is much more appropriate, and signifies
a stream between high hills.
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banks, as if to place them out of the region of culti-
vation, and protect them from the hand of man. On
the eastern side of the river, where it ceases to be
navigable, is a furnace for smelting iron ore. It had
_fong been known that iron ore existed in this coun»
ty in great abundance, but with the exception of
an ill directed eflort many years ago at Nictau, no
attempt had been made to manufacture it. In the
year 1825 an association was formed for this purpose,
“ called the Annapolis Iron Mining Company,” the
capital of which was divided into one hundred shares,
of one hundred pounds each. An act of incorporation
was passed by the Legislature, and the Governor
was authorised to grant to the company, a charter
under the great seal of the Province. It was also
protected by a clause of the act which provided that
no Stockholder should be liable for any debts con-
tracted by the company, beyond the amount of his
shares. As a further encouragement, two bounties
of £600 each, were offered for the manufacture of
a certain quantity of hollow ware and bar iron. The
associates immediately purchased an extensive and
valuable vein of ore, situated about three miles and
a half from the mouth of Moose river, and another
v ~ of equal importance at Nictau, in the upper part of
Annapolis township, with one or two of smaller ex-
tent in other places. The local situation of the for-

mer place, gave it a decided superiority over any
other part of the county, being distant only eight.
miles from Annapolis, twelve from Digby, and fifty
from St. John, New-Brunswick, accessible by water,
v and affording good anchorage. They therefore se-
lected the eastern bank of the mouth of the river, as
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the site of their buildings, and erected a large smelt-
ing furnace, stock house, coal houses, stores, &c.
The extensive forest at the head of the river sup-
plies them with an abundance of charcoal. They
have already manufactured a quantity of hollow
ware of very superior quality, and are now engaged
in laying the foundation of forges for making bar
iron. To carry these objects into eflect, they have
encreased their capital to more than twice its origin-
al amount. The quality of the ‘ore has now been
ﬁiﬁy ascertained, and the only part of the experi-
ment yet to be decided, is whether they can com-
pete with the English ware, or whether the cost of
production will not exceed the value of the article
when manufactured, a result which must very much
depend upon the economy and skill, with which the
establishment is managed. A large and handsome
stone bridge has lately been built acress the river,
at the joint expense of the Company and the Pro-
vince, and forms at once an excellent road aud a sub-
stantial dam, for the rescrvoir of water necessary for
the supply of the machinery of the manufactory.—
Four miles below this place is the river Imbert, com-
monly called Bear river. This beautiful stream is
about two thirds of a mile wide at its mouth, and is
navigable three miles and a half for vessels of sixty
tons, which are thern impeded by a wooden bridge.
About a mile an a half above this place, it receives
the waters of two extensive branches, one running
south east twelve miles, and the other south west
thirteen, and both connected with extensive lakes.
The land between these branches, and for some dis-
tance above is of very superior quality, but is

i
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bounded in the rear by extensive barrens, anda
dreary waste of ‘¢ burnt land.” Clements for many
years past, has had a large herring fishery, which has
much enriched the neighbourhood, but latterly it has
not been so productive. Many causes have been
assigned for this failure, butit is probable that the
erection of numerous wears by destroying great
quantities of young fish, has gradually diminished
the fishery. It was at its heighth in 1783, when the

loyalists removed thither, and continued undiminish- -

ed until the year 1819, previous to which period the
annual exports from Clements and Digby, amounted
from sixty to one hundred thousand boxes, which
were then severally worth five shillings. They also
supplied the neighbouring inhabitants, as well as
those in the interior, and furnished an excellent
manure for the lands adjacent to the wares. Since
that period, they have in a great measure deserted
their old haunts, for although a great quantity is still
taken, their appearance is uncertain, and their num-
bers not to be compared with the hosts* that throng-
ed the Annapolis Basin. The first ¢¢ run” of the
herrings commences in April, and is called the
¢ Granville fish,” from following the shore of that
township, and though not so numerous, are twice the
size of those that arrive during the last of May.—-
They are full of spawn, in poor condition, and of an
inferior quality. Of this kind it requires from fifty
to seventy, and of the other nearly two hundred to
*fill the box, into whieh they are packed for exporta-
tion, which always contains half a bushel. The

* The word herring is derived from the German ¢ Heer’ an army,
to denote their great numbers and their gregarious propensities.
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larger herrings are generally taken in nets, but those
that follow during the season are invariably caught
in wears. The second * run’ differs from their pre-
decessors, not only in their size, but in not spawning
within the Basin. They are frequently accompanied
by & vast number of young fish, two small to be fit
for use, and too numerous to render their selection
an object worth attention. When this occurs, the
propﬁetors of the wears open the gates, and allow
the whole to escape. This run continues until the
first of October, but is uncertain after the fifteenth of
August. In former years they have been known to
continue in the harbour as late as the middle of No-
vember, and in 1796, a quantity equal to 200 barrels
was frozen into a solid mass- in one of the wears.—.
When the weather is cloudy, and the wind on shore,
itis considered a favourable time for catching them,
but moonlight is unpropitious. After being properly
selected, they are cured by smoke, and are worth

_four shillings per box in Nova-Scotia, and 7s. 6d. in

the West Indies.
Dighy. The township of Digby was originally
formed out of an extensive tract of land granted to

- Alexander M‘Nutt, and his associates, which for a

failure on the part of the grantees to perform the
conditions of their patent, reverted to the crown.—
It was then granted to 475 loyalists, and contained
91,600 acres, exclusive of reservations made by the
Surveyor General of woods for naval purposes, and
381,200 acres of unappropriated land. Many of these
persons having left the Province and returned to
their native Country, the patent was escheated, and
the resident proprietors confirmed in their possesions,
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the land reverting to government for non improve-

ment,being about 31,230acres. This township.contains :

Long Island and’Brier Island within its limits, the
whole of the northern and part of the southern side
of St. Mary’s bay; and extends from the boundary
of Clements, near the Grand Jogginl,lto Sissiboo.
The town of Digby is situated on the gradual slope
of a hill which commands a view of part of Gran-
ville and Clements, and the broad and handsome
basin that receives the collected waters of Annapo-
lis, Moose, and Bear rivers. This place, from its
position at the entrance of these rivsrs, the shelter it

affords to vessels navigating the Bay of Fundy, and --
the advantages it possesses for prosecuting the mack- .

arel and cod fishery, must eventually be a place of
considerable importances. It is peculiarly adapted to
ship building, and the enterprise of its inhabitants,
has of late years been directed to this branch of busi-
ness. It contains a Court-House, a spacious and
well finished Church, and a number of neat and
comfortable private dwelling-houses. The soil in
its neighbourhood is light and gravelly, and well
suited to raising Indian corn, although it is not suffi-
ciently strong to raise wheat,-but on the extended
peninsula to the Petit pas€age, and at a distance of a
mile or two from the town, it is of abetter quality.
At the head of St. Mary’s bay, is an extensive fract
of marsh land. The air of Digby is remarkably sa-
lubrious, the water excellent, and the town rendered
" particularly agreeable in. summer, by a cool sea-
breeze. It is much frequented during the autamn
ty company from New-Brunswick.

A steam packet runs twice a week in summer be -
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tween Digby and St. John. About three miles below
the town, the waters of the Basin are connected with
the bay of Fundy, by a passage through the north
mountain, called St. George’s channel, but more
generally known by sailor’s as Digby Gut. "It seems
to have been formed by some violent effort of na-
ture, its sides being nearly perpendicular. 3‘ At its
entrance is a light-house, well sitvated to protect the
trade of the bay of Fundy. The inhabitants of Dig-
by have within these few yexrs past, been very suc-
cessful in the mackarel fishery. This fish, so justly
celebrated, both for the elegance of its shape, and
its merit as an article of food, has maintained its re-
putation through a long succession of ages, having
been highly esteemed by the Romans, who extract-
ed from it the famous sauce ¢ garum.” Ttis to be
found on the coast as far as Virginia, although our
vessels seldom pass Cape Cod, in search ofit. The
former tedious and uncertain mode of ¢ trailing’ is
wholly superseded by arecent discovery of the Ame-
rican fishermen. The first attempts to participate
with that ingenious and enterprising people in this
lucrative branch of business were made at Digby in
the year 1824, and* the success that attended
these experiments, was such as subsequently to at-
tract all the small craft of thatQpart of the Province.
They set sail from the County of Annapolis for the
fishing ground, from the 1st to the 6th of June, but
the América’ns, with their usual activity, always de-
part for their stations six weeks earlier. The ves-

sels employed in this business are from 20 to 55 tons,

* This account is compiled from notes of conversatioas, which I
haye held with the persons engaged in it, and committed to paper
at the time.
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and the whole voyage occupies from four to six
weeks, according to the weather. They are fitted
out upon shares. The merchant furnishes the schoo-
ner, the salt, provisions, and fishing apparatus, for
which he receives half the catch, and the crew di-
vide the other half equally among them. ‘The cer-
tainty of finding the fish, and the celerity with which
they are taken, are such, thatan experienced fisher-
man has but little advantage over an active lands-
man, and an able bodied young man commonly earns
at this work, from five to nine pounds per month.
The skipper is always provided with a barrel of old

pickled herring, orecither {resh or stale mackarel for

bait, which is cut up into small pieces,” and’thrown

- overbaard, for the purpose of alluring the fish to rise

to the surface, and sometimes he scatters a small
quantity of'salt upon the water, which has a similar
effect. In this scems to consist the great secret of the
mackarel fishery. As soonas this food is thrown upon
the waters, although there be no fish visible, miriads
rise up and surround the vessel.  As the cutting of
the bait into minute particles is a work of time and
labour, American ingenuity has invented a machiue
for that purpose, very similar in shape and construc-
tion to a hand organ. [t consists of a smnall box,
through the centre of which passes a circular wooden
bar, covered with the blades of knives, and turned
by means of a small handle. When this is put in
motion the bait is cut into innumerable small pieces.
As soon as the mackarel rise to the surface, the fish-
crmen lay the vessel too under the mainsail, and
stow the other sails ; they then bait their hooks with

a piece of fresh mackarel or shark, and when they
VOL. II. 22

e Az S



~—

. ) 170

" bite freely, fish with the lines in their hands, and
at other times with rods. While the mackarel con-
tinue to take the bait eagerly, the whole'crewis bu-
sily employed in catching them; butas soon as there
is any’intermission, they remove them out of the in-
fluence of the sun, and commence the operation of
splitting and salting. The barrels cost 3 shillings
a piece, and when filled contain 170 mackarel, sell-
ing by wholesale for 17s. 6d. and at retail for £1.
Vex:y many are consumed within the county, the :

i " rest are sold at St. John, and exported to the West Y

; Indies, where they are worth about six dollars per .

* barrel. Although they are generally packed at sea,

- a different practice sometimes prevails, and it is found

thag they will keep, if well salted, for three weeks

v in ¢ Kinches,” orseparate apartments made athwart

" the hold of the vessel, but they are not considered

X § : equal in quality to those preserved ia barrels. Our

| vessels seldom accomplish more than three, and

i - never exceed four trips during the season, discon-

§ tinuing the fishery by the 1st. of November, although

the Americans persevere for nearly six weeks longer.

The mackarel taken in the autumn, are always fat-

ter and better than those caught earlier in the sea-

son ; but in the year 1826, the June fare was fully
equal in quality to the catch of October. On the
western side of St. Mary’s bay, and twelve miles
from its head, is an extensive and beautiful river,
which still retains its Indian name ¢ Sissiboo.” This

word in the Micmac language signifies ¢ big river,” ' .

an appellation which was given to it, on account of v

its discharging the largest body of fresh water of any k.

river in that part of the Province. It is navigable

-
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about four miles from iys mouth, but is then inter-
sected by a rapfd. At Sissiboo river thereis a very
“pretty little settlement called Weymouth. The situ-
ation of this place is very pleasing, and there are a
number of respectable inhabitants, who have ex-
tensive farms, under a good state of cultivation.
They have acommon, a glebe, and school lands,
‘and the Society has -provided them with a resident
Clergyman. 1
The township of Clare includes the settlement of
4New Edinburgh, which was granted by Governor
Parr, in 1783, to fifty-five associates. Itliesbetween
Digby and Yarmouth, and is settled almost exclu-
sively by Acadians. These people are the descend
ants of those who were transported to Massachusetts,
and after the peaceof 1763 were permitted to return
to Nova-Scotia. The same frugality and industry
for which they had been conspicuous in this Country,
enabled them to riseabove the want and distress into
which they had been plunged by theirexile. They
built a few small fishing vessels, and made frequent
visits to the coasts of their native land. With the
Indians they had always been connected as well by
religion as by intermarriage, and as the French lan-
guage was better understood by the Savages than
that of any other European nation, they preferred to
trade with their old acquaintances and friends, and
the neutrals were thus enabled to derive great advan-
tage from their traffic. Having applied for leave to
return to Nova-§cotia, and to settle on the southern
side of St. Mary’s Bay, warrants of survey were
issued by Michael Francklin, Esq. Lieutenant-Go-

‘vernor, dated 1st July, 1768, for that tract of Country
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between Yarmouth and Sissiboo, .to which he gave
the name of Clare. At that time this part of the coast
was not only unsett‘]ed,btit very remote {from any Eng-
lish village, and only accessible by water. The soil
wasnaturally good and could be enriched by the sea
weed, with which the beach wasatall times covered.
There were also some small coves fit for the recep-
tion of shaliops—the fishery on the coast yielded therft
a constant supply of wholesome food, and the pecu-
liar seclusion of the place was inviting, as. well on
account of its affording the prospect of ‘]iving»for
many years apart from the English, as of the unin-
terrupted enjoyment of their religicn. Here they
were soon joined by many of their friends and rela-
tives, and in 1800 they numbered 175 families or
1050 souls, and in 1’828, had increased to 2038.—
Their parish register has supplied us with the follow-

ing table :—

Year. Marriages. Births. -.  Burials.
1818 . . . 12 54 . 1 . 17
1819 . . . 10 58 . . . 14
1820 . . . 12 61 . . . 12
1821 . . . 10 67 . . . %
1822 . . . 18 (1 D,
1823 . . . 16 Mo, . .9

The main post road from Halifax to Shelburne
passes through this settlement, which is extended

for many miles on the shore, and resembles a large

and straggling village. The moment a traveller en-

_ters Clare, the houses, theimplements of “husbandry,

the foreign language and uniform but peculiar dress
of the inhabitants, excite his surprise that any town-

ship in Nova-Scotia shoul/d' possess such a distine-
i
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~tive characier. The Acadians are far behind their
nelghbours in their system of agricylture. They
manifest a great repugnance to penetrate into the
woods, and instead of spreading over the Country,
they subdivide their land on the sea coast, and retain
their children around them. They preserve their
language and their customs with peculiar attach-
ment, and thodéh their traffic naturally leads them
to an intercourse with the English, they never in-
termarry with them, adopt their manners or remove
into their villages. This does not arise from an aver-
sion to the English Government, but is ascribable

rather to habit, national character and their system
of education. But if they are inferior to the English -

settlers in those arts, which tend to strengthen and
advance society, they may proudly challenge a com-
parison in the domestic and social virtues, Unambi-
tious and frugal, they live within their means; devot-
ed to their old form of Worship, they are not divided
by religious discord ; and being cheerfulin their dis-
position and moral in their habits, thvey enjoy perhaps
as much happiness as is consistent with the frailties
of human nature. This townshipand the settlement
of Eel Brook in the adjoining County of $helburne,

are at present comprlsed within one Parish, and the

duties are performed by the Abbs Segowne, a most
active and diligent Missionary, who undertook the
“charge of the settlement at a very early period, and
regardsit with the most devoted attachment. Clare
is in a flourishing cendition. There area number of
small vessels owned in it, and the surplus produce of
the land and the profits of the fishery, enable the in-
habitants to enlarge and emprove their farms, and.to



s s kb, s g et a8 ey 2T

174

ki

purchase such articles of foreign growth as are 'ne@sfﬂ-
sary to their comfort. They have two Chapels, one -
at either end of the village—that which stands at -
the eastern extremity is one of the largest places of
Worshipin Nova-Scotia, and reflects great credit on
- the liberality of the people, who have erected and-
finished it without any foreign aid or assistance what-
ever. They have several grist mills, and upwards of
30saw mills. In the summer of 1820, this township
was visited by a most awful conflagration ; a long
continuance of dry. weather had completely evapo-
rated-all the moisture of the surface of the ground,
and rendered the forest combustible. While the
Ceuntry was in this state, an accidental fire, which
commenced’ in the adjoining County, spread with
such - rapidity and ‘violence, that it swept over the
greater part of the village, before the wretched peo-
‘ple were aware ofits approach. Their houses, cat-
tle, furniture and personal effects, were in most in-
stances destroyed, without their being able to make -
an effort for their preservation. On this occasion the
most liberal contributions were made for their relief
by the inhabitants.of Nova-Scotia and New Bruns-
wick, and the traces ofthe calamity are now no long-
er visible. The only ohject of interet izt this town-
ship, remaining to be noticed,is a well at no great dis-
tance from the banks of Salmon vaer‘ﬂghlch is affect-
eﬁn an extraordirary manner by the tides; being
emptied of its contents at high water, but filled as
soon as the ebb has taken place. No"sgltis’factory
cause has yet been assigned for this phenomenon.
The- western district, which extends frgm Bear
river to the south west line of the County, and_con-
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tains Clarge, Digby, and part of Clements, has not
the same advantages of salt marshes and fertile in-
tervals as the eastern district, nor isthe uplandin
general so favourable for tillage. The surface soil
however is no where impracticable, the growth of
native wood is excellent, angﬁ%undant, the pastu-
rage remarkably sweet, healtby, and(considering the . -
nature of the climate) oflong duratibn,aﬂd the streams
-of fresh water, both numerous and durable.-~
To this enumeration of its advantages may be ad-
ded the peculiar formation .of the district, which,
owing to the indentations made by Anmapolis basin
and St. Mary’s bay, brings fish, sea manure, and
boat navigation within the reach of | every settler.
The district yields for exportation, beyond what is
required for its own consumption, considerable quan-
tities of dry and pickled fish, lumber, neat cattle,
sheep, butter, oats, and barley. The culture of &
wheat, i'ye, and indian corn, is more or less practiss’ -
ed, but not with such success’ as to preclude the ne-
cessity of importing a proportfon of those articles. ..
Green crops of all kinds succeed well,; and in general
the same may besaid of pulse, hops, fruits, and gar-
den stuff. Much of this western district yet remains
in a rude and uncultivated state, but the rapid in-
crease Of population must soon subdue it. By the
census taken A. D. 1827, the number of souls appear-
ed to be about six thousand ; and upon a careful
comparison of older tables, it would seem that the
annual increase has been at the rate of nearly five
per cent.
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COUNTY OF SHELBURNE.

This County is bounded on the east by Queen’s
County, on the north by Annapolis County, and on
the south and west by the Atlantic ocean. It cor-
tains four Townships—Yarmouth, Argyle, Barring-
ton, Shelburne. ' .

The Township of ¥armouth lies between Clare and
Argyle, with the latter of which it forms a_district,
and is bounded on the west by the Atlantic ocean,
and on the east by ungranted lands. Its medium
length is about twenty, and its breadth twelve miles.
It comprises about 100,000 acres of land, exclusive
of allowances for lakes, of which eighty have been
already exi)]ored. The principal one, lake George,
is, next to Rossignol, the largest in the Province.
Besides these lakes, the township is intersected by
the Yarmouth, Chebogue, Chegoggin, Beaver, Sal-
mon, and Tusket Rivers. The face of the country
is very agreeably diversified, and in point of séénery
“it is one of the most beautiful portions of Nova-Scotia.
The climate is more temperate than that of less in-
sulated parts of the Province, the mercury very
rarely falling as low as Zero, nor rising higher than
800, The mean temperature is about 480. At a
short distance from the salt water, apples, plumbs,
and cherries, succeed well ; and on the banks of the
Tusket—pears, peaches, and .melons ripen. The
'sea breeze and the fogs which occasionally occur in
summer, render Yarmouth more suitable for the pro-
" duction of potatoes and grass, the manufacture of
_butter and cheese, and the rearing of cattle, than
for the culture of grain, of which not more than five

thousand bushels were raised in 182%7. The soil of
VOL. II. 23
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the upland is in generd! strong and productive, but
requires much labour in the first instance, before it
can be brought into a state of cultui'e “The marshes,
though extensive, are very mfemm' to those at the
head of the Bay of Fundy. They ygxeld when dyked
good grass, but are too spongy to adirnit of the use of
the plough,partaking more of the qua‘Jlty of peat,than
of alluvial deposit. The principal harbour is Cape
Forchu, which is large and well sh\eltered s
surrounded by mud flats, that are baregat low tldes,
but the channel is navigable for large ships, as far as
theupper part of Yarmouth village, ani!l for small
craft, as far as the foot of the lock at Mxl‘ton, while
the sound aﬁ'qrds good anchorage, for vesse}s of any
size. Chebogue river is navigable six or seven miles
from the sea, and expands at its mouth into a good
harbour. The first white. inhabitants in this part of
the country, were a few Acadians from the Port
Ro‘ya,l‘ Colony, who- formed several little settlements
in t)he district, since called Yarmouth. The remains
of a flourishing one still exist atthehead of the Che-
goggin marsh, and the apple tr:ees, stone walls, and
cellars, at Crocker’s point, on Chebogue river, are
said to be the relicts of an extensive hamlet of the
same peopie. The most compact village was at Ray-
nard’s falls, fifteen miles up the Tusket river. To
this place they fled for refuge, when the sentence of
general trénsf)ortation was passed u pon them in 1755.
But even the solitude and seclusion of this spot did
‘not shelter them from the purilﬂt/gf}heu' enemies.
A boat, dispatched from an armed vessel in the
, mouth of the Tusket, and guided by native pilots, as-
cended the river and its chain of lakes, to invade

-
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this asylum, and advanced within a mile of the vil-
lage. At a narrow strait, where the river is con-
tracted to twenty or thirty yards in width, and the
umbrageous branches of the sombre pines overarch-
ed the pass, and enveloped it in shade. An ambus-
cade had been formed by the fugitives, and the un-
_suspecting crew, surpnsed under the very muzzles of
their assailant’s guns, received a most dreadful dis-
charge of musketry, which either killed or wounded
the whole party. This petty triumph, th:)ugh it
might gratify revenge, and procrastinate their capti-
vity, only served to render their fate more certain,
and they were at last compelled to fly. Some escap-
ed to the woods, and becoming domiciliated with the
Indians, never after wished to return to the haunts,
or the habits of white men ; but the greater part
were captured, and transported with their familiesto
New England. After the pacification of 1763, they
were penﬁitted to return, and the Acadians of Clare,
Eel Brook, and Pubnico, are chiefly the descendants
of these people. During the period which interven-
ed between their expulsion and their return, the
country was settled by the English.

On the 9th of June, 1761, a few families, finally °
amounting to 85 souls, arrived from Sandwich,a
small town near Plymouth, in New-England. Their
chief inducement to remove to Nova-Scotia, was the
extensive marsh of Chebogue, and the convenience
of the coast for carrying on the‘\ﬁsherg'. The great-
er part of them settled at the head of the marsh, on »
the site of a French settlement, and in most instances
they erected tlleir houses on the cellars, which had
been dug by their predecessors. Having finished
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them so “far as to afford them a coinfortable shelter,
they undertook the serious task of passing their first
winter in the dreary and lonely spot of which they
had taken possession. They had brought with them
two horses, six oxen, fifty cows and calves, and two
hogs. The horses they immediately sent backas
uselessincumbrances. Of the horned cattle, twenty-

- seven died of hunger and exposure to the weather,

and' the rest were killed for food. The winter was
unuspally severe, and the snow lay for months, near-
ly four feet deep. An accident having befallen the
vessel on which they wholly depended for their sup-
plies, they were reduced to the most pitiable straits
fer want of provisions. For a long time they were
without bread,’i potatoes or any substitute, and after
their meat was consumed, they were constrained to
sustain- nature by making use of the hides of the
cattle, and one or two actually perished "for want of
“-guitable nutriment. As the spring advanced the re-
collection of theif past sufferings had a different eflect
‘on different minds. Six families, terrified and dis-
heartened, returned home as soon as they could
procure a conveyance, while the remainder, reduced
in number to thirty-eight souls, resolved to exert
themselves in such a manner as to prevent the re-
currence of similar misfortunes. Ina short time they
were joined by several other emigrants from differ-
ent fishing towns of New England, and in six years,
they compuﬁed as many as sixty families. On the
7th of April, 1767, a general gfant of the township
was passed in one hundred and fifty shares of 666
acres each, with reservations for the use of Govern-
ment, and a space of 300 feet from the high water
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mark, on the harbours of Cape Forchu and Che-
hogue, for the use of the fisheries. There is there-
fore no ungranted lund in the township. Yarmouth
has always been in a state of steady improvement,
and from its local advantages, and the enterprising
spirit of its inhabitants, it promises to become a most

flourishing and wealthy place.

souls. houses. horned horses. sheep. swine.
cattle.

L7 In 1790 there were 1300 and 200 1425 92 _ 1330 370
1808 2300 340 | 2000 224 3000 900
© 1822 4000 570
1827 . 4350 620 4000 220 8000 1500

Of these there are forty families, belonging to the
Church of England, amounting to 200 souls, and
families of Catholics, amounting to 40, and 720 fami-

. lies of Dissenters ofdifferent denominations. ‘There
are 10,000 acres of land, 1,000 acres of dyked marsh,
and 2,000 of undyked marsh, under cultivation of
different kinds. From which are annually produced,
among other articles, about 5,000 tons of hay, 120,-
100 bushels of potatoes, 100,000 pounds of butter and -
cheese. The three latter have most deservedly a
high reputation. There arein the township a Court
House, (including within it a Jail) an Episcopal
church, and a Congregationalist, Baptist, 8od Me-
thodist Meeting House, eighteeﬁ small school houses,
fourteen grist mills, and six hundred and twenty
dwelling houses. The registered vessels belonging
to, and employed from Yarmouth were,

year. vessels. tonnage.
In 1790 26 544

1808 41 1880

1828 _ 65 -3000

Two of these are employed in the trade with Liver-

{




1B e et L -

182

pool, in England. About twenty voyages are made
annually to the West Indies, and the rest of the ship-
ping is employed in coasting and fishing. The duties
collected at this place, and paid into the Provincial
Tr;sasuty, are upwards of £1000 per year. Onall
the rivers there are contiguous lines of settlement,
and the clusters'of the farm houses, in some places,
approach to the village form, as at Chebogue cove,
Ohio, Wellington, &c. Yarmouth and Milten are
classed among the towns of Nova-Scotia. The for-

mer is situated on the east side of the principal har-

bour, and contains in the length ofa mile seventy-
five dwelling houses, exclusive of stores and other
buildings. There are nine trading establishments

in it, besides small retail, and mechanic’s shops. It -

has also a social library, established by subseription.
At the latter place there are twenty-two houses withe
in a less space, and three trading establishments ;
and at Chebogue four more. About twenty years
ago, a communication was formed between the head
of Yarmouth and the lakes, in the rear of the town-
ship, by means of a lock, but it did not answef? the
expectations of the projectors, and has been suffered

‘to fall into decay.

JArgyle lies between Yarmouth and Barrington, and
is bounded on the south and west by the several
courses of the sea coast. It includes all the Islands
in front of it, and contains altogether 120,000 acres

" or about one hundred and eighty seven square miles.

This township affords many good situations for farm-
ing, and contains extensive marshes, particularly on
the Tusket river at Abubtic, Pubnico and the har-
bour of Coquiquit. The upland is somewhat infe-
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rior to that of Yarmouth, but the remarks which
‘have been made respecting the climate, agriculture
and resources of that place, equally-apply to Argyle.
At the mouth of the Tusket river there are about
three hundred Islands called the Tuskets, many of
which are well cultivated and afford good shelter
and 'anchoz:age for schooners. The value of these
retreats is much enhanced by the circumstance of
there being but three harbours (Cape Forchu, grand
Passage and Digby) from thence to the head of the
Bay of Fundy. From schooner passage (one ofthe
Island harbours) to the mouth of Tusket river, the
distance is.eight miles, and from thence to the bridge
eight miles fagiher ; throughout the whole of this
extent, the anchorage and shelter is good. The
lowest depth of corprﬁ‘oh tides at high water is six-
teen feet, but the ship navigation may be said to
cease at the village near the bridge, although the
tide flows a mile further. Three miles above this
place, the river passes' through lake Vaughan and
then branches off both east and west. Tikelatter has
been explored in boats as far as four miles beyond

_ the north east boundary of Yarmouth, and thirty °

from the ocean. The former after a distance of
seven miles forms another befurcation. The north
east stream it is'said rises in the high lands, ]yiﬁg
between Annapolis, Liverpool and Shelburne, called
the blue mountains. Previous to the discovery of
America they contained the consecrated groves in
which the vows and sacrifices of the Indians were
offered to the spirits of the air. There are said o be
traces of volcamc-eruptmns in these hllls, and the
Savages still retain a superstitious awe of this scene -
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- hasbeen névigaied by boats 32 miles from the sea.—

The western branch rises-at no great distance from
Sissiboo. These several streams often’e)ff)and into
most magnificent lakes, of which there are not less
than thirty or forty, many of them being nine or ten
miles in length. Salmon River fallsinto the Tusket,
abouta mile below the bridge. The waters of these
rivers abounds with fish of various kinds, but parti-
cularly with alewives, of which two thousand barrels
are caught every year.

. The western cluster of Islands are called the bald
Tuskets, and are connected by shoals and ledges,
leaving to the eastward a narrow passage, which is
distinctly seen on the approach from €ape Sable.
Twelve or thirteen miles from the shore, and 21
west by north from Cape Sable, lies the Seal Island,
which is about two miles long. The southern part
of it is elevated thirty feet above the level of the sea,
and is covered with stunted birch trees. It is em-
phatically called the elbow of the Bay of Fundy. The
American fishermen resort to it for wood and water 5
the former they obtain in abundance, from drift tim-
berand wreck, and the latter from a large pond in
thecentre. Five low ragced islands lie between four
and five miles to the N. E. ofit, and are sometimes
called the north -seals, though more frequently the -

- mud Islands. Wild fowl and fish are here found in

great abundance. They are chiefly remarkable as
the resort of Mother Carey’s Chickens* which hatch
their young here. They burrow diagonally under

*See a very interesting account of this bird in the Colonial
Journal, No. 5, page 53.
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ground to the depth of three or four feet, and set on
oneegg. These are known under the various appsl
lations of Mother Carey’s chickens, stormy . petril;
witch, and devil’s bird. Their appeai-ance in the
wake of vessels, and their peculiar animation during
a storm, create a superstitious fear in the minds of
Mariners, that they are either thé messengers or
egents of tempeésts and danger. On the American
coast they are called. Mother Carey’s chickens, after
a celebrated New-England witch, of that name, and
they are said to have derived their designation of
¢ Petrils’ from St. Peter, on account of their singular
habit of running upon the water. When they alight oA
" the sea, they face the wind, and extending their long
wings as.a support, are enabled, by the assistance of
their webbed feet, to retain their position without
sinking ; so little is known of their domestic habits,
that sailors verily believe they hatch their eggs-un-
der their wings, or as they sit upon the water.—-
Their fleshis fat, greasy and rancid, which has most
probably given rise to the extraordinary story relat-
ed by Pennant: ¢ That theinhabitants of the Feroe
Islands make them serve the purpose of a candle,
by drawing a wick through their mouth and rump,
which being hghted the flame is fed by the fut and
oil of the body.” : -
There are two French settlements in Argyle ;
oneat Pubnico, and the other at Eelbrooke ; at both
of which places the people bear the reputation of
being temperate, industrious and hospitable. They
keep good stocks of cattle, and are in general very
‘comfortably settled. At the former, both the Acadi-

ans and Indians subsisted for many years on eels,
VOL. II. 24
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(which are taken there in immense quantities,) and
afterwards contended for the exclusive enjoyment of
the fisheries. For a long time mutual complaints
were made by the contending partiesto Govern;yent,
nordid the contest cease until the laws for regulat-
ing the fisheries throughout the Province,were carri-
edinto effect. The principal Aeadian in thistown-
ship is Bononi Dontremon, Esq: who is a lineal de-
scendant of La Tour, the former proprietor of the
Province. The principal harbours are Pubnice, Coc-
quequit and Abuftic, but among the Islands is safe
and commodious anchorage for vessels of ay burden.
Pubnicois an excellent harbour, from seven to twelve
fathoms deep, easy of access, and so situated, that
vessels entering the Bay of Fundy in distress, may
find shelter and supplies ; Cocquiquit is only a shal-
lop harbour. It was originally laid out for the ac-
commodation of twenty families, loyalists, emigrants
from the States, and disbanded soldiers. They were
in very indigent circumstances at the commencement
of the settlement, but in progress of time acquired
good farms, and they now keep a stock of cattle.
Barrington lies between the township of Shelburne
and Argyle, and includes Cape Sable Island. It was
granted in the year 1767, to 102 persons* and con-

* In the Spring of the year 1760, A. Smith, Esq. a native of
Cape Cod, landed at Barrington, for the purpose of making ar-

‘rangements for the reception of his family, but finding the Indians

numerous, he abandoned the idea of emigrating and returned home.
Shortly after his departure, his wife arrived)in 2 vessel bound on a
fishing voyage, and was landed with her family. Here she remain-
ed five weeks, until the arrival of her husband, during which time
she was kindly and hospitably treated by the Savages. She died at
Barrington, in March, 1828, leaving at the time of her death five

. .children, 56 grand children, 297 great grand children, 64 of the
‘5th and one of the 6th generation living, exclusive of a daughter,

inthe United States, who bad a large family, and of several grand
children who have removed from Barrington. .
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tains 52,000 acres, one third part of which is cover-

ed with barrens and bogs. The remaining portion

is clothed with spruce and fir, intermingled with

maple and birch, and occasionally with red and grey™
oak. The soil in general is rocky and stubborn.—
When first cleared of the wood and stone, it is co-
vered with a deep chocolate coloured turf, which re-
quires to be well manured, before it will produce a
erop of potatoes, but after being tilled for three or
four years, the turf becomes decomposed, and enrich-
es the soil. When laid down to grass, and broken
up a second time, it becomes a rich black mould, and
will produce as much per acre as the best upland in
any other part of the Province. When thus sub-
dued and restored to meadow, it will continue to
yield grass, without any admixture of moss, infinite-
Iy longer than land, not subject to this description of
turf. As a proof of its durability, there are several
pieces of grass land in the township, said to have
been originally sown by the French, which forup-
wards of half a Century, have never been ploughed,
and still continue as productive as when first mowed
by the English. Agriculture, however, has made
but small progress, having been always rather auxi-
liary to the support, than affording the means of sub-
sistance of the people. The climate is similar to that
of Yarmouth, the air being cool, and agreeable in
summer, and in winter the frost being much less in-
tense, than in the interior parts of the Province. "In
the months of June, July, and August, there isa
great deal of fog on the coast. It seldom advances
in the day time, further than the entrance of Bar-
rington harbour, but often covers the land at night,
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and is dissipated by the morning sun. Barrington,
like Yarmouth, was originally inhabited by French, ' -
although there were but few families in- this town- "
i ‘ ship. In the years 1761, 2, and 3, it was settled by
about 80 families, from Nantucket and Cape Cod, in
Massachusets. The former were induced to settle
here, to carry on the whale fishery, but being disap-
pointed in their object, some returned at the com-
menceiment of the Revolution, to Nantucke,t,’ and
others removed into the District of Maine, so that in
a short time Barrington was abandoned by nearly
ane halfof its inhabitants. The latter were attract-
ed chiefly by the Cod fishery, and finding it equal to
their expectations, continued to reside there. The
population of the township now amounts to 2186
souls. Formerly almost every male inhabitant was
employed in the fishery, and the catch for many
years amounted to upwards of twenty-two thousand
, . quintals, but latterly many of them' have quitted this
A branch of business, and engaged in other pursuits.—
There are now owned at Barrington 69 vessels,
whose united tonnage amounts to 2710-tons, exclu-
: ‘ give of four square rigged vessels on the stocks.
: Two brigs and four schooners, are employed in the
. West India trade, fifteen as coasters, eightin the
K N Labrader, and forty-one in the shore fishery. The
latter business employs, besides these vessels, sixty-
two boats. Fish, therefore, is the only export from
§ ‘Barrington,and as the cargoes belonging to this place
i . (as. well as most others on the coast) are generally
R ‘entered at Halifax, the Custom House returns ex-
TR hibit an incorrect view of the- relative trade of the
: Capital and the outports. In front of this town-

o
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ship, and south west of Barrington harbour, is Cape
Sable Island,which is about four miles in length, and
two in breadth, and contains 4700 acres,’ composed
of low land, and a sandy ‘and barren sojl. - Between
this Island and the main, is a gtrait about five miles
in length and three fourths of a mile wide inthe nar-
rowest part, but there being several sunken ledges
in the way, it is only ffgquented by coasters, al-
though an experienced pilot has been known to carry
tﬁrough in safety, at low tides, a vessel drawing fif-
teen feet of water. szpe Sable is a small, low, san-
dy Island, (distinet from the one just mentioned)
with a few scrubby treesin a state of decay on itg
eastern extremity. The clifls are white and distin-
guishable at the distance of five leagues, but are bro-
ken and sensibly decreasing. It is said, that in 1760,
they were 120 feet perpendicular, but the highest at
present does not exceed sixty. Theyrange W.N. W.
and E. S. E. two miles, in a semicircular shape. Of
of each point is a ledge. The eastern called the
Horse shoe, extends two miles an(if,gh}lxalf S. E. by
S. The western runs off three mile§ formed by de-
tached bodies of shingle and rock. The tide, both ebb
and flood, sets immediately across them, and causes
strong breakers to a conkiderable distance from the
shore. Cape Sable is the most southérn point of No-
va-Scotia, being in lat. 43-27 and lon. W. 65-33
Barrington harbour is situated three miles N. E. of
the greater Cape Sable Island, and was originally

settled by twelve French families, who gave it the’

" name of Le Passage. In front of it is a white sand
beach, nearly a milein length, which was formerly
arange of high hills covered with beach grass.—

el
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Aboat thirty year'sﬂégci, a fire unfortunately consum-
ed the herbage, and cattle being allowed to herd
uponit, while in this state, the roots became utterly
destroyed. Since that time, the loose sand; of which

- it was composed, has been blown away in every di-

rettion, anditis now reduced to the level of the sea
at high tides. It hasextended itsklf in a westward-
ly direction in the shape of a bar, thirty yards into
the main channel, thatleads up the harbour. A mile
and a half from this place, is the village of Barring-
tony which consists of an inconsiderable ‘cluster of
houses, the inhabitants of the township being dis-
persed throughout the whole coast for the conveni-
ence of carrying on the fishery. Barrington river
which falls into this harbour, takes its rise in a lake
about nine miles distdnt, called Sabimm, which is
fifteen miles long, and.from four to six miles wide,
and is also fed by five other lakes, from two to four
miles in length. There was formerly an excellent
salmon and alewife fishery in this river, but in con-
sequence of Milldams and other obstructions, which
have prevented the fish from getting to their usual
places of spawning, the former have been almost
annihilated, and the latter so much injui'ed, that
there are not more than. two hundred and fifty bar-
rels taken annually. In the neighbourhood of lake
Sabimm, there isa growth of excellent timber, a
great portion of which is oak, of a tough fine grain,
well adapted to ship building. Within the last five
years, there have been ten square rigged vessels

" and many schooners built in this place. Port La

Tour, the only harbour of any consequence in this

township, is separated from-that of Cape Negro,by a
e




191
§

peninsula, and is only capable of sheltering small
craft. The tide leaves a great part of the head of it
dry. The landsin the neighbourhoed are.barreny
but a small quantity of marsh, enables the settlers
tokeep a few head of horned cattle. Theremains
of Fort La Tour, erected at this place, . previous to
" the treaty of St. Germain’s in 1632, are still visible.
Shelburne. The township of Shelburne comprises
all the land between the boundary of Barrington.and
Port Hibert, on the borders of Queen’s County. The
most prominent feature on the coast, after passing
the township just described, is Cape Negro, the sou-
thern extremity of an Island of that name, which
forms, with the mouth of the Clyde river, two har-
bours, designated as north east and north west har-
bours. The Clyde rises upwards of forty miles in
the interior, in an extensive chain of lakes, and falls
into the head of this harbour. It is said to be one
of the most beautiful rivers in Nova-Scetia, and to
dear- a strong .resemblance to the river of the same
name in the mother country. - In some places it as-
sumes the appearance of acanal, and its tranquil
waters, regular banks, and long luxuriant grass,
convey the idea of a neglected aqueduct; atthe head
of this lake there is a great body of valuable timber,
suitable for ship building. ce e
Fourteen miles further is Shelburne harbowr, which
is justly esteemed the best in America, both on ac-
count of its accessibility and perfect security. At
its entrance is M‘Nutt’s Island, on the southern ex-
tremity of which stands a light house, in latitude 43,
40, and west longitude 65-8. The lantern.is one
hundred and twenty-five feet above the level of the
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ea. - It-has lately been refitted with argand lamps
of large dimensions, and  its light may now be seen
ata distance of 28 or 30. n\lile's +Itis in every res-
peet similar in. its.appearance to:the light house at
the entrance of-Halifax harbaur, with the exception
of showing an intermediatelight about half way from
the: laniterns-to.its base. In the year1764, one hun-
dred thousand acres bordering upon: Shelburne har-

_boir; ‘oF Point - Roseway, were granted to Alexander
- MéNutt and his:associates, who located a few familics

on -the western side of the Port, but resided himself
on-the Téland; which now bears-hisname. To this
settlemerithe gave the name of New Jerusalem, but
having’ whiolly: failed to-comply with the conditions
of his grant,it was escheated and the land reverted
to the €rown. - It was subsequently settled by loy-
alists-from New-York, who, upon the surrender of
Lord Cornwallis to the Americans, conceived, the
idea of emlgratma fo Nova-Scotia. A hundred and
twenty persons, heads: of families, having: associated
for this purpose, agreed.to admit others who might
feel disposed to join them, -on condition of their pro-
curing ‘testimonials of good character from some oné
of the original Members, and paying a small entrance
fee towards defraying the contingent expences of
the Society. Having finally increased the number
to 471 heads: of families, they -divided themselves
into 16 - Compames, to-each of which a Captain and
two Lieutenants were appomted whesefduty it was
to preserve order and regulanty in theh' proceedmgs,

“to diréct the distribution of the prows:on ‘and dona-
‘ txons,and to enforce an eqmtable division bf the lands.

Each company was provided with a-tfansport for its
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conveyance, two for the removal of its heavy bag-
gage and a schooner to carry horses. Theassociates
were furnished with forty pieces of cannon and a
proportionable quantity of ammunition and military
stores, and accompanied by a Commissary, issuer,
engineer, and a number of carpenters, who were
supplie& with all kinds of tools and implements neces-
sary for the formation of a settlement upon a large
scale. Previous to their departure a board was con-
stituted by the Commander-in-Chief,of which Beverly
Robinson, Esq. was appointed President, whose duty
it was to apportion a pecuniary donation of Govern-
ment, among the most meritorious of the settlers.—
The necessary preparations having been completed,
the associates with their families and servants sail-
ed from New-York, on the 27th April, 1783, in a fleet
consisting of 18 square rigged vessels, and several
sloops and schooner, sprotected by two ships of War.

They arrived at Port Roseway, on the 4th of szy

following. Here they were met by three Surveyors
from Halifax, who assisted the Engineer (Mr. Law-
son,) and a Committee of the people in selecting a
site for the town. After carefully examining the
the adjacent Country, and sounding the harbour,
they made choice of the head of'it as the most eligi-
blesituation. A°plan was then proposed and a&opt—
ed, by which the town was to consist of five parréllel
streets, 60 feet wide, intersected by others at right
angles, each square containing 16 lots, 60 feet in
front and 120 in depth. The vacancy between the
base line and the water, was laid out in lanes and
small alottments, so that every person might be ac-

commodated with a town and water lat. 'Fhe cap-
VOL. II. 25 ’
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tains of Companies alternately furnished fatigue
parties to accompany the Surveyors and others, to
clear the Common at each end of the town. - Here
temporary huts and tents were crected, one of which
was assigned to each family, together with a stand
of arms, accoutrements and ammunition. The order
and regularity observed in these labours produced
the greatest despatch. Hills were levelled, hollows
filled up, trees torn up by the roots, and the most
severe operations performed with cheerfulness and
alacrity. The Roseway river at that season of the
year swarmed with salmon and gaspereaux, and the
harbour was filled with cod fish, halibut, lobsters and
shell fish, which not oniy supplied the people with a
wholesome variety in their food, but materially in-
creased their stock of provisions. On the 11th of
July, the town was laid out into two Divisions north
and south, the streets named, the squares and lots
numbered, and every settler accommodated with 50
acres of land on each side of the harbour, and a town
and water lot. As soon as the division of the land
took place, the inhabitants began to huild houses, cut
down the woods, and make preparations for sowing
grain the ensuing year. In the month of August,
they were visited by his Exceﬁency Governor Parr,
who was welcomed with every demonstration of joy.
He was received by the officers and men with pre- (
sented arms, at the foot of King’s street, from whence
thﬂey formed a double row to the head of it, wherea
collation had been previously prepared. His Ex-

‘cellency took this opportunity of conferring a name

upon the place, by drinking prosperity to the town of
Shelbwine. The presence and encouragement of the
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Governor increased the exertions of the people, and
houses were erected and a town built with incon-
ceivablerapidity. The hurry and toil attending these
extraordinary exertions had not subsided, when late
in the autumn they received a large and unwel-
come addition to their numbers. The revolted Co-
lonies having obtained their independance, an in-
undation of refugees, (many of whom were of a very
opposite character tothe first settlers,) was poured
into Shelburne 60ﬂtrary to the stipulation of the as-
sociates, with whom it had been expressly agreed
that no such persons should be introduced among
them. It was, however, too late to remonstrate, and
they received them into their houses until they could
provide shelter for themselves. They also enlarged
the town for their accommodation, by converting
the Common‘at each end of Shelburne into two other
divisions. The north was called Parr’s in honour of
the Governor, and the south Patterson’s, from an
affectionate remembrance of a British General of that
name. Thus rose the town of Shelburne, the popu-
lation of which amounted to nearly twelve thousand
inhabitants.* Its decline was almost as rapid as its

growth. Remote from the other settlements of the’

Province, surrounded by the forest without roads,
situated too far from the entrance of the harbour, to
reap the advantages of the fishing grounds, and filled
with people, who were unacquained with the mode
of settling the wilderness, it was impossible thatsuch
a town, so constituted, could long exist. Many of the
inhabitants removed to other parts of the Province,
but the greater part returned to their native land.

* By soma it has been estimated as high as fourteen thousand.
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The lamentations of the people, who attributed their
misfortunes rather to the poverty of thesoil and the
nature of the Country, than to their own imprudence
in assembling together in a wilderness, without the
means of support, have had a powerful effect in rais-
ing a prejudice against Nova-Scotia, and the charac-
ter of the Province is therefore as much misunder-
stood in the United States as it is England. Shel-
burne is at presentin a most dilapidated state, and -
the very ,circ:fmstance of its having been once aban-
doned, has continued to keep it so. Itis said that
within these few years past, it appears to be emerg-
ing from the obseurity into whichit had fallen. The.
harbour is about twelve milesin length and affords
safe anchorage for vessels of the largest class. The

" town issituated on its north east border, from which

itrises with gentle acclevity. It is sheltered from

-the eastwardly wind by high lands in the rear, and

has a wegtern aspect, which renders it cool and
agreeable in summer. The harbour in front of the
town is about three miles and a quarter in width,
the opposite shore of which was chosen for the resi-
dence of the several regiments* that accompanied
the first emigrants. Extensive barracks were built
on this spot, for their accommodation, butthe troops
having been withdrawn soon after the settlement of
the town, they are now in ruin.. On both sides of
the harbour there are stilla number of settlers, but
their farms are not extensive, in consequence of

_their attention being divided between tillage and

* Marshall Beresford, who was then a young officer in one of
the Regiments, lost his eye from‘the accidental discharge ofa
fasee, of one of his brother officers, who had aceompanied him on
a shooting excursion amongst the bushes, which then occup‘ed the
space from the barracks to the water side.
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fishing. Birch town, situated at. the north west
arm of the harbour, (which at the formation of Shel-
burne was accipied by a large population of Ne-
groes,) is now almost forsaken, the principal part of
them having been removed about the year 1786,
to Sierra Leone, under the direction of John Clarke-
son, Esq. The Roseway or Shelburne river isvery
extensive, but interrupted by several rapids ; about
twelve or fourteen miles from the town a chain of
lakes commences, which extends to the northward,
and reaches to within a short distance of those that
feed the river Imbert, in the County of Annapolis ;
the shores of the river and lakes abound withtimber
of oak and juniper, of'the largest dimensions, and the
best quality of any in the Province. This circum-
stance has givensa deservedly high character to the
numerous vessels that have been built at Shelburne,
within the last seven years. The sea coast, from
Shelburne to Port Hibert, is deeply indented with
* harbours, around which is a numerous and hardy po-
pulation, occupied chiefly in the fishery, but cultivat-
ing many excellent spots of ground. The first of
these are Jordanriver and Green harbour. The for-
merrises a great distance in the Country, and is navi
gable as far as the head of the tide, which ascends
about ten or twelve miles. The latter is only suita-
“ble for the reception of small vessels. Beyond these
is Port Mills better known as Ragged Island har-
bour, a name it has derived from the broken and
rough appearance of numerous Islands, lying off its
entrance. Thisis the most extensive station for the
* shore fishery in the County of Shelburne, and em-
ploys and enriches the inhabitants, several of whom
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are engaged in a_prdfitable trade with the. West In-

dies.. The next harbour is within the extensive bay ~
of Sable river, . From Lewis head, the extreme point
on the western side of this Bay, to the meuth of the
river (across which & bar extends) the distanee is
three miles, gnd from thence ta the bridge, atits con«
fluance with the tide, six or seven more, at which
place the navigation ceases. This river is of great
extent, but the Country about its source having been
devasted by fire, there are mo settlers beyond the
bridge, but between that and its mouth it is inhabit-
ed on both sides by loyalists and their descendants,
There is an extensive fishery carried on at this placey
and the craft engaged in it are above the ordinary
class of fishing vessels. There is no shelter from the
undertow during gales of wind from the southward,
and as the bottom consists of hard sand, and the
water is shallow during the ebb of the tide, itisan
unsafeanchorage. The only remaining harbour on
this caast to be noticed is ¢ Jones’s.” This place will
pot accommodate vessels drawing any great depth of
water,and is only remarkable for Hibert rock, which
lies on the open ocean, and yields four or five tons
of hay annually, which is cut and cured upen it by
the inhabjtants of the adjoining coast. The main
post road in the County of Shelburne is more than
one hundred miles in extent. From Halifax to Yar-
mouth, it is in an excellent state of repair, but it be-
comes gradually worse as it approaches Shelburne,
and frem thence to Liverpool is little more than a
horse path, The whole of the interiorof the cauntry,
from Yarmouth to Port Hibert, (a distance of not
less than ninety miles,) on the north side of the main
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road, remains, with very little exception, in a wilder-
ness state ; some of it is well wooded, and in places
the soil is of an excellent quality, but a great portjon
of ithasbeen overrun by fires,and exhlbltsto the eye
an extensive and barren waste. Almost the. wlmle
of the population of tlus County is to be-found on the
sea coast.
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. SECTION V>

The Island of Cupe Breton,* formerly denominated

By its French masters, L’ Isle Royale, constitutes
the most eastern, and at the same time -the most
northern county of Nova-Scotia, and is about equal
to one fifth part of the whele Province, occupying
much the same area as the County of Halifax being
also divided in like manner ; inte three districts, and
containing a fast increasing population, variously
estimated at twenty, twenty-five, or thirty thousand.
It sends, nevertheless, to the Provincial Assembly,
only two members for the whole county, and none
for its districts and townships.

The situatien of this Island with respect to Cana-
da, has oceasioned it to be considered, since the
earliest period of its history, asthe key to that Pro-
vinece. Forming the eastern barrier of the Gulf of
St. Lawrence, it effectually commands the access
erom the Atlantic, except by the circuitous route of

the Straits of Bellisle, round the northern extremity
of Newfoundland. By the commodious entrance of
Canso strait, on the southern side, and by thegreat
thoroughfare to the northward, between Cape-Breton
and Newfoundland, no vessels can pass out of the

* My first efforts to obtain accarate information of this interest-
ing and valuable island were so unsuccessful, that I bad almost des-
paired of presenting the public with any thingbeyond a mere sketch.
The Rev. Mr. Trotter, however, kindly undertook to open a corres-
g:ndenee for me with sgweral gentlemen in Cape Breton, and Judge

arshall also favored me with copious answers to my queries.
From these materials I compiled a briefaccount, but just as it was
going to the press,I received an offer from W. H. Crawley, Esquire,
toinspect the manuscript,and make such corrections and additionsas
it should require. Instead of new notes asI had anticipated, I receiv-
ed a mass of most valuable information, and should feel guilty of
-appropriating to myself the credit of his labors, if I did not make.

an explicit acknowledgement of his kindness. 1 beg of him and the
other gentlemen alluded to, to accept my sincere thanke.
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/
reach of cannon in the former route, or out of sight
in the latter ; the coast of Newfoundland being dis-
tinguishable from the northern extremity of Cape-
Breton, the heights of Cape North. Such being the
relative position of Cape Breton, which is well pro-
vided with excellent harbprs,\ any naval power in.
possession of it, will be arbitérs of the Commerce of
Canada, Prince Edward Island, and of all the coasts
bounding- the Gulf of St. Lawrence.

The space on the Globe occupied by Cape Breton,
is but small, extending only from latitude 450 27, to
470 5 north, including the southern extremity of
Isle Madame, and the northern projection of St.
Paul’s Island ; and: from the longitude of 530 38 to
61e 50 west, including the eastern end of Scatari.
Its greatest length is about one hundred miles in the
direction of N. E. and S. W. and the exireme width
from S. E. to N. W. about eighty. The Island eon-
sists of two natural divisions, the southern, lower
and intersected by water, and the northern, higher
and rugged, but continuous. The southern division
forms, as it were, an extemsive Basin, into which
the ocean sweeps from the east through two long and
narrow channels, inclining to the south west, to-
ward the great and little Bras &’ Or, and by which
the waters are ushered into their capacious reser-
voir, usually called the Bras @’ Or lake. Round this
imprisoned sea the land lies on the east, south, ang .
west, of moderate elevation and diversified with lakes,
but presenting abrupt cliffs toward the ocean, though
rising gradually from the inland shore. On the north
the land projects with a more elevated and uneven
surface,of diminishing breadth, forming the northern




203

natural division, and terminating in the promonto-
ries of Cape North and Cape St. Lawrence.

The whole circuit of the coast measures 275 miles,
and is broken into bays and harbors in the southern
division, but is nearly continuous, and affords little
shelter for shipping in the northern. The principal
harbors for vessels of burthen, are those of Syduney,
Louisburg, Arichat, Basin of Inhabitants, Ship Har-
bor in Canso strait, Port Hood, St. Anne’s, and the
Great Bras d’ Or : but many others are capable of
receiving smaller vessels and boats. The depth of
the ocean around the coast, from three to four miles
distance from the shore, is generally from twenty to
thirty fathoms, and bold water extends close to the
cliffs and shores. The island has been erroneously
described as surrounded by sharp pointed rocks. On
the south east coast some such’occur, but it is proba-
ble few shores are to be found more generally free
from these impediments to navigation. In the waters
of the Bras d’ Or, the greatest depth is sixty-two
fathoms. ) :

The great Bras d’ Or’s entrance, on the eastern
side of the Island facing the shores of Newfoundland,
appears to be the point of ;separation between the
two natural divisions already mentioned, and forms,
as before Q‘bs;srved, the principal opening into the
interior sea, being the only channel by which the
shipping engaged in the timber trade can be admit-
ted. Its northern shore presents a precipitous range
of gypsum crags and pits, concealed by the spread-
ing #eeest, interposing an elevated barrier between
this strait and the harbor of Saint Anne, over which
is constructed a road connecting the two settlements.
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The southern shore of the strait belongs to the sou-
thern or less elevated part of the island, and is com-
paratively built ‘and settled by Scotch emigrants,
throughout its whole length, nearly twenty miles.

Its average width may be one mile. Atthe entrance
an active fishery is carried on in boats, the men em-
ployed being chiefly Irish from Newfoundland ; and

“the same establishment is engagéd in shipbuilding

for the British market.

A line of coast extends from the great Brus d’ Or,
in a south east direétion, as far as Cow Bay, about
thl?ty* miles, which may be denominated the coal
coast, ﬁearly the whole range being fuced with 1 per-
pendicular cliffs, streaked with veins of coal. The
country on the summits of these cliffs is level, but
becomes undulating in the interior. The land is
well adapted for cultivation, and in the unsettled
parts is clothed with timber of good size, except near
the margin of the cliffs,where it is usually overspread
with stunted spruce and other fir trees, all inclining
landwards from the fury of the Atlantic storms, flat-
tened at the top into the semblance of so many wn-
brellas. Inthe cultivated parts, however, the coast
wears a very dissimilar aspect, the summits of the
cliffs being arrayed in a green sward, gently rising
as it extends backwards to the forest, which shows
in the distance a wall of majestic trees, generally
beech, birch, or maple.

On this eoast the next haven is the little Bras &’
Or, or smaller Channel to the inland waters. The
intervening shore of six miles is unpromising in ap-
pearance, when viewed from the sea, and is yet but
ihinly ichabited. Here the northwesternend of the
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island Boulardeme the separating land of the two

Bras @’ Ors, juts out a loﬁg and narrow point named

Aconi, and renders it often a perilous adventure to
perform the transit by sea, from the one Bras &
Or to the other. A sunken bar at the mouth of the
little Bras d’ Or, forbids the eatr:mce of vessels of
burthen. This strait runs in a similar direetion to
th%t of the larger channel, narrow and crooked, but
affording interesting views of river scenery, a dis-
tance of six or seven miles, when it opeans at once to
the width of from two to three miles, and thus pro-
ceeds abouk seventeen miles further to the western
end of the Iéland of Boularderie. Here the waters
of the two channels unite, being six miles across; but
they lessen in width, until ten miles further, SIW.
they contract into the narrows, or straits of Barra,
being the only opening into the great Bras d’ Or lake.
Descendants of the old French Colonists inhabit
the little Bras d’ Or, from the mouth to the part
where it grows wide, in which latter spot the settle-
ment takes the name of the French viilage. A road
leads thence across to the Coal Mines in Sydney har-
) bour, and from the opposite or northern shoresa
road [;roceeds across Boularderie Island to the Bras
d Or. The people of thiy settlement are employed
both in farming and fishing. The fishery is carried
onin boats, at building which the people are very

expert. The soil is not inferior, but great parts of,

the Country is still occupied by the forest ; and the

situation of this village is much admired for its tran-

quil and sylvan prospect. A traveller leaving this
place, and proceeding along-the widening arm of the
little Brasd’ Or, would'suppose he was entering, in-
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stead of receding from the ocean, the land at the
western extremity being invisible from the distance.
The south shore is settled nearly continuously to the
narrows of the Great Lake, by Scotch Highlanders
or Islanders, and a few Irish near the village, but
the northern or Boularderie side is less inhabited,
and the banks are steeper although the land is not
inferior. Along the south shore and above the vil-
lage, lies Long Island. The deep narrow passage
between it and the main land, displays views exceed-
ingly picturesque, the banks being high and wooded,
and when dressed in their autumnal tints, are parti-
- cularly pleasing. This Island is narrow, and slopes
away nearly to the level of the water, on its outer
or northern side. About this part of the little Bras
d’ Or, is the greatest depth to be found in these wa-
ters,.not excepting the Great Lake, measuring sixty
fathoms off the western end of the Long Island, and
sixty-two a few miles further westward. These
depths afford the finest cod that are caught during
the winter, by lines introduced through openings cut
in the ice. :
Sydney—is the next harbour on this line of coast,
at nearly the same interval of six or seven miles;
the intervening shore affording only two boat har-
boﬁrs, ‘ called the Little Pond and the Big Pond, set-
~ tled by Engiish .and Irish. The harbour of Sydney,
called sometimes Spanishriver, and one some charts,
Dartmouth harbour, presents an entrance of nearly
two miles in width, four miles above whichit diverg-
es into two branches, denominated the northwest
arm and the southwest arm, each’ of which are pro-
tected from the seaby a low bar. The Coal Mines

S




207

are worked ~on the western side of the harbour, out-
side of the bars, and are consequently in an exposed
situation for shipping, which it is -said to be in the
contemplation of the present'Mining Company to
improve by erecting a. pier. At present vessels are
obliged to desist from loading on the approach of an
earterly gale, and-run for shelter into the northwest
arm,.above‘the bars. This arm extends four miles
to its head, where it is entered by two small rivers,
Leitch’s creek and Ball’s creek, the former issuing
from a lake, and the latter proceeding from a distance
of eight milgsin the interior, through a fertile and
well timbéred tract of country. The arm preserves
a width of more than a mile, and makes a fine ap-
pearance,. its cultivated hills being thickly dotted
with farm houses. Two or three miles from Point
Edward, the place where the two arms of the har-

bour diverge, and on the eastern side of the south-

west arm, a peninsula, of which 300°acres in area
furnishes the site of the little village called the town
of Sydney. The peninsula and front of the town,
presents a crescent toward the west, the bank being
here about thirty feet in height, and perpendicular,
but level on the top, and the water is bold, offering
through the whole distance, to its termination at
Freshwater creek, favourable situations for wharves;
and alow’point in front of the town,under the batteries
of the Garrison, lies most conveniently for aDock-
Yard. The surface of the peninsula s]opés gently to
the waters edge,on itseastern shore, between which
and the main land a scarcely sheltered creek affords
reception to vessels of ;mall burthen. The southwest
arm contracts two miles above Sydney, becdmes
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winding, and. resembles a river, and at the Forks,
about six miles above Sydney, it receives two small
rivers, the northernmost proceeding from a little
lake, encompassed by high woodéd banks, termed
the Portage lake. A low carrying place or portage;
lies between this lake and the head of the eastern
arm of the Bras d’ Or lake, whieh here terminates in
a landlocked Basin, known by the Indian name of
Tweedporge. Considered as one port, -the harbour
of Sydney is one of the most capacious and secure in

_ the Provinces. The. surrounding land is a fine agri-

cultural tract ; the advantages for carrying on the
fishery ‘excellent, its trade is opened to all parts of
the Globe, by its late admission to the number of the
free ports ; and the materials for prosecuting that
trade te be found abundantly in the prime articles of
coals, fish, timber, and agricultural produce : not-
withstanding which capabilities, its advance has been
very slow, ifit can be said to have advanced at all,
since its establishment in the year 1783, by Gov. -
Desbarres. At that time a regiment was stationed in
Sydney, and until the annexation of that Island to
Nova-Scotia,the Lieut.-Governor and otherProvincial

 officers resided there. The incomes of these func-

tionaries being spent in theplace, together with the
revenues from the mines, appears to have had. the
effect of withhelding the attention of the trading
classes from other sources of emoliamgnt. - The ces-
sation of these revenués, 'hov_vever, has not had the
effect of .creéting a spirit of commerce. The tide of
fortune has not yet set towards Sydney, and ‘it ap-
pears, together with Louisburg, to be neglected for
places that cannot vie with it in natural capabilities.
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14 extends one third of a mile in length, and consists
of about sixty houses, containing four hundred and
fifty souls. The Courts of Justice are held, and the
public offices are kept at this place, where all the
principal officers of the County reside. Withina
square at the north end of the town are situated the
Barracks, Government Store and Commandant’s
kouse, which add much to its appearance. A Cap-
tain and 40 men are stationed for the preéervation‘
of the buildings and the protection of the town.
The other public edifices are a Court ‘House, Episco-
pal Church, (built of stone) a Dissenting Meeting
“House, a Roman Catholic Chapel, and a market
house. - The Roman Catholics have laid the founda-
" tion of a spacious stone Chapel, which, ifcompieted
accordipg to the design, will be a great ornament to
Sydney.”. The streets are regularly laid out, the pri-
vate houses in general well built, the grounds in
the‘fvxmmty cultivated with some taste, and the
wliole being interspersed with gardens filled with
ﬁ'mt trees, presents a very pleasing appearance.
The Count-ryhround is settled by disbanded soldiers
and descendants of American Loyalists, intermixed
.with some Irish and Scotch ; and a settlement of
French, from Prince Edward’s Island, is formed at
Ball’s creek, already mentioned, at the head of the
N.W. arm. Roads proceed from Sydney up the
south shore of the S. W. arm, and along the sou-,
thern side of the Bras d’ Or lake to St. Peter’s, and
thence to Lenox Passage a#d Arichat, round the

north-west arm,and thence to the Mines, French vil- -

- lage, Great Bras d’ Or and St. Anne’s, across the

country to Lingan, and along the eastern shore of
VOL. II. 2
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the harbour to Low Point, an old Irish settlement —~
opposite the Coal Mines ;“also across the country to
Mira and Louisburg, continued from the latter place
to Gabarus Bay, and from the former to Menadon.—
Between Sydney and Lingan, the next harbour on
this coast, the soil is fertile and well timbered, both
near the shores and in the interior. It is occupied
chiefly by the [rish already designated, who give the
name of Low Point to the whole settlement, from the
eastern side of Sy&ney harbour, round the coast to
Lingan, the settlers of which are likewise principally
Irish or their 'descendants. Kilkenny lake, on the
road-from Sydney to Lingan, is a deep circular pond
in the midst of this fertile tract, which rises gradu-
ally round this small piece of water with a very im-
posing effect. .
Lingan is a spacious oval basin, skirted by fine
land, partly settled and partly wooded, but the en-
: trance is too shallow to admit vessels of burthen. -
The coal here is excellent, and the mining company
have commenced operations, with the intention of
. exporting hence, as well as from Sydney; but froni
the circumstance of the shoal entrance, ldrge vessels
will fiot be able toload, unless the proprietors suc-
ceed in effecting and maintaining a deeper opening.
This place is noted for the innumerable flocks of wild
_ game which descend in clouds, to feed upon the sea
weed or graés, of the flats inside the havrbor. The
Irish settlement continues along the cos}ét from Lin-
gan to the small Boat harbor of Glace ay. From
thence to Cow Bay head,the termmatmn; of this coast,
it is an abrupt cliff thhout mhabxtants, but ‘well
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ared appearance in many places, having been re-
duced to a cinder, by a fire which raged at.a dptant
period, and continued burning in the recesses of the
cliff during winter and summer,through several years.
~ At the northern head of Cow Bay, the land sud-
denly forming an angle, inclines due south to Cape-
Breton, a low point whence the island takes jits name.
"This coast is deeply indented by Cow Bay and Miré
or Mira bay, the furmer being interposed between

the main land and a barren peninsula, five miles '

long and two broad, attached by a low strip of sand
named False Bay Beach, which prevents the com:
munication between Cow Bay and Miré Bay, and
deceives the mariner approaching from the ses, by
the appearance ofan entrance. At the head of Cow

Bay exists a small settlement of American Loyalists,

or their descendants, of which class likewise are the
gettlers on Miré Bay and river, Miré or Mira is a re-
markable river, or perhaps may be more truly des-
cribed as a long and narrow lake, prolonged intothe
gea. The part usually called the Miré or Milward
Lake, is eight miles in length, and half a mile wide.
"Itis fed by Salmon River, a stream that, takes its
rise in lakes near]y - thirty ,miles .from the,coast at
_Miré Bay, near the lakes that empty themselves
in an opposite direction by.Grand River, at the sou-
thern coast,in the vicinity .of St, Peter’s Bay. Hence
the waters gush through a nargower channel fourteen
_ miles further into the beau‘t;fqll Miré Bay, a cregcent
of fair sandy beach, well wooded, and commanding
a noble gprospect of the ocean. Throughout the
gourse of the river the country is very pretty,but the
soil is rather hght and thin. The inhabitants are. an
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ag'x-iculti.xral" pedple, but the improvementofthe coun-
try is retarded by an old grant of 100,000 acres, in-
cluding the land on the river and bay, to 100 persons

" who never settled there. Of this tract a part has

since been granted to the presentnccupants, but the
old title is supposed to invalidate the latter, an&fpre~
vents the settlement of the remainder. 'Ij}xgﬁver
becomes more narrow, and is enclosed by high and
rugged banks, near the mouth, where it meets a
sand bank thrown up by the ceaseless turmoil of the
Atlantic, heaving against the out-rushing waters of
the river, and which unfortunately admits not ves-
sels of burthen to enter this beautiful canal and reser-
voir. Tl}e road from Louisburg to Sydney is conti-
nued, by means ‘ofa ferry, overa picturesque part of
theriver. Ona lowisland, near the entrance ofthe
lake, myriadsof swallows appear, darkening the air
and loading every bush and twig ; long before those
birds are seen in many other parts of the country,
and even during the winter, on mild days, they issue
forth in numbers. This circumstance would seem to
prove, that swallows, instead of emigrating in Cape
Breton, take up their winter abodes in caves or hol-
low trees, as they are said to have been discovered

" torpidin Sweden, or rather sunk in the mud, which

is also asserted, for it would be difficult, in that mar-
shyisland, to find caves to receive such swarms. On
the eastern side of the Miré Lake, out of the limits
of the old, ascottish settlement is forming, which is
not distant more than five or six miles across the
country, to the head of Gabarus Bay. From the
mouth of the river thls wouldbe a voyage of thirty
miles.
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Round the southern pom; of Mire ‘Bay, and pro-
tected from the tempestuous ocean by the island of
Scatari, lies the small harbor of Menadon, the seat
of a busy village of fishermen. At this place reside
most of the coasters, who supply Halifax with coal
from the mines of Sydney. - Opposite the harbor the
triangular Island of Scatari projects two of its poidts
to the Atlantic, and the third toward Menadon, being
in length about five miles, and in breadth three.

-This Island is the most easterly dependency of Cape

Breton, and consequently of Nova-Scotia. The soil
is poor and not permanently inhabited, but it offers
a most excellent station for fishermen. One thousand
families might there establish their dwellings, and
fish from their boats on productive ground, within
call of their houses. They would have sufficient
space for small gardens, but would be dependent on
the mines, or on the neighbouring coast for food.
This island being usually the first land made by ves-
sels from Europe, toany of the Colonies eastward of
the Bay of Fundy; and from the common occur-
rence of vessels being ahead of their reckoning,when
steering to the westward, the first news of its propin-
quity being often given by the roar of its breakers,
or the concussion of its rocks ; shipwrecks are of fre-
quent occurrence, and few places on the .coast of
North America more obviously call for the precaution
of a light-house. :
Cape-Breton, better known to the mariners of the
coast, by the name of Port Novy Land, from the
small adjacent Island of Puerto Nuevo, is the most
eastern, and alsothe lowest part of the coast. .1t is
singular that this point, exposed to the continual
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fretting, dashing, and’ ebullision of this peculiarly
restless sea, and placed at the mercy of exgry.
that sweeps the Atlantic, should yet bear so litf
evidence of its power. The firm materials of its
composition séem scarcely to have worn by the effects
of centuries ; and though so low, bold water form-
ing its margin, instead of reefs of scattered rocks
and other marks of ruin, is a proof of its unbroken
strength.
" At this Cape the coast again deflects to the S. w.
stretching -in that direction seventy-six -miles, to
" Cape Aua Guet, in Isle Madame, near Arichat harbous,’
interrupted by the Bay of St. Peter’s, and pierced
with several harbors along its- course. The firstof
these, after passing two small places frequented by
the fishing vessels, termed big and little Loran; or
Loranbec, is the celebrated Louisburg, before de-
scribing which, it may be observed, that from Miré
-Bay to this coast the landis-rocky, precipitousnear
the shore, though 1ot of great elevation, and inland
rising in small hills, or as the sailors term it, hum-
macky. No waving ‘woods are visible from the sea,
as on the coast previously passed ; but pointed shrubs
of the fir tribe interspersed with bare mossy intervals,
give the land a different character.

The entrance of Louisburg harbour is pointed out
to voyagers arriving from the eastward, by the ruins
of the Light House, on the bold rocky wall of the
north share; a few minutes after approaching which,
the mariner shoots from a fretful seainto; the smooth
and eapacious harbour.. On entering, the general
view is that of. a spacious but not-very sheltered
port, the latter. appearance ‘being occasiened by the
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depression of the bar on the:western side, which

does not show above the water, and prodiicesin the
beholdera feeling of insecurity from fhat quarter.—
The prospect seen before arriving at the: north-east
arm may be said to be tame. Here thieTugged and
perpwdwﬂnrdnks, proceedmg from’ thenorth side
of t}é exttalide,are succeeded by irreguiar hills inter-
spefised withigroves of fir trees, and dottéd with a few
Wits“on the'steep deelivities next the harbour, con-
ferring on this retired dnd sheltered arm a pictu-
resque, but father gloomy air. ‘Fhesurrounding land
is evidently poor in every part of Louisburg,.and the
country seats and gardens of the French Colonists,
must-have been created at nosmall labour and ex-
pense: The country rises with a pretty quick ascent
towards thé interior; and 2 mile-or two from the wa-

 ter,-the quality of - the soil ‘improves greatly, afford- .

ing timber. and . vegétation altogether different from
the productions of the shores.

" Theancient walls display even. yet'the most attrac-
tive object to the eye. 'The contour 6{"these ruined
niounds is boldly marked against the sky-on the left,
as the stranger proceeds into the port; thefe beingno
higher land in that direction, and prompts enquiry
and induces a visit to the spot where Louisburg once
existed. The site of the: town is a:point formed by
the harbour and the ocean, as mdy be seen by re-
ference to the plan. Both in the harbour and on the
sea side, the Iand is nearly even with the water, and
gently rises to the eminence crownedby.the now
ruined bastions, stvetchipg from shore toshore, and
thus cutting ofF the site- of Louisburg from the adja-
cent country. Immediately ini the rear extends a
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wide spreading bog, intersected by natural ditches,
or rents filled with water, and in the summer sea-
son overspread with yellow aquatic lilies. The
surface of the bog itself is covered with a fruit bear-
ing plant, resembling a dwarf raspberry, the berry
being nearly of the size and appearance of the yel-
low Antwerp raspberry, and is termed by the inha-
bitants, ¢ bake-apple.” The townbeing thus situat-
ed, the few straggling dwellings of the fishermen
now resident there, backed by the range of mounds,
are the first objects perceived by a voyager fromthe
westward, even before entering thie harbour, being
seen over the bar, connecting the Islands at the
mouth with the southwestern shore ; and this bar
being under water, a stranger is naturally on the
point of making for the port through the seeming
entrance, and thus losing his vessel upon the shoal,
a catastrophe that has occurred with tragical conse-
quences. .

Arriving on thearea of the French city, it is found
to be every where spread with a mantle of turf, and
without the assistance of a native it is not easy to
discover the foundations even of the public buildings.
Two or three casemates yet invite inspection, ap-
pearing like the mouths of huge ovens, surmounted
by a great mass of ‘earth and sod. Theése caverns,
originally the safe-guards of powder and other combus-
tible munitions of war, now serve to shelter the flocks
of sheep that feed upon the ruins, and which are of
a breed remarkable for its large size. The floorsare
rendered nearly impassible, by the ordure of these
animals, but the vaulted ceilings are adorned by de-
pendent stalactites, like icicles in shape, but not in
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purity of color or of substance, being of a material
somewhat resembling oyster shells. The mass of
stone and brick that composed the buildings of Louis-
burg, and which is now swept so completely from its
site, has been distributed along the shores of Ame-
rica, as far as Halifax and Boston, having been suc-
cessively carried away for the erections in those
places, and the intermediate coast, which contains
many achimney bearing the memorials of Louishurg.
The remains of the different batteries on the Island
and round the harbour are still shown by the inhabi-
tants,as well as of the wharves, stoccade, and sunken
ships of war. On gaining the walls above the town,
they are found to consist of a range of earthen forti-
fication with-projecting angles, and extending as al-
ready mentioned from the harbour to the sea, inter-
rupted at intervals by large pits, said to have been
produced by the efforts of the captors to blow up the
walls. From these heights the glacis slopes away
to the edge of the bog outside, forming a beautiful
level walk, though now only enjoyed by the sheep,
being, like the walls, carpeted by short turf.- At the
termination of this line of fortification, on the sea
shore, is a huge and uncouth black rock, whieh ap-
pears to have been formerly quarried for building
stone, large quantities ready hewn being still scat-
tered round it, and gathered in masses as if prepared
for that use. ’

The prospect from the brow. of the dilapidated
ramparts, is ene of the most impressive that the
place affords. Looking to the S. W. over the former
city, the eye wanders upon the interminable ocean,

its blue rolling waves occupying three fourths of the
VOL. II. 28
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scene, and beyond them, on theverge of the horizon,
a dense bank of fog sweeps along with the prevail-
ing 8. W. wind, precluding all hope of discerning any
vista beyond that curtain. Turning landwards to-
wards the southwest, over the spacious bog that lies
at the foot of the walls, the sight is met by a range
of low wood in the direction of Gabarus, and can pe-
netrate no further. The harbour is the only pros-
pect to the northward, and immediately in its rear
the land rises so as to prevent any more distant
view, and even the harbour appears dwindled to a
minjature of itself, being seen in the same picture
with the mighty ocean that nearly surrcunds the be-
holder. “ The character of the whole scene is me-
lancholy, presenting the memorials of former life and
population, contrasted with its present apparant iso-
lation from the natives of the earth. The impres-
sion is not weakened by the sight of the few misera-
ble huts scattered along the shores of the port, and
the little fishing vessels, scarcely perceptible in the
mountain swell of the ocean ; they serve but to re-

- call painfully the images of elegant edifices that

once graced the foreground, and of proud flags that
waved upon the face of that heaving deep. -

It is not easy to give a reason for the continued
desolation of Louisburg. A harbor opening directly
upon the sea, whence egress is unobstructed and
expeditious, and return equally convenient at all
seasons ; excellent fishing grounds at the very en-
trarce ; space on shore for all the operations of cur-
ingthe fish ; every advantage for trade and the fish-
eries is offered in vain. The place would appear to
be shunned by tacit cogfent. The shallops come
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from Arichat and St. Peter’s Bay to fish, at its very
mouth, but no one sets up his establishment there.
The merchants resort toevery station in its vicinity,
to Menadan, thé\ Bras d’ Ors, St. Anne, Inganish,
nay, even Cape North places holding out no advan-
tages to compare with those of Louisburg, yet no
one ventures ther\e The fatality that hangs over
places of fallen t\l::lebnty, seems to press heav1ly
upon this once valued spot

Immediately round White Point, one mile'to the
westward of Louisburg, the deep bay of Gabarus

opens, where a small settlement of farmers and fish-

ermen has long been established, being descendants
principally of American Loyalists. The lands onthe
bay are not of the best quality.

From the western termination of the Bay of Ga- -

barus, usually called -Gabarus Point, to St. Esprit,
are the small fishing harbors of Bulesric, Fourchu,
and Framborsi, very sparingly inhabited. The coast

exhibits a succession of red earthy banks, beyond

which much of the country cannot be seen. Round
the small harbors andlakes, some good land is to be
found, but extensive barrens are said to exist in the
interior, as far as the Grand River and Miré Lakes.
The country is inviting to sportsmen, being the
haunt of deer, bears, foxes, wild fowl, and other
game. '

At St. Esprit the country again becomes agricul-
tural. This place, I’ Archévéque, and Grand River,
admit only small vessels. The majority of the inha-
bitants are Scettish emigrants, and not many years
established there. On ascending Grand River the
land improves, and soil of “excellent quality encircles
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the besutiful chain of lakes that empty their waters
into that river, which is now in progress of settle-
ment. It appears that the land upon these lakes con-
stitutes part of a large and nearly continuous tract,
extending in a N. E. direction from Ardoise, on the
eastern shore of St. Peter’s Bay, to the Low Point
shore, eastward of Sydney harbour, and bounded on
either side by the southern shore of the Bras d’ Or
lake, and the line of the lakes of Grand River and
Miré. "

From Grand River to the entrance of the strait of
Canso, which is twenty-five miles in a northwesterly
direction from Cape Au Guet, already mentioned,the
shores including those of Isle Mudame partake of the.
same general character, being broken into a great
variety of small harbours, inlets and creeks, and
they are occupied by the same race of inhabitants,
descendants of the original French Colonists, chiefly
i emp‘loyed in the fisheries, and in building small ves-

i" sels, for sheltering which their numerous inlefsare -
'it: admirably fitted. The first settlement of these peo-
ple is that of Ardoise, on the eastern shore of Saint
- Peter’s Bay, between Grand River and the Isthmus
of St. Peter’s. Thence westerly succeeds the river
Tillard, the river Bourgeois, False Bay, the harbour
i of Grand Anse, and other smaller inlets throughout
the northern shore of Lenox Passage, itself a harbour
of great. extent, and the separating strait between
Isle Madame and themain island. At theupper part
of Grand Anse a Scotch agricultural population is
settléd, and their land is connected with the settle-
ment of Inhabitants river, by the lately constructed
L; \ post road from the latter place to Lenox Passage,
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along which road,andin the interor country between

Lenox Passage and the western arm of the Bras &’

Or lake, marsh land, capable of cultlv-atlon, remains
. yet to be occupied.

The Isle Madame, of which the north shore is
bounded by the Lenox Passage, the eastern by St.
Peter’s Bay, which measures nine miles across from
Ardoise, and the southern washed by the Atlantic,
while the western extremity looks into the entrance
of the strait of Canso, is an irregular island, extend-
ing, with its dependent isiets, from east to west, six-
teen miles, and little more than eight from north to
south. - The best part of its soil lies round two lakes
in the inlerior,named the Grand Lake and the Grand
Anse Lake. By far the most important parts of this

_island are the various harbours that pierce its shores,
and shelter swarms of fishing vessels. The chief
port is Arichat, long the seat of the trade carried on
by Merchantsin the Island of Jersey, in the British
channel, who employ the inhabitants and their ves-

sels in taking the fish which are then exported in the

JJersey ships to Spain, the Mediterranean, the West
Indies and the Brazils. Arichat isindisputably the
first commercial port in Cape-Breton, and exports
much of the agricultural produce of the Island. It
has a fine harbour on the southern coast of the Isle
Madamé, the most southerly point of Cape-Breton,
and opening to the S. W. It is seldom obstructed
with ice, being even less liable than Louisburg to be
blockaded by the masses that float round the shores
of Cape-Breton, out of the Gulf of St. Lawrence.—
The town and harbour have an imposing appearance,
the former is fast improving in the size and number
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of its houses, and the port is thronged during the
summer season with vessels of various discriptions,
presenting a busy and pleasing scene. Proceeding
to the eastward round the Isle, the fishing harbours
are Petit Degrat, Little Anse, Rocky Bay, Lower
Deswasses, on the ocean and on St. Peter’s Bay ;—
Upper Deswasses and Grand Digne, in Lenox Pas-
sage, Little Arichat' and various intricate ccreeks at

_ the western end. In most of these places farms are
. also cultivated. From Arichat a road proceéds to

Grand Digne in Lenox Passage, thence by Ferry to
the opposite shore,and to Sydney, by St. Peter’s and
S. shore of the Bras d’ Orlake, to Halifax, by river

" Inhabitants and strait of Canseau.

Four or five miles further, about half way between
Isle Madame and Canseau strait, lies the mouth of
the River Inhabitants, in a recess of the coast term-
ed the Basin of Inhabitants, full of small irregular
Islands and points from the main shore, sparingly in-
habited by the fishing population. The river des-
cends in a pR®rallel direction with the strait of Can-
seau fifteen miles, nearly equally dividing the tract
of country between the Gulf shore and the river St.

- Denys, falling into the Bras d’ Or lake. Both sides

of the Inhabitants have been occupied twenty or
thirty years, settled nearly down to the mouth, and
partially across to the western arm of the Bras d’
Or lake, and to the river Denys. Some thousand
acres of good land still remain unoccupied in that
part of the interior. From the Bras d’ Or a road has
been-opened many years, and is continued across the

'Inhabitants'to Ship harbour in Canseau strait, being

the post communication from thelatter place asfar as
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the river, when it is discontinued for the route to
Lenox Passage and Arichat, already mentioned. A
road has also been traced but is not yet opened from
the head of the Inhabitants to the St. Denys.
Westward of Inhabitants, Little River lies about a

mile distant, and next to it Caribacou Cove, isthe '

last inlet in this indented shore, which terminates at
Bear Island Point, at the southern entrance of the
Straits of Canseau, and here also conclude the series
of French fishing, coasting and hoat-building settle-

ments. In Caribacou coals are found, but no regu-_

- larly worked ‘Mines are yet opened. The Strait of
Canseau* the wthoroughfare of all the trade to and
from the Gulf of St. Lawrence, and all the western
shores of the Atlantic, southward of Cape-Breton,
and by which that Island is severed from its position
of a second peninsala to that of Nova-Scotia, is a
noble channel, one mile wide and twenty fathoms
deep, taking its course northwesterly from the At-
lantic entrance at Bear Island Point, fourteen or fif-
teen miles, to the receding of the shores of Cape-Bre-
ton and Nova-Scotia, at its junction with the Guif of
St. Lawrence. The Nova-Scotia side is elevated
above the land of the Island shore, a circumstance
that may prove of consequence, should these peace-
ful banks be crowned on‘a future day with adverse
batteries ; but the Cape- reton shore possesses the
advantage of an excelent harbour, situated about
half 'way from either extremity of the strait, already

_aplace of some trade, and destined from its geogra-

phical position, to hold a pre-eminent rank among the

* It is said that the derivation of the word Canseau, is from the
Spanish ¢ Ganso> a goose, a name given to it on account of the
immense flocks of wild geese then seen there.
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commercial ports of North America. The view of
this strait, from its southern entrance near Bear
Island, is sald ‘'to possess unrivalled beauty, and is
spoken of by all travellers as surpassing any thing
in America. There is a strong current at this place.
The tide seldom runs at a less rate than from four to
five miles an hour, flowing at the fulland change of

the moon at a quarter past nine. No tabular account

of the tides at Canseau or thg Gulf of St. Lawrence,

can ever be given on account of the great influence

of the wind upon them. It is :not unusual for the
stream of the Gut to run one way for several succes-

sive days. = A southerly gale, by accelerating the ebb

of the St. Lawrence, which, with the waters of the
Gulf, are impelled through the straits of Bellisle, ef-
fects not only the stream between Cape Rae and
Cape North, but also that of Canseau, while a north
westerly wind, forcing the current in a contrary di-
rection, it continues <outher1y till the level of the
water is restered. To this lrrewu]anty may be at-
tributed many of the shipwreeks near Cape North.
The small harbour of Plaister Cove, is next in order
along the strait, afterwards the two. openings of

Long Pond, and Seward Pond, and the small pro-.
_jection of Low Point, occurs at the termination of the

strait in the Gulf, whence the coastinclines more

northerly twenty miles to Port Hood or Justeaucorps,

the last good harbour on the western side of Cape-
Breton. Some small rivers, at particular points in
the west, have been named by the inhabitants, such
as Long Pond, Judique, Little Judique and Little
River. The whole coast is agricultural; and settled
four miles back into the country by Scotch emi-
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grants, with a few of Irish and Enpglish descent,

particularly at Ship Harbour and Port Hood settle-

ments, of older date than the rest of the country.—
A road extends along the coast,and at Judique, about
midway from the north of Canseau strait to Port
Hood, another leads across the country, to the head
of the river St. Denys, before mentioned, and the
land on each side is nearly occupied ; but toward
&1 head of Inhabitants River,southward of this road,
and toward Mabau to the northward, fine tracts ef
the interior remain untouched.

Port Hood may be considered as the correspond-
ing point tothe Great Bras @’ Or, on the eastern gide,
between which an irregular line, crossing the coun-
try to the Brasd’ Orlake, at Whycocomagh, and
skirting its northern shores, marks the boundary of

the two natural divisions of the Island already des-

cribed, the northern and hilly, and the southernand
less elevated, although some ridges of high land pass
the line and descend towards therivers St. Denys
and Inhabitants, and occur likewise upon the nor-
thern shore of the western arm of the Bras &’ Or,
southward of the former river. A roadis opened
from the interior waters of the Bras d’ Or at Why-
cocomagh,to Port Hood, a distance of eighteen miles
in a straight line, though probably twenty-four by
the road to Port Hood. Itis but partially settled as
yet, beyond the first fourteen miles on the Port Hood
side, which cross the two branches of Mabau river
through occupied lands. Port Hood is an excellent
spacious harbour, fit for the reception of vessels of
great burthen ; at this place the Courts for the wes.

tern district of the County are held. The principal
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trade consists in the export of cattle toNewfoundland.
From Port Hood the high coast of this northern divi-
sion of Cape-Breton maintains a general northeast
course, seventy-six miles to the northern point of the
Island at Cape St. Lawrence. The fitst harbour
that occurs is Mabau, six .or seven miles from Port
Hood, admitting but small vessels, and receiving two
small rivers, which take their rise nine or ten miles
in a straight line southeasterly from the mouth of
the harbour, and diverging with a circular sweep,
meet at the harbour, after enclosing a tract of five or

‘six miles diameter of a settled country. These rivers

are called the southwest and the southeast branches
of Mabau. Between the former and Port Hood, and
from the latter to Marguerite lake, the countryis
also settled throughout, and is probably the largest
area of occupied land in Cape-Breton. The inhabi-
tants are necessarily agriculturists, principally S